
 

Mark James  LLM, DPA, DCA
Prif Weithredwr,
Chief Executive,
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin.  SA31 1JP
County Hall, Carmarthen.  SA31 1JP

DYDD MAWRTH, 8 MAI 2018

AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO

YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD O’R 
PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO A GYNHELIR YN Y SIAMBR, NEUADD Y SIR, 
CAERFYRDDIN AM 10.00 AM, DYDD MAWRTH, 15FED MAI, 2018 ER 
MWYN CYFLAWNI'R MATERION A AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA SYDD 
YNGHLWM

Mark James DYB

PRIF WEITHREDWR

 AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA
Swyddog Democrataidd: Michelle Evans Thomas
Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224470
E-bost: MEEvansThomas@sirgar.gov.uk
Cyf: AD016-001

Pecyn Dogfennau



 

PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO
20 AELOD

Y GRŴP PLAID CYMRU – 10 AELOD
1. Y Cynghorydd Mansel Charles Aelod o Gyngor Cymuned Llanegwad
2. Y Cynghorydd Tyssul Evans Aelod o Gyngor Cymuned Llangyndeyrn
3. Y Cynghorydd Jeanette Gilasbey Aelod o Gyngor Tref Cydweli
4. Y Cynghorydd Ken Howell
5. Y Cynghorydd Carys Jones
6. Y Cynghorydd Alun Lenny 

(Cadeirydd)
Aelod o Gyngor Tref Caerfyrddin

7. Y Cynghorydd Jean Lewis
8 Y Cynghorydd Dorian Phillips
9. Y Cynghorydd Gareth Thomas
10 Y Cynghorydd Eirwyn Williams

Y GRŴP LLAFUR – 6 AELOD
1. Y Cynghorydd Suzy Curry
2. Y Cynghorydd Penny Edwards
3. Y Cynghorydd John James Aelod o Gyngor Tref Pen-bre a Phorth 

Tywyn
4. Y Cynghorydd Dot Jones Aelod o Gyngor Cymuned Llannon
5. Y Cynghorydd Ken Lloyd Aelod o Gyngor Tref Caerfyrddin
6. Y Cynghorydd Kevin Madge Aelod o Gyngor Tref Cwmaman

Y GRŴP ANNIBYNNOL – 4 AELOD
1. Y Cynghorydd Sue Allen Aelod o Gyngor Tref Hendy-Gwyn
2. Y Cynghorydd Ieuan Davies
3. Y Cynghorydd Joseph Davies
4. Y Cynghorydd Irfon Jones (Is-

Cadeirydd)
Aelod o Gyngor Cymuned Bronwydd

NI CHANIATEIR EILYDDION MEWN CYFARFODYDD O’R PWYLLGOR YMA



 

 

A G E N D A  

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONAL. 

3. RHANBARTH Y DWYRAIN - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU 
CYNLLUNIO 

5 - 42

4. RHANBARTH Y DE - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO. 43 - 54

5. RHANBARTH Y GORLLEWIN - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU 
CYNLLUNIO. 

55 - 112

6. LLOFNODI YN COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION Y CYFARFODYDD 
A GYNHALIWYD AR Y DYDDIADAU CANLYNOL:- 

6 .1 5ED EBRILL 2018; 113 - 118
6 .2 17EG EBRILL 2018. 119 - 122



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



ADRODDIAD PENNAETH
CYNLLUNIO,

CYFARWYDDIAETH YR 
AMGYLCHEDD

REPORT OF THE
HEAD OF PLANNING,

DIRECTORATE OF ENVIRONMENT 

AR GYFER PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO
CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN

TO CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY
COUNCIL’S PLANNING COMMITTEE

AR 15 MAI 2018
ON 15 MAY 2018 

I’W BENDERFYNU/
FOR DECISION

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  3



Mewn perthynas â cheisiadau y mae gan y Cyngor ddiddordeb ynddynt un ai fel 
ymgeisydd/asiant neu fel perchennog tir neu eiddo, atgoffir yr Aelodau fod yn rhaid 
iddynt anwybyddu’r agwedd hon, gan ystyried ceisiadau o’r fath a phenderfynu yn 
eu cylch ar sail rhinweddau’r ceisiadau cynllunio yn unig. Ni ddylid ystyried 
swyddogaeth y Cyngor fel perchennog tir, na materion cysylltiedig, wrth 
benderfynu ynghylch ceisiadau cynllunio o’r fath.

In relation to those applications which are identified as one in which the Council 
has an interest either as applicant/agent or in terms of land or property 
ownership, Members are reminded that they must set aside this aspect, and 
confine their consideration and determination of such applications exclusively to 
the merits of the planning issues arising.  The Council’s land owning function, or 
other interests in the matter, must not be taken into account when determining 
such planning applications.

Tudalen 6



COMMITTEE: PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE: 15 MAY 2018

REPORT OF: HEAD OF PLANNING

I N D E X  -  A R E A  EA S T

REF. APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR 
APPROVAL

PAGE NOS.

E/33695 Full planning for the erection of a poultry unit on 
farm to accommodate free range chickens (egg 
production) together with associated feed bins, 
internal farm access and associated works at 
Godre Garreg, Llangadog, SA19 9DA 

9 - 26

E/35873 New house with integral garage at Plot 11, 
Gwaun Henllan, Tirydail, Ammanford, SA18 
2FD

27 - 33

E/36854 Change of use of the 3 bedroom dwelling from 
C3 use to a C4 HMO of 6 bedrooms. Associated 
alterations to one rear window and change of 
other relevant windows as well as roofing of a 
lean-to-roof to meet safety regulations at 16 
Hall Street, Ammanford, SA18 3BW

34 - 40

Tudalen 7



Tudalen 8



APPLICATIONS  RECOMMENDED  FOR  APPROVAL

Tudalen 9



Application No E/33695

Application Type Full Planning

Proposal &
Location

FULL PLANNING FOR THE ERECTION OF A POULTRY UNIT 
ON FARM TO ACCOMMODATE FREE RANGE CHICKENS 
(EGG PRODUCTION) TOGETHER WITH ASSOCIATED FEED 
BINS, INTERNAL FARM ACCESS AND ASSOCIATED WORKS 
AT GODRE GARREG, LLANGADOG, SA19 9DA 

Applicant(s) T V HUGHES & CO,  GODRE GARREG, LLANGADOG, SA19 
9DA

Agent ROGER PARRY AND PARTNERS - GAIL LEWIS,  THE 
ESTATES OFFICE, 20 SALOP ROAD, OSWESTRY, 
SHROPSHIRE, SY11 2NU

Case Officer Kevin Phillips

Ward Llangadog

Date of validation 21/04/2016

Members will recall that this planning application was reported to the Planning 
Committee on 24 August 2017 that in turn resulted in a site visit by the Committee on 
3 October 2017. Following the site visit it was resolved to refuse planning permission 
with the primary areas of concern relating to the location of the proposed unit, its 
proximity to nearby properties and the harm to the amenities of the occupiers of those 
properties which could arise. In the interim, between the aforementioned committee 
resolution on 3 October 2017 and the issue of the decision notice, the agent proposed 
an amended location, which resulted in the submission of revised plans that now 
detail the proposed poultry unit adjacent to the farm. The proposed access point on 
to the public highway is to remain as previous with the track to the amended location 
running along an existing hedgerow.

CONSULTATIONS

Head of Transport – Initially recommended the refusal of the application as the traffic 
generated by the development would use an existing access which is unsuitable because 
there is restricted visibility at the county road.  However, following a traffic survey and 
improvement to the design of the access along with the proposed provision of a passing bay 
along the road leading to/from the site, the application is now supported subject to the 
imposition of conditions.

Head of Public Health & Protection – There remain discrepancies to be resolved in terms 
of the noise and odour report which are being addressed presently and therefore it is 

Tudalen 10



proposed to convey the outcome in the addendum to this report that shall be prepared 
shortly before the meeting.

Head of Corporate Property – No comments received.

Llangadog Community Council – Objects to the proposal.  Whilst the Community Council 
has no issue with the applicant wishing to diversify their business and move into egg 
production, they do feel that the current, proposed location for a poultry unit of this size and 
scale is inappropriate due to its close proximity to several neighbouring residential properties 
(under 200m) and because of the extra traffic it would generate.

The Community Council would like the planning authority to ensure that there is sufficient 
separation between the residential properties and the proposed poultry unit to mitigate 
against any detrimental effects of noise, smell and visual amenity.

Local Member– Councillor A James at the 3rd October 2017 consideration of the proposal, 
declared an interest in the application as he has previously sold land elsewhere to the 
applicant.

Natural Resources Wales – Planning permission should only be granted if the scheme can 
meet the following requirements and conditions, which would address significant concerns 
that have been identified relating to drainage, pollution prevention and protected sites.

1. In terms of drainage, a drainage plan in relation to foul water drainage is required to be 
approved by NRW. 

This has been submitted to NRW and their response is awaited.

2. Full details of the sterilisation of the building following the 14 month cycle is required to 
be submitted. 

Again, this information has been submitted to NRW and their response is awaited.

3. A test of likely significant effect (TLSE) of the proposal on the Tywi Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) is required to be undertaken. This is to be undertaken by the 
Authority’s Planning Ecologist and will be submitted to NRW for their approval.

During the operational lifetime of the poultry unit an updated manure management plan 
(MMP) is to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval on an annual 
basis reflecting any changes in the operation. The nutrient management plan which informs 
the MMP is to be updated as required and as agreed with the Local Planning Authority. All 
poultry manure produced is to be managed in line with the approved MMP.

The MMP considers the requirements of the current Glastir agreement. The plan shows that 
there is not sufficient land available to apply all the poultry manure produced. The excess is 
to be exported off the holding by a specialist contractor. The plan also refers to the 
construction of a new manure store on the holding, which we [NRW] understand will form 
part of a separate planning application.

The nutrient management plan is based on soil samples taken in 2013. The applicant should 
refer to best practice and be aware that the soil nutrient levels should be checked every 
three to five years to give a suitable baseline to produce the nutrient management plan.

Tudalen 11



The Design and Access Statement produced by Roger Parry and Partners LLP, referenced 
131217, states that the manure applied to the holding will be incorporated into the land within 
24 hours. The details on how this will be carried out are to be included in the Manure 
Management Plan

National Grid – No comments received.
 
Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water – No comments received.
 
Dyfed Archaeological Trust – No comments received.

Neighbours/Public – The previous siting of the proposed poultry unit away from the farm 
resulted in 79 letters of objection, in addition to an online petition with over 1300 signatures 
and 33 letters of support. The reasons of objection were as follows:-

 The proposal is a large scale building that will be detrimental to the visual amenity of the 
landscape.

 The proposal will result in highway safety problems with vehicles accessing and exiting 
the site.

 The proposal is within the river Tywi flood zone and there will be pollution of the 
environment as a result.

 The proposal will result in the loss of hedgerow.
 The proposal will be detrimental to local living conditions as a result of noise.
 The proposal will be detrimental to local living conditions as a result of smells.
 There will be an increase in rats and fly infestation.
 There will be a devaluation of local properties.
 The welfare of the chicken business is questioned.
 The proposal will increase in Antibiotic resistance.
 The proposal will Impact upon the tourism of the locality.
 The proposal will Impact upon the heritage of Llangadog village.
 There is concern regarding the spread of manure.

The letters in support of the application refer to:-

 Expansion and diversification of a rural business is essential for a rural community
 The proposed development will allow a young farmer to succeed in a new rural 

enterprise
 A modern poultry will not cause any harm in for local residents in terms of smells and 

noise
 The proposal allows quality food to be produced locally
 Chicken manure will be beneficial to farming practices in the locality and rather than 

importing in from far afield, the manure can be supplied from a local source.

The site notices erected in respect of the current, revised scheme that proposes the poultry 
unit adjacent to the farm resulted in a further 7 letters of objection and 1 letter of support 
have been received.

The further issues of objection raised reflect the above reasons of objection. In addition, it 
is raised that the proposed manure store has been included in the planning application. 
Although the agent initially included plans of the proposed manure store within the 

Tudalen 12



application that building has subsequently been removed and is not be the subject of this 
application. Should planning permission be granted for the poultry shed, the manure store 
will be subject to a separate planning application, which again shall include the relevant 
public consultation exercise

PLANNING HISTORY

There is no relevant planning history on the application site.

APPRAISAL

THE SITE
 
The application site is part of three large fields to the south of the existing farm, Godre 
Garreg, Llangadog, located approximately 57 metres from the farm. Access to the site is 
from an unclassified road that runs across Carregsawdde Common and ends at Devanah 
and Dolau farm. There are two dwellings to the north-east of the application site, Bancyfelin 
at approximately 80 metres away and Rhosawel at approximately 115 metres. To the east 
there is Bwlchagored and Dolgarreg, which are approximately 100 metres and 
approximately 115 metres respectively away from the proposed poultry unit. Derwen Deg is 
approximately 137mtres to the south-west and Brofana (formerly Kite Cottage) and Ty 
Newydd are approximately 143 metres and approximately 170 metres away to the south 
respectively.
 
THE PROPOSAL

The application seeks planning permission to erect a juniper/olive green free range poultry 
unit; the rectangular hen house is shown to measure 140 metres x 20 metres, with a 3.1 
metre eaves height and 6.69 m height to the ridge. Four feed bins at 7.64 metres in height 
are proposed; to be sited two at each end of the northern elevation, and a loading bay at the 
north-west corner of the building.  The roof will have box profile sheeting and the elevations 
will be a mass concrete base with box profile sheeting to the eaves.  The elevation facing 
away from the farm will have pop holes to the site to allow the hens to exit and enter.  The 
south-east gable elevation will have four double doors with a standard central single door in 
the north elevation.  The roof of the proposed poultry unit is now to include 16 green coloured 
exhaust chimneys with fans, with 8 spread evenly along the towards the end of the north-
west elevation of the building and 8 at the south-east elevation and there will also be 8 green 
coloured inlet chimneys along the length of the building with no fans.  The exhaust chimneys 
will be 1.2 metres above the plane of the roof and the inlet chimneys will be 1.5 metres 
above the ridge.

The building is specifically designed for the housing of free range hens and is to meet the 
relevant regulations and codes for bird welfare.  The proposed development will have the 
capacity to accommodate up to 32,000 laying hens.

The proposed unit will not only house the poultry, but will include the mechanical processing 
and packing of eggs via a conveyor belt system.  Essentially, the chickens will lay eggs 
within certain designated areas within the units; the eggs will enter onto a conveyor system 
(this may also be done manually); then transported into the packaging/grading area whereby 
they are mechanically sorted and graded into crates.  The crates are then sealed and stored 
at optimum temperatures before being collected.  The whole process is low labour intensive.

Tudalen 13



The poultry unit is to be served by a new, revised access approximately 25 metres from the 
boundary with Brofana and Ty Newydd which runs along a mature hedgerow that runs north-
south between Bancyfelin and Brofana and then runs along the northern side of the building 
with a turning facility and loading facility at the western extremity.  A hardstanding area for 
parking is to be provided at the eastern side of the building for staff, deliveries and 
collections.

PLANNING POLICY

The application falls to be considered against Policies within the Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan (LDP).  The relevant policies are:

Policy SP14 is a strategic policy that requires that development should reflect the need to 
protect and wherever possible enhance the County’s natural environment and should be 
considered in accordance with national guidance/legislation and the policies and proposals 
of this plan.

Policy GP1 is a general policy which promotes sustainability and high quality design, and 
seeks to ensure that development conforms with and enhances the character and 
appearance of the site, building or area in terms of siting, appearance, scale, height, 
massing, elevation treatment and detailing.  Development proposals should also not have a 
significant impact on the amenity of adjacent land uses and properties.

Policy EMP 4 provides advice on the consideration of farm diversification proposals, and 
requires that it is subordinate to, compatible with and supports the continued operation of 
the agricultural activity of the existing working farm; is of a scale and nature appropriate to 
the existing farm operation; the scale and nature of the activity is compatible with its 
accessibility to public transport and the need for local highway improvements; the scale and 
scope of any retail use (where planning permission is required) would not have an adverse 
impact on the vitality and viability of retail facilities in nearby settlements, or would undermine 
the retail hierarchy (see policy RT1); it would not have an adverse impact on the character, 
setting and appearance of the area and the surrounding landscape and where appropriate, 
townscape.

Proposals should give priority to the conversion of suitable existing buildings on the working 
farm. Where justified new building should be integrated with the existing working farm 
complex and not detrimental to the respective character and appearance of the area and 
surrounding landscape.

Policy TR3 relates to the highway design and layout considerations of developments and 
states that proposals which do not generate unacceptable levels of traffic on the surrounding 
road network, and would not be detrimental to highway safety or cause significant harm to 
the amenity of residents will be permitted.

Policy EQ4 states that proposals for development which have an adverse impact on priority 
species, habitats and features of recognised principal importance to the conservation of 
biodiversity and nature conservation, (namely those protected by Section 42 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 and UK and Local BAP habitats and 
species and other than sites and species protected under European or UK legislation) will 
not be permitted, except where it can be demonstrated that the impacts can be satisfactorily 
mitigated, acceptably minimised or appropriately managed to include net enhancements; 
there are exceptional circumstances where the reasons for the development or land use 

Tudalen 14



change clearly outweighs the need to safeguard the biodiversity and nature conservation 
interests of the site and where alternative habitat provision can be made in order to maintain 
and enhance local biodiversity.

Policy EQ6 states that Special Landscape Areas are designated in specific locations and 
proposals for development which enhance or improve the Special Landscape Areas through 
their design, appearance and landscape schemes will be permitted (subject to the policies 
and proposals of the Plan).

Policy EP1 requires that proposals for development will be permitted where they do not lead 
to a deterioration of either the water environment and/or the quality of controlled waters.  
Proposals will, where appropriate, be expected to contribute towards improvements to water 
quality.  Watercourses will be safeguarded through biodiversity/ecological buffer 
zones/corridors to protect aspects such as riparian habitats and species; water quality and 
provide for flood plain capacity.  Proposals will be permitted where they do not have an 
adverse impact on the nature conservation, fisheries, public access or water related 
recreation use of the rivers in the County.  Proposals will wherever possible be required to 
make efficient use of water resources.

Policy EP2 requires that proposals should wherever possible seek to minimise the impacts 
of pollution.  It will be required to demonstrate proposals do not conflict with air quality 
strategy, cause deterioration in water quality, ensure that light and noise pollution are 
minimised and ensure that risks arising from contaminated land are addressed.

Policy EP3 requires that proposals for development will be required to demonstrate that the 
impact of surface water drainage, including the effectiveness of incorporating Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SUDS), has been fully investigated.  The details and options resulting 
from the investigation must show that there are justifiable reasons for not incorporating 
SUDS into the scheme in accordance with Section 8 of TAN 15.

Nationally, Technical Advice Note 6 – ‘Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities’ (July 
2010) provides guidance on the subject of new agricultural buildings that requires local 
planning authorities seek to ensure such development is essentially required at that location, 
sensitively related to existing settlement patterns and landscape features, and is of an 
appropriate size, scale and design.  These principles serve to ensure the proposal is 
justified, and complements rather than detracts from the site and surroundings in which it is 
proposed.

NEIGHBOURS/PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

The details in relation to the letters of objection received shall be considered herewith.

The proposal is a large scale building that will be detrimental to the visual amenity of 
the landscape.

Although large, the proposed free range egg production unit, is not considered to be overly 
large in relation to its setting with the farm sited to the north, the building being away from a 
public vantage point and the detailed supporting landscaping to screen the development.  

Although having some concerns in relation to the impact of the building in the landscape, 
the Landscape Officer has not objected to the proposal, recommending the imposition of 
conditions on any permission to mitigate the impact.

Tudalen 15



The proposal will result in highway safety problems with vehicles accessing and 
exiting the site.

The proposed development has been considered in detail by the Head of Transport in 
relation to the vehicular movements, visibility splays and turning facilities and the proposal 
is supported subject to the application of relevant conditions.  This will include a passing bay 
within highway limits, at the western edge of Llangadog common, opposite Dolgarreg. 

The proposal is within the flood zone and there will be pollution of the environment 
as a result.

Following the submission of detailed information including a TLSE to Natural Resources 
Wales, the proposal at the initial location received their support, in that any fluvial flood risk 
to the unit was likely to be negligible.  Therefore there is not considered to be any significant 
risk through pollution of the local rivers as a result of flooding. A further amended TLSE will 
be required for the current, revised location adjacent to the farm

The proposal will result in the loss of hedgerow.

A native woodland copse will be plated to the west of the access to the site with existing 
hedgerow restocked and a new native tree belt to aid screening will be planted to the 
northern boundary with Brofana and Ty Newydd. A new native species hedgerow with native 
trees will be planted along the eastern border of the access road to the poultry building and 
along the northern boundary of the access road and building, in addition to the translocation 
of the existing hedgerow to the north of the building and a section of hedgerow to the south. 
A couple of native woodland copses to aid the screening of the views from west and to soften 
the field boundary edge to the south is to be planted, in addition to the strand of trees at the 
boundary with Bancyfelin.  

The proposal will be detrimental to local living conditions as a result of noise and 
smells.

There remain discrepancies to be resolved in terms of the noise and odour report which are 
being addressed presently and therefore it is proposed to convey the outcome in the 
addendum to this report that shall be prepared shortly before the meeting

There will be an increase in rats and fly infestation.

It is considered that as far as flies are concerned, they could be controlled by way of 
Statutory Nuisance powers under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, this would include 
management practices at the unit to ensure fly larvae etc are controlled as conveyed in the 
Design and Access Statement submitted with the application.  Rats can be controlled via 
pest control treatments, and minimising access to foodstuffs etc and legal notices for rodent 
problems can be served if deemed necessary.

There will be no employment created by the proposal and there is no viable need for 
the proposal.

The proposed development will add to the existing agricultural business viability of the farm 
with the introduction of three full time and 1 part time employees.

Tudalen 16



The application is not supported by an Environmental Impact Assessment.

The proposal comes under “Projects for the use of uncultivated land or semi-natural areas 
for intensive agricultural purposes” as defined in Column 1 as it is deemed a permanent 
agricultural building; the area of development does not exceed the 0.5 hectare threshold.

It would appear that the proposed development falls within Schedule 2 of the 2016 
Regulations (part 1C) and as such only requires an EIA ‘if it is a development, with an area 
of new floorspace that exceeds 500 square metres.  In this instance the proposed shed 
measuring 120 metres x 20 metres would have a floor-space equating to 2800 sq. metres.  
The development therefore falls to be considered against the indicative thresholds and 
criteria stipulated in Column 2 of schedule 2 (part 1C).

The relevant circular provides guidance and stipulates that such developments on previously 
uncultivated land would only require an EIA if it is designed to house more than “50,000 
layers, turkeys or other poultry”.  From the information given by the landowner, the building 
has been designed to accommodate 32,000 poultry, on the basis of the above it is not 
considered that the requirement of an EIA are applicable.

In the consideration of the above it necessary to consider the characteristics of the 
development in combination with its proposed location in order to identify the potential for 
interactions between a development and its environment and therefore determine whether 
there are likely to be significant environmental effects.  Having received a favourable 
response to the consultation with NRW in relation to the TLSE, it is considered that the 
proposed development will not have a significant impact upon the local environment.

There will be a devaluation of local properties/The welfare of the chicken business is 
questioned/ The proposal will increase in antibiotic resistance.

These are not considered to be a material planning considerations in the determination of 
the application.

The proposal will Impact upon the tourism of the locality.

It is not considered that an agricultural building as a diversification scheme to an existing 
farming enterprise will have any significant harm to the tourism of the locality.  It is 
appreciated that there is a small scale exempted caravan site adjacent at Ty Newydd, 
however the retention and strengthening of the landscape features will not result in the 
proposal having any harmful impacts on the caravan site.

The proposal will Impact upon the heritage of Llangadog village.

The building is sufficiently distant from the village of Llangadog to ensure that there will not 
be any harm to its heritage.

There is concern regarding the spread of manure.

The updated manure management plan considers the requirements of the current Glastir 
agreement.  The plan shows that there is insufficient land available to apply all the poultry 
manure produced.  The excess is to be exported off the holding by a (specialised) contractor.  
The plan also refers to the construction of a new manure store on the holding.  NRW has 
confirmed that the nutrient management plan based on soil samples taken in 2013 is 

Tudalen 17



acceptable, commenting that the applicant should refer to best practice and be aware that 
the soil nutrient levels should be checked every three to five years to give a suitable baseline 
for the production of the nutrient management plan.

As noted in the summary of consultations section above, the proposal has been the subject 
of a detailed consideration by NRW, including the assessment of manure and nutrient 
management plans and the undertaking of a TLSE and it has been concluded that the 
proposal shall not have a significant effect on the River Tywi Special Area of Conservation.  
The application of conditions recommended by NRW to the planning permission and their 
adherence will protect the environment from any concerns.

CONCLUSION

The proposed poultry building is now to be sited adjacent to Godre Garreg farmyard and 
buildings at a location that will remain to be accessed from an unclassified road to the south 
east. The siting of the proposal adjacent to the farm has resulted in the closest residential 
property now being Bancyfelin, approximately 80 metres to the north-east.  While the 
previous submission to the Planning Committee included chimneys of a lower height (0.6 
metres above the plane of the roof), which were not considered to add significantly to the 
assessment of the impact in terms of visual harm to the landscape at the previous location 
adjacent to the hedgerow bordering Brofana and Ty Newydd,  it is considered that with the 
siting now being adjacent to the farm and distant from public view points; being further from 
residential dwellings and substantial additional landscaping improvements, the current 
revised siting albeit with taller chimneys does not raise concerns in terms of visual impact 
that would merit he refusal of planning permission. 

The Local Planning Authority has carried out a thorough consultation exercise in respect of 
the revised siting and following a further lengthy period of consideration and deliberation of 
the responses from the statutory consultees and the public, the principal areas of concern 
regarding the application concerned the visual harm, smells and noise, the highway impacts 
of the development, and the manure management plan. 

It is considered that the principal concern in relation to smells and noise can be appropriately 
controlled with the professional management of the business and adherence to conditions 
applied to the planning permission.  Although there would be negligible odour from the 
buildings when in operation, there may be some odour from the buildings during the cleaning 
period, which is for a short period of time every 14 months and this is not considered 
significant enough to warrant a negative determination of the proposal.

The Head of Transport is satisfied that the traffic movements, access and parking/turning 
provision at the site with a passing bay proposed to be provided, is acceptable and has 
received a favourable response to consultation subject to the application of conditions.

It has been established that the proposed passing bay, north-east and opposite the highway 
that leads to Godre Garreg farm, as required by the Head of Transport is also within the 
limits of Llangadog Common.  Following consultation with the Common Lands Officer, the 
applicant has agreed to apply for a land exchange under Section 147 of the Commons Act 
2006.  This is a procedure outside of the remit of Planning where the piece of land that is 
required for the passing bay would be removed from the register and replaced by another 
piece of land that is owned by the authority but which is not currently common land.  While 
the required land exchange is not directly a Planning matter there is however, a condition 

Tudalen 18



(number 13) that is worded to the effect that the passing bay has to be provided prior to any 
part of the development being brought into use. 

The Landscape Officer has considered the amended location of the proposal, which has 
included the input of a landscape consultant in terms of landscaping mitigation. While it is 
recognised that the proposed development presents challenges to relevant policy objectives 
with specific concerns that the proposed development is located within a sensitive landscape 
and the proposed development involves fragmentation of the existing field pattern and 
expansion of man-made, rectilinear elements in the form of large scale built form and 
associated access areas into the wider rural landscape, it is concluded that following the 
receipt of requested amendments, the proposed development away from residential 
properties and the public highway represents a more acceptable development proposal than 
the previous scheme

The Planning Ecologist has undertaken a Test of Likely Significant Effect (TLSE) on the 
proposal with NRW consultation, which is a process in determining planning applications, 
whereby local planning authorities should have regard to the Habitats Directive in the 
exercise of their planning functions in order to fulfil the requirements of the Habitats Directive 
in respect of the land use planning system.  The consideration of the likelihood of significant 
effects is a form of screening process or risk assessment.  The planning authority must 
consider whether the proposed development would be likely to have a significant effect on 
any European site or European offshore marine site alone and in combination with other 
plan or projects.  In doing so, it must adopt a precautionary approach.  The TLSE was 
forwarded to NRW in relation to the previous site away from the farm and farm yard, who 
have indicated that they are satisfied with the findings of the assessment and the proposed 
mitigation measures and consider that subject to the measures and conditions referred to 
therein being applied to any permission, their significant concerns regarding the 
development would be addressed. 

There will be a requirement to undertake a further TLSE for the current, revised location, 
which at the time of writing this report, has not been completed.

The operation of the free range egg production business is typically seen as an extension 
to an existing farm business and the rural location proposed is where in planning terms it is 
expected to see this type of enterprise.  Taking into consideration the comments of the 
consultees and the issues of objection received, and balancing this with the relevant national 
and local policy guidance, it is considered that with the detailed landscaping mitigation, the 
proposed poultry unit is acceptable and the successful operation of the business in both 
planning and business terms is reliant upon adherence to the planning conditions and 
effective management of the business.  While the proposed development shall have an 
impact within the Tywi Valley Special Landscape area, a balance has to be made between 
the visual harm to the landscape and the economic benefits of this farm diversification 
scheme.

In light of the aforementioned report of the proposed development, it is concluded on 
balance that planning permission should be granted subject to the conditions below.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL

CONDITIONS

Tudalen 19



1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five 
years from the date of this permission.

2 The above approved development relates to the following plans and documents and 
works should be carried out in accordance with them unless amended by any 
conditions below:-

 Section Through Loading Bay (010), received 8 February 2018
 Passing Place plan 1:250 scale, received 8 February 2018
 Revised Location Plan (002), received 9 March 2018
 Revised site Plan (001), received 9 March 2018
 Proposed Elevations and Floor Plan Option 2 (GG003), received 19 March 2018
 Cross Section Site Levels (006), received 19 March 2018
 Figure 1-Landscape Proposals, received 19 March 2018
 Figure 2- Planting Specification, received 19 March 2018
 Drainage Plan (GEL/HUGH/GG011DP), received 19 April 2018

3 The building hereby approved shall only be used for the purposes of agriculture as 
defined by Section 336 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

4 The use of the poultry unit shall be for free range egg laying only; any change to the 
operation must first be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

5 Any external artificial lighting incorporated with the proposed poultry unit shall be 
installed in accordance with the relevant lighting engineers’ guidance to reduce any 
potential light nuisance to neighbouring properties.  Any such proposals for artificial 
lighting is to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to installation.

6 Prior to its use by vehicular traffic, the new access road shall be laid out and 
constructed with 5.0 metre carriageway for the initial 15.0m measured from the 
nearside edge of carriageway and 10.0 metre kerbed radii at the junction with the 
U4502 road.

7 Any access gates shall be set back a minimum distance of 15.0 metres from the 
highway boundary, and shall open inwards into the site only.

8 The existing means of vehicular access into the site shall be permanently stopped 
up, and the public highway reinstated to the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority, prior to the new means of vehicular access herein approved, being brought 
into use.

9 Prior to any use of the access by vehicular traffic, a visibility splay of 2.4 metres x 57 
metres shall be formed and thereafter retained in perpetuity, either side of the centre 
line of the access road in relation to the nearer edge of carriageway.  In particular 
there shall at no time be any growth or obstruction over 0.9m within this splay area.

10 The access, visibility splays and turning area required, shall be wholly provided prior 
to any part of the development being brought into use, and thereafter shall be retained 
unobstructed in perpetuity.  In particular, no part of the access, visibility splays, or 
turning area, is to be obstructed by non-motorised vehicles.

Tudalen 20



11 The parking spaces and layout shown on the plans herewith approved shall be 
provided to the written approval of the Local Planning Authority prior to any use of the 
development herewith approved.  Thereafter, they shall be retained, unobstructed, 
for the purposes of parking only.  In particular, no part of the parking or turning 
facilities is to be obstructed by non-motorised vehicles.

12 The site access road shall be hard-surfaced for a minimum distance of 15.0 metres 
behind the nearside edge of carriageway, in materials which shall be subject to prior 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority.  The hard surfacing shall be fully 
carried out prior to any part of the development approved herewith being brought into 
use.

13 A passing bay, giving a carriageway width of 5.5 metres over a 10 metres linear length 
of the road, shall be provided as shown on the Passing Place drawings approved in 
condition 2 above.  This shall be implemented prior to any part of the development 
being brought into use, and thereafter shall be retained, unobstructed, in perpetuity.

14 Within one month of the granting of this planning permission the applicant shall submit 
a planning application for the erection of a covered manure store at Godre Garreg 
farm, Llangadog.  No work shall commence on the poultry unit hereby approved until 
the covered manure store has also been granted planning permission and the poultry 
unit shall not be operational until the covered manure store has been completed and 
is ready to be used in association with the approved poultry unit.

15 No manure spreading shall take place within a 10 metre wide buffer zone measured 
from any nearby water course bank top for the whole extent of the site (banked off is 
defined at the point at which the bank meets normal land levels).  The buffer zone 
shall be without structure, hardstanding, footpath, fences or overhanging 
development.

16 During the operational lifetime of the poultry unit an annual updated manure 
management plan reflecting any changes in the operation is to be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for their written approval.  The nutrient management plan 
which informs the manure management plan is also to be updated and submitted in 
conjunction to the Local Planning Authority for their written approval.

17 All vehicles used for the movement of manure shall be sheeted and/or fully covered.

18 Poultry waste from the unit will be managed in line with the approved Revised Manure 
Management Plan Rev 13 12 17, received 8th February 2018.

19 The rating level of the noise emitted from the proposed development as a whole shall 
not exceed the background noise level.  The noise levels shall be determined at the 
nearest noise sensitive premises or at another location that is deemed suitable by the 
authority.  Measurements and assessments shall be made in accordance with BS 
4142: 2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound.

20 If the authority receives a justified complaint with respect to the development, the 
operator within a period of 1 month shall undertake and submit to the authority a noise 
assessment conforming to BS 4142: 2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial 
and commercial sound, to determine whether noise arising from development 

Tudalen 21



exceeds the level specified in condition 19 above.  The assessment shall be 
undertaken under the supervision of the Local Authority.

21 In the event that Condition 19 is exceeded then the submitted survey shall also 
include mitigation measures to ensure compliance with the noise level specified in 
Condition 19.  The development shall then be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details.

22 Deliveries and collections associated with the proposed development shall only be 
taken at or dispatched from the site between the hours of 08:00 through to 20:00 on 
Monday to Saturday and not at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

23 Any associated works with the proposed development, such as cleaning, 
maintenance shall only be taken at or dispatched from the site between the hours of 
08:00 through to 20:00 on Monday to Saturday and not at any time on Sundays, Bank 
or Public Holidays.

24 Fans shall not operate between the hours of 23:00 and 07:00.

25 During the construction phases, no works or construction shall take place other than 
within the hours of 08:00 – 18:00 Monday – Friday, Saturday 08:00 – 14:00 and not 
at all on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

26 The detailed landscaping and planting of the site as approved within Condition 2 
above shall be fully implemented during the first available planting and seeding 
season following the commencement of the development.

27 Any new landscape elements constructed, planted or seeded; or existing landscape 
elements retained; in accordance with the approved Detailed Landscape Design 
Scheme which, within the lifetime of the approved development are removed; die; 
become diseased; damaged or otherwise defective, to such extent that, in the opinion 
of the Local Planning Authority, the function of the landscape elements in relation to 
this planning approval is no longer delivered, shall be replaced in the next planting or 
seeding season with replacement elements of similar size and specification.

28 The existing hedge/hedgerow along the south eastern boundary of the enclosure with 
the unclassified 4502 road shall be protected through all construction phase 
operations and thereafter retained, and maintained at a minimum height of 2.5 metres 
above the adjacent carriageway.  Prior to any management works to the hereby 
defined hedge/hedgerow, which would result in laying or coppicing to a height below 
the hereby specified minimum height, a method statement for the works shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The works shall 
be implemented as the approved method statement.  Any existing hedge/hedgerow 
or part thereof, which, within the lifetime of the approved development are removed; 
die; become diseased; damaged or otherwise defective, to such extent that, in the 
opinion of the Local Planning Authority, the function of the existing 
hedge/hedgerow[s] in relation to this planning approval is no longer delivered, shall 
be replaced in the next planting season with replacement elements of similar size and 
specification.

29 No development or site clearance shall take place until a method statement for the 
translocation of the existing hedge/ hedgerow(s), as approved in condition 2 above 

Tudalen 22



has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
method statement shall include an implementation programme and shall be in 
compliance with relevant guidance as provided by the Local Planning Authority.

30 The hedge/ hedgerow translocation method statement as approved to discharge 
condition 29 shall be fully implemented as the implementation programme unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any section of existing 
hedge/hedgerow translocated in accordance with the approved method statement 
which, within the lifetime of the approved development is removed; dies; becomes 
diseased; damaged or otherwise defective, to such extent that, in the opinion of the 
Local Planning Authority, the function of the existing hedge/hedgerow(s) in relation to 
this planning approval is no longer delivered, shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with replacement elements of similar size and specification

31 Prior to the commencement of any works associated with the development hereby 
approved, a Construction Exclusion Zone (CEZ) shall be established to protect: - 

- all trees, groups of trees or woodland located within, on, or with a canopy spread 
which overhangs the site boundary and which are identified for retention. 

- all shrub masses, hedges and hedgerows located within or on the site boundary 
which are identified for retention. 

The CEZ shall be defined by a barrier of a specification appropriate to exclude the 
degree and proximity of all construction phase operations. The barrier shall form a 
continuous length, aligned as follows: 

- to the perimeter of root protection areas, defined in accordance with BS5837, of all 
trees, groups of trees or woodland as identified above. 

- to 1.5m from the edge extent of above ground growth of shrub masses, hedges and 
hedgerows as identified above. 

Any construction operations and access within the CEZ shall be limited to those 
undertaken in compliance with the recommendations of BS5837. The CEZ shall be 
enforced throughout the duration of all development works and until all equipment, 
machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site.

REASONS

1 Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

2 In the interest of visual amenity.

3-5 To prevent any separate use on the site, and to ensure that the proposed 
development does not prejudice the enjoyment of neighbouring occupiers of their 
properties.

6-13 In the interest of highway safety.

14-18 To ensure that there is no significant effect to any designated site.

Tudalen 23



19-25 In the interest of protecting the living conditions of local residents.

26-31 In the interest of the visual amenity of the locality.

REASONS FOR GRANTING PLANNING PERMISSION

The decision to grant planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a 
planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

 The proposed development adheres to the requirements of policy SP14 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan which ensures that proposed development 
does not unacceptably harm the Tywi Valley Special Area of Conservation.

 The proposed development adheres to the requirements of policy GP1 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan which ensures that proposed development 
promotes sustainability and high quality design, and seeks to ensure that 
development conforms with and enhances the character and appearance of the site, 
building or area in terms of siting, appearance, scale, height, massing, elevation 
treatment and detailing.  The development proposal should also not have a significant 
impact on the amenity of adjacent land uses and properties.

 The proposed development adheres to the requirements of policy EMP4 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan which ensures that proposed development 
is a form of farm diversification, and requires that it is subordinate to, compatible with 
and supports the continued operation of the agricultural activity of the existing working 
farm; is of a scale and nature appropriate to the existing farm operation; the scale 
and nature of the activity is compatible with its accessibility to public transport and 
the need for local highway improvements; the scale and scope of any retail use 
(where planning permission is required) would not have an adverse impact on the 
vitality and viability of retail facilities in nearby settlements, or would undermine the 
retail hierarchy (see policy RT1); it would not have an adverse impact on the 
character, setting and appearance of the area and the surrounding landscape and 
where appropriate, townscape.  As the proposal is a new building and not integrated 
with the existing working farm complex, it remains that it is considered that the 
proposal is not detrimental to the respective character and appearance of the area 
and surrounding landscape.

 The proposed development adheres to the requirements of policy TR3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan which ensures that proposed development 
relates to the highway design and layout considerations of developments and states 
that proposals which do not generate unacceptable levels of traffic on the surrounding 
road network, and would not be detrimental to highway safety or cause significant 
harm to the amenity of residents will be permitted.

 The proposed development adheres to the requirements of policy EQ4 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan which ensures that proposals for 
development which have an adverse impact on priority species, habitats and features 
of recognised principal importance to the conservation of biodiversity and nature 
conservation, (namely those protected by Section 42 of the Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 and UK and Local BAP habitats and species 

Tudalen 24



and other than sites and species protected under European or UK legislation) will not 
be permitted, except where it can be demonstrated that the impacts can be 
satisfactorily mitigated, acceptably minimised or appropriately managed to include 
net enhancements; there are exceptional circumstances where the reasons for the 
development or land use change clearly outweighs the need to safeguard the 
biodiversity and nature conservation interests of the site and where alternative habitat 
provision can be made in order to maintain and enhance local biodiversity.

 The proposed development adheres to the requirements of policy EQ6 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan which ensures that proposed development 
in Special Landscape Areas are designated in specific locations and proposals for 
development which enhance or improve the Special Landscape Areas through their 
design, appearance and landscape schemes will be permitted (subject to the policies 
and proposals of the Plan).  The proposal is a diversification scheme for an 
established agricultural enterprise, at a sensitive siting and with a detailed 
landscaping scheme which will mitigate for the impact of the building within the 
landscape, and provides biodiversity benefits to the locality.

 The proposed development adheres to the requirements of policy EP1 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan which ensures that proposals for 
development will be permitted where they do not lead to a deterioration of either the 
water environment and/or the quality of controlled waters.  Proposals will, where 
appropriate, be expected to contribute towards improvements to water quality.  
Watercourses will be safeguarded through biodiversity/ecological buffer 
zones/corridors to protect aspects such as riparian habitats and species; water quality 
and provide for flood plain capacity.  Proposals will be permitted where they do not 
have an adverse impact on the nature conservation, fisheries, public access or water 
related recreation use of the rivers in the County. Proposals will wherever possible 
be required to make efficient use of water resources.

 The proposed development adheres to the requirements of policy EP2 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan which ensures that proposals should 
wherever possible seek to minimise the impacts of pollution.  It will be required to 
demonstrate proposals do not conflict with air quality strategy, cause deterioration in 
water quality, ensure that light and noise pollution are minimised and ensure that risks 
arising from contaminated land are addressed.

 The proposed development adheres to the requirements of policy EP3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan which ensures that proposals for 
development will be required to demonstrate that the impact of surface water 
drainage, including the effectiveness of incorporating Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SUDS), has been fully investigated.  The details and options resulting from the 
investigation must show that there are justifiable reasons for not incorporating SUDS 
into the scheme in accordance with section 8 of TAN 15.

 The proposal complies with Welsh Assembly Government issued advice contained 
in Technical Advice Note 6 – ‘Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities’ in that the 
proposed development is appropriate to the site and surrounding landscape.

NOTES

Tudalen 25



1 Comments and guidance received from consultees relating to this application, 
including any other permissions or consents required, is available on the Authority’s 
website (www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk).

2 Please note that this permission is specific to the plans and particulars approved as 
part of the application.  Any departure from the approved plans will constitute 
unauthorised development and may be liable to enforcement action.  You (or any 
subsequent developer) should advise the Council of any actual or proposed 
variations from the approved plans immediately so that you can be advised how to 
best resolve the matter.

In addition, any conditions which the Council has imposed on this permission will be 
listed above and should be read carefully.  It is your (or any subsequent developers') 
responsibility to ensure that the terms of all conditions are met in full at the appropriate 
time (as outlined in the specific condition).

The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
conditions which require the submission of details prior to commencement of 
development will constitute unauthorised development.  This will necessitate the 
submission of a further application to retain the unauthorised development and may 
render you liable to formal enforcement action.

Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any conditions 
could result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form of a Breach 
of Condition Notice.

 
3 The storage and spreading of manure will be undertaken in accordance with the 

DEFRA Code of Good Agricultural Practice for the Protection of Air, Water and Soil.

4 The burning of waste on the site should at no time be permitted which is likely to emit 
dark or black smoke, or smoke which would constitute a smoke nuisance at the 
nearest sensitive residential property.

5 All waste manure must be stored in a satisfactory manner/covered to ensure it does 
not give rise to an odour nuisance beyond the site boundary.

6 Appropriate methods of clearing the waste and cleaning the unit must be adopted to 
minimise the effect of dust / odours affecting neighbouring properties.

7 All dead stock must be stored in appropriate containers to reduce the potential for 
odours and flies.

8 Adequate procedures must in place for controlling flies if necessary.

9 Appropriate methods must be in place for the control of vermin if required.

10 Adequate procedures must be adopted to ensure the litter/manure inside the unit is 
kept dry and in such a condition as to reduce the ammonia produced.

11 It should be noted that the proposed development should be adequately controlled 
with regard to other emissions or deposits so that the development does not at any 

Tudalen 26



time constitute a statutory nuisance as defined by Section 79 of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990.

12 Any works undertaken within or forming part of the highway shall meet the 
requirements of Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980, and shall only be commenced 
with the specific agreement of the Highway Authority.

13 The applicant should take due care and attention to avoid the deposit of mud on the 
road from construction vehicles using the access.

14 No drainage from the development site shall be connected to or allowed to discharge 
into the road drainage system, and the proposed junction shall be constructed such 
that the access road does not drain onto the road.

Tudalen 27



Application No E/35873

Application Type Full Planning

Proposal &
Location

NEW HOUSE WITH INTEGRAL GARAGE AT PLOT 11 GWAUN 
HENLLAN, TIRYDAIL, AMMANFORD, SA18 2FD 

Applicant(s) TEILO PROPERTIES LIMITED - MS ANNE JONES,  
CAENEWYDD, RHOSAMAN, LLANDEILO, SA19 6NP

Agent MR ROBERT HIGGINS,  105 PENYBANC ROAD, PENYBANC, 
AMMANFORD, CARMARTHENSHIRE, SA18 3QP

Case Officer Andrew Francis

Ward Pontamman

Date of validation 25/07/2017

CONSULTATIONS

Head of Transport – Recommends the imposition of conditions.

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water – No objections to the proposal.

Ammanford Town Council – No observations received to date.

Local Members - County Councillor D C Evans has not commented to date.  

Neighbours/Public – Seven Neighbour Consultation Letters were sent out to advertise the 
application. Two letters of objection were received as a result. The points of objection are 
summarised below:-

 A two storey dwelling at this location would be harmful to the privacy of the occupiers 
of the nearby bungalow dwellings. The site was originally meant to be all bungalows.

 The rear of the plot and the adjoining plots is a low area that fills with water when wet 
and never properly dries, affecting all the neighbouring gardens. This is due to the built 
up area of the gardens surrounding the area all draining down which will be 
exacerbated if the drainage for this plot feeds into this area. This could be improved 
with a suitable drainage scheme.

 The large two storey house which could accommodate many occupiers will probably 
cause more noise and disturbance from its occupiers than a smaller bungalow dwelling 
with less occupiers.

Tudalen 28



RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

E/15276 One House with Integral Garage
Full Planning Permission Granted 14 August 2007

E/05211 New Bungalow
Full Planning Permission Granted 1 December 2003

AM/01707 Road Layout and Infrastructure 
(To Serve 44 No Plots for Dwellings
 - Development)
Full Planning Permission Granted 30 October 2002

E/02081 Residential Development
Renewal of Outline Planning 
Permission E/00530 and Removal of 
Condition No 5 of That Permission 
(Re: Amman Valley Trunk Sewer)
Outline Permission Granted 23 May 2000

E/00530 Residential Development 
(Renewal of Outline Planning 
Consent P6/4/176/93 
Allowed On Appeal 24/05/95)
Outline Granted 10 July 1997

P6/19111/91 Residential Development
Refused 10 March 1992

P6/18012/90 Residential Development
Withdrawn 28 March 1991

P6/176/93 Residential Development
Refused 01 July 1993

APPRAISAL

THE SITE

The application site is a broadly rectangular plot of land situated fairly centrally within the 
new residential development known as Gwaun Henllan at Tirydail, Ammanford. The plot is 
bounded on three sides by the curtilages of other dwellings, whilst it fronts on to the site 
road at Gwaun Henllan.

The plot is slightly sloping to the rear. Opposite the proposal and the dwelling to the north 
are two storey dwellings, whilst to the south and to the rear, single storey bungalows are 
present.

The plot measures 28 metres in depth and has a road frontage of 14.5 metres and is one of 
the last plots to be developed on this site. 

Tudalen 29



THE PROPOSAL

The applicant seeks Full Planning Permission to construct 1 two storey dwelling with integral 
garage and associated access and driveway on the above-mentioned plot. The proposed 
dwelling presents a frontage with three half dormers on the main roof of the building with 
one full dormer above the garage, which is stepped down from the main roofline. The rear 
elevation has been amended to reduce the eaves level and in terms of the dimensions, the 
overall width of the dwelling proposed is 12.1 metres and the overall depth is 9.2 metres, 
and creates a rectangular footprint of these dimensions. Overall, the dwelling is proposed to 
be maximum of 7.9 metres high. In terms of finishes, the proposed dwelling is to be in 
keeping with the other dwellings on the site with a face brick and render finish and concrete 
roof tiles.

Internally the ground floor proposes a lounge, kitchen, dining room, living room utility room 
and garage. The first floor proposes 4 bedrooms, one with en-suite, and one bathroom.

PLANNING POLICY

In the context of the current development control policy framework, any proposal of this 
nature falls to be considered against the general criteria of a number of Carmarthenshire 
Local Development Plan (LDP) policies. Given that this is a proposal to develop a residential 
dwelling within the residential limits of Ammanford, policy H2 is particularly relevant. This 
states that proposals for such developments on unallocated sites will be permitted provided 
they are in accordance with the principles of the Plan’s strategy, policies and proposals.

Policy GP1 also applies. Specifically for this application it requires that:-

 It conforms with and enhances the character and appearance of the site, building or 
area in terms of siting, appearance, scale, height, massing, elevation treatment, and 
detailing;

 It incorporates existing landscape or other features, takes account of site contours and 
changes in levels and prominent skylines or ridges;

 Utilises materials appropriate to the area within which it is located;
 It would not have a significant impact on the amenity of adjacent  land uses, properties, 

residents or the community;
 It retains, and where appropriate incorporates important local features (including 

buildings, amenity areas, spaces, trees, woodlands and hedgerows) and ensures the 
use of good quality hard and soft landscaping and embraces opportunities to enhance 
biodiversity and ecological connectivity;

 It achieves and creates attractive, safe places and public spaces, which ensures 
security through the ‘designing-out-crime’ principles of Secured by Design (including 
providing natural surveillance, visibility, well-lit environments and areas of public 
movement); 

 An appropriate access exists or can be provided which does not give rise to any 
parking or highway safety concerns on the site or within the locality;

  It ensures or provides for, the satisfactory generation, treatment and disposal of both 
surface and foul water;

 It has regard to the generation, treatment and disposal of waste.

As the proposal is for a residential dwelling with no exceptions, a commuted sum is required 
towards the Affordable Housing Fund as set out in policy AH1. This states that:-

Tudalen 30



Where an open market residential site falls below the above thresholds, a contribution 
through a commuted sum towards the provision of affordable housing will be sought. 
The level of contribution sought through a commuted sum will vary based upon its 
location within the high, medium and low viability sub-market areas as set out above. 
Commuted sum charges will be based on floor space (cost per sq.m).

NEIGHBOURS/PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

Seven Neighbour Consultation Letters were sent out to advertise the application. Two letters 
of objection were received as a result. The points of objection are summarised and 
discussed below:-

 A two storey dwelling at this location would be harmful to the privacy of the occupiers 
of the nearby bungalow dwellings. The site was originally meant to be all bungalows.

With regards to this point, the proposed dwelling is designed to be a two storey dwelling, but 
with a modest height necessitating the use of dormer windows in the roof of the dwelling 
thus allowing to proposal to be in keeping with the dwellings adjacent to the plot and the 
dwellings opposite (No’s. 25 – 31). The proposal’s typical maximum height is 7.2 metres at 
both end elevations which again is similar to the existing adjacent dwellings and would not 
be unusual in relation to the rest of the site.

Taking into account the bungalow dwellings to the west of the proposed site, the separation 
distances would be at least 21 metres between the rear faces of the dwellings which is 
considered to be an adequate gap. 

Furthermore, it should be noted that this is the last vacant plot on the site. It would make 
more sense for a site amenity perspective to develop it rather than to leave it vacant and 
overgrown.

 The rear of the plot and the adjoining plots is a low area that fills with water when wet. 
This is due to the built up area of the gardens surrounding the area all draining down 
which will be exacerbated if the drainage for this plot feeds into this area.

With regard to the issues of drainage that are raised at this location, this may well be as a 
result of the undeveloped nature of this site and the fact that the dumped soil and vegetation 
on this plot feeds water to the rear of the site exacerbating the pooling problem. 

The development of this site and the requirement to implement a suitable sustainable 
drainage scheme to dispose of the surface water generated by the development will also 
improve the situation, as one objector actually alludes to in their letter.

 The large two storey house which could accommodate many occupiers will probably 
cause more noise and disturbance from its occupiers than a smaller bungalow dwelling 
with less occupiers.

Turning to the final point, the occupiers of the dwelling are not known at this point in time so 
this point is purely hypothetical. However, it is a similar size and design to many other 
houses on the site so fits comfortably with the existing character and appearance of the 
existing estate.

Tudalen 31



CONCLUSION

In considering this application, the plot the last vacant plot on the Gwaun Henllan estate and 
as such is well integrated within the existing built environment. The design of the proposed 
dwelling is similar to the other two storey dwellings on the estate and fits on the plot 
acceptably, maintaining adequate separation distances to all the neighbouring properties. 
As such, it is considered that the proposed dwelling would not cause any detrimental impacts 
upon the amenities or privacy of any neighbouring dwellings and in line with the above-
mentioned LDP policies and the requirements of Planning Policy Wales. 

The proposal is considered to fit well within the plot and would not affect the character of the 
area given the mixture of dwellings on the site. The design of the proposal is acceptable and 
will not be detrimental to the overall character or appearance of the area and will help 
improve the drainage issues currently experience at this location. 

The plot can adequately accommodate the proposed dwelling and associated parking, 
turning and amenity areas. Therefore, having due regard to Section 38(6) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the grant of planning permission on this site represents 
a sensitive infilling of a gap within an existing pattern of development. As such this 
application is recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL

CONDITIONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five 
years from the date of this permission.

2 The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the following 
approved plans received on 13 March 2017:

 The 1:500 scale Block and Location Plans (02)
 The 1:50 and 1:100 scale Proposed Plans and Elevations (01)

3 Prior to the commencement of development the applicant shall submit, for the written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority, details of all external finishes inclusive of 
their colour and specification.  The development shall then be implemented as 
approved.

4 All planting, seeding or turfing shall be carried out in the first planting season following 
the completion of the development. 

5 The new vehicular access shall be laid out and constructed strictly in accordance with 
Typical Layout No. 2 (specification for which is attached to this planning permission), 
prior to the commencement of any other work or development.  Thereafter it shall be 
retained, unobstructed, in this form in perpetuity.

6 There shall at no time be any growth or obstruction to visibility over 0.6 metres above 
the adjacent carriageway crown, over the site's whole Estate Road frontage within 
2.0 metres of the near edge of the carriageway.

Tudalen 32



7 The access, visibility splays and turning area required, shall be wholly provided prior 
to any part of the development being brought into use, and thereafter shall be retained 
unobstructed in perpetuity.  In particular, no part of the access, visibility splays, or 
turning area, is to be obstructed by non-motorised vehicles.

8 The parking spaces and layout shown on the plans herewith approved shall be 
provided prior to any use of the development herewith approved.  Thereafter, they 
shall be retained, unobstructed, for the purpose of parking only. In particular, no part 
of the parking or turning facilities is to be obstructed by non-motorised vehicles.

9 The access shall be hard surfaced for a minimum distance of 5.0 behind the highway 
boundary, in materials which shall be subject to the prior written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority.  The hard surfacing shall be fully carried out prior to any part of 
the development approved herewith being brought into use.

10 All surface water from the development herewith approved shall be trapped and 
disposed of so as to ensure that it does not flow on to any part of the public highways 
and no surface water from the development shall be disposed of, or connected into, 
existing highway surface water drains.

11 No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or 
indirectly with the public sewerage network.

REASONS

1 Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

2-4 In the interest of visual amenity.

5-10 In the interest of highway safety.

11 To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health 
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment.

NOTES

1. Please note that this permission is specific to the plans and particulars approved as 
part of the application.  Any departure from the approved plans will constitute 
unauthorised development and may be liable to enforcement action.  You (or any 
subsequent developer) should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations 
from the approved plans immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve 
the matter.

In addition, any conditions which the Council has imposed on this permission will be 
listed above and should be read carefully.  It is your (or any subsequent developers') 
responsibility to ensure that the terms of all conditions are met in full at the appropriate 
time (as outlined in the specific condition).

Tudalen 33



The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
conditions which require the submission of details prior to commencement if 
development will constitute unauthorised development.  This will necessitate the 
submission of a further application to retain the unauthorised development and may 
render you liable to formal enforcement action.

Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any conditions 
could result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form of a Breach 
of Condition Notice.

2 Comments and guidance received from consultees relating to this application, 
including any other permissions or consents required, is available on the Authority’s 
website (www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk)

3 The applicant will be required to enter into a Section 106 Agreement or Unilateral 
Undertaking to ensure the provision of the following:

 A commuted sum of £7636.16 towards an Affordable Housing Fund as per the 
requirement in Local Development Plan policy AH1 based upon a 181.9 square 
metre footprint in the low viability (10%) sub market area at £41.98 per square 
metre.

SUMMARY REASONS FOR APPROVAL 
 
In accordance with Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2004, the Council hereby certify that the proposal 
as hereby approved conforms with the relevant policies of the Development Plan 
(comprising the Carmarthenshire Unitary Development Plan 2006) and material 
considerations do not indicate otherwise.  The policies, which refer, are as follows: 

 The proposed development accords with policy GP1 of the LDP in that the proposed 
development represents an acceptable form of development which is appropriate to 
the character and appearance of the surrounding area, is of an acceptable design 
and will not have an unacceptable impact upon the residential amenity of nearby 
properties and provides an acceptable access and parking facilities.

 The proposed development accords with policy H2 of the LDP in that the land is 
situated within the settlement limits for Ammanford and the proposal does not conflict 
with other policies within the plan.

 The proposed development accords with policy AH1 of the LDP in that the proposed 
development provides a contribution towards the affordable homes fund.

Tudalen 34

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/


Application No E/36854

Application Type Full Planning

Proposal &
Location

CHANGE OF USE OF THE 3 BEDROOM DWELLING FROM C3 
USE TO A C4 HMO OF 6 BEDROOMS. ASSOCIATED 
ALTERATIONS TO ONE REAR WINDOW AND CHANGE OF 
OTHER RELEVANT WINDOWS AS WELL AS ROOFING OF A 
LEAN-TO-ROOF TO MEET SAFETY REGULATIONS AT 16 
HALL STREET, AMMANFORD, SA18 3BW 

Applicant(s) PROP SOURCE WALES -J JONES,  POST BOX 77, 
AMMANFORD, SA18 2LS

Agent STUDIO FONTANELLE - SAI GIRIDHAR,  3 LLANERCH 
TERRACE, LLANELLI, SA15 3RR

Case Officer Andrew Francis

Ward Ammanford

Date of validation 23/02/2018

CONSULTATIONS

Ammanford Town Council – No observations received to date.

Local Member – County Councillor D Harries raises serious concerns with the application, 
summarised as following:- 

 The people living in the property will be young people and might have behavioural 
issues. Other similar accommodation in Ammanford has raised serious issues over the 
years.

 There is a chapel next door and private houses in the street who would be unhappy if 
there were disturbance.

 The proposal would devalue property if it became problematic.

Neighbours/Public – One neighbour consultation letter has been sent out to advertise the 
application. Six letters of objection from five separate addresses and a nine name petition 
have been received as a result. A letter from the local MP has also been received on behalf 
of the objectors. The points of objection are summarised as follows:-

 There has been previous antisocial behaviour on this street including damage to cars, 
drunken arguments late at night and needing to clean vomit from their property linked to 

Tudalen 35



the tenants of the housing association flats at the end of the street. The last thing needed 
is more flats and anti-social behaviour.

 Parking spaces on the street are at a premium, despite a residents permit parking 
system being in place, this development would make it worse.

 Many of the residents on the street are elderly, they have been told a lot of undesirable 
people will be moving into the property. Such a use is inappropriate in this location.

Natural Resources Wales – Offer no objections to the proposal. Advises caution if work is 
to be done to the lean to roof at the rear.

Head of Transport – No objections to the proposal. The parking requirement for both the 
C3 dwelling and C4 HMO would be the same. In addition, the location is in a sustainable 
location in the town centre so parking requirements can be relaxed.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

There is no relevant planning history on the application site.

APPRAISAL

THE SITE

The application site is an existing end of terrace dwelling addressed as 16 Hall Street, 
Ammanford. Hall Street itself is a narrow one way street with the eastern part occupied by 
terraced dwellings and the western part characterised by a chapel and a public hall. The 
application building shares a boundary with the chapel’s garden area to the east.

Vehicular access to the street is via a narrow access off High Street, adjacent to the 
Gerymanwydd flat complex. The application building has two allocated car parking spaces 
and 1 visitor parking space available in the public car park that is located to the rear of Quay 
Street.

The existing building is a double fronted 3 bedroom dwelling and is served by a modest rear 
garden.

THE PROPOSAL

The description of the proposal is ‘Change of Use of the 3 bedroom dwelling from C3 use to 
a C4 HMO of 6 bedrooms. Associated alterations to one rear window and change of other 
relevant windows as well as roofing of a lean-to-roof to meet safety regulations’. The 
application therefore is a full planning application for a change of use.

The existing internal floor layout is to see modest changes in the ground floor with stud wall 
partitions built across the two current full length rooms to create two ground floor bedrooms, 
a kitchen and a living room. The first floor provides 4 bedrooms with a small bathroom. 

The external elevations are to essentially stay the same, with only modest changes to the 
rear. The lean to roof is to be replaced to make it more insulated and the existing bathroom 
window is to be slightly enlarged as it now serves a bedroom.

PLANNING POLICY

Tudalen 36



The development plan for the purposes of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 consists of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (LDP) adopted 
in December 2014.

In the context of the current development control policy framework the site is within the 
settlement development limits of Ammanford as defined in the Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan (LDP) adopted December 2014.

The LDP policies which the proposal has been assessed against are Sustainability & High 
Quality Design (GP1), Development Limits (GP2), Housing within Development Limits (H2) 
and Conversion or Subdivision of Existing Dwellings (H3) which are all deemed relevant to 
this form of development.

Policy GP1 – Sustainability and High Quality Design

a) It conforms with and enhances the character and appearance of the site, building or 
area in terms of siting, appearance, scale, height, massing, elevation treatment, and 
detailing.

c) Utilises materials appropriate to the area within which it is located.

d) It would not have a significant impact on the amenity of adjacent land uses, 
properties, residents or the community.

h) An appropriate access exists or can be provided which does not give rise to any 
parking or highway safety concerns on the site or within the locality.

j) It ensures or provides for, the satisfactory generation, treatment and disposal of both 
surface and foul water.

The relevant parts of the policy can be seen above. The proposal satisfies the relevant parts 
of Policy GP1 as it conforms to the existing character as the spatial characteristics of the 
proposal are in keeping with the existing dwelling. The proposal does not seek to change 
the existing dwelling house, meaning that the existing features and character is to be 
retained.

The impact on the amenity of adjacent land uses is seen to be minimal, with no significant 
impact to adjacent land uses, properties or residents as the proposal is for a change of use 
to a HMO from a dwelling house – there is no significant change in use as both aspects are 
residential, and there is no uplift in bedrooms provided.

Policy GP2 – Development Limits

Development Limits are defined for those settlements identified as Growth Areas, Service 
Centres, Local Service Centres and identified Sustainable Communities within the 
settlement framework. Proposals within defined Development Limits will be permitted, 
subject to policies and proposals of this Plan, national policies and other material planning 
considerations.

The development is within limits and therefore satisfies the requirements of Policy GP2 
which are highlighted above.

Tudalen 37



Policy H3 Conversion or Subdivision of Existing Dwellings
Proposals for the conversion or sub-division of appropriate dwellings into flats or dwellings 
of multiple occupation, will be permitted provided that:
 
(a) It would not result in an over-intensification of use;

(b) Suitable parking provision is available, or made available;

(c) The architectural quality, character and appearance of the building is, where 
applicable, safeguarded and its setting not unacceptably harmed.

In regards to (b), there is no need for the applicant to provide parking provisions as the 
dwelling currently provides three parking spaces and proposed three parking spaces, thus 
meets the Head of Transport’s requirements. Plus, the site is located in a sustainable 
location. The proximity of the dwelling to immediate amenities can be seen in page 5 of the 
supportive statement which has been submitted, stating the following:

The architectural quality and character of the dwelling would not be harmed, as the only 
material alterations to the dwelling is the replacement of existing windows in order to provide 
escapes. This would satisfy Part (c) of Policy H3.

NEIGHBOURS/PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

Comments made by third party representations have raised a number of issues relating to 
the proposal. These are summarised and discussed as follows:-

 There has been previous antisocial behaviour on this street including damage to cars, 
drunken arguments late at night and needing to clean vomit from their property linked 
to the tenants of the housing association flats at the end of the street. The last thing 
needed is more flats and anti-social behaviour.

With regard to this first point, at this stage it is not known who the occupiers of the property 
will be and it is taking a prejudicial view that the occupiers will partake in anti-social 
behaviour. Submitted in support of the application, a Tenancy Management Plan provides 
safeguards to the landlord and the neighbouring properties that the tenants will be 
responsible and well behaved. In short, the Tenancy Management plan, run by Plush Estate 
Agents requires that:

 The tenants are working with references
 If under 25, the tenant will require a guarantor
 If there are any issues, Plush Estate Agents works to find a solution that works for all 

parties. Anti social behaviour is not tolerated
 Initial tenancy of 6 months, to assess suitability
 Property is inspected every 3 months

Tudalen 38



 On line maintenance log for quick repairs

There is a requirement for a variety of affordable housing options in Ammanford and this 
proposal offers one of the solutions in a sustainable location.

 Parking spaces on the street are at a premium, despite a residents permit parking 
system being in place, this development would make it worse.

As shown in the application and as commented by the Head of Transport, who does not 
object to this application, the requirement for a three bed dwelling is 3 parking spaces, whilst 
the requirement for a six bed HMO is also three spaces, so the proposal is neutral in terms 
of parking requirements. This property has 2 permit spaces and 1 visitor parking space 
allocated in the public car park accessed off the road to the rear of Quay Street, to the rear 
of this application site. It is also acknowledged that this site is located in a town centre 
location in close proximity to many amenities and public transport hubs. As such, whilst Hall 
Street is narrow, this objection cannot be sustained.

 Many of the residents on the street are elderly, they have been told a lot of 
undesirable people will be moving into the property. Such a use is inappropriate in 
this location.

As discussed in the first point raised above, the tenants of the proposed property are not 
known yet. Furthermore, there is a tenancy management plan in place in order to vet the 
tenants to ensure that they would be suitable clients and well behaved. In addition to this 
point, locations such as this, close to the town centre, are where such uses are best situated 
as they are the most sustainable location for such developments.

Further to the neighbour letters, Local Member D Harries also raised the following concerns:

 The people living in the property will be young people and might have behavioural 
issues. Other similar accommodation in Ammanford has raised serious issues over 
the years.

In considering this point, there is nothing in the application to state that the tenants will have 
behavioural issues. In fact, the tenancy management plan actively seeks to avoid such a 
scenario.

 There is a chapel next door and private houses in the street who would be unhappy 
if there were disturbance.

With regard to this point, it is likely that most properties would be unhappy if a neighbour 
were to create a disturbance, irrespective of where that disturbance were to come from. As 
mentioned above, the tenancy management plan actively seeks to avoid these issues 
occurring.

 The proposal would devalue property if it became problematic.

As Members will be aware, the loss of property value is not a material planning concern and 
not something that can be taken into consideration when making a determination.

CONCLUSION

Tudalen 39



In addition to the discussion points above, the site is within the settlement limits of 
Ammanford and within 60 metres of the defined Town Centre of Ammanford. This 
establishes it as a very sustainable location for such a development and as therefore, the 
principle this type of development would normally be considered as acceptable, provided all 
other material considerations can be met. 

Prior to the change in the Use Classes Order in Wales in 2016, dwellings such as this could 
change into houses of multiple occupation supporting up to 6 people, living as a family unit, 
without planning permission. It was only after this change to the Order that a new Use Class 
was introduced – C4 and applications were required. It is considered that in this instance, 
the proposal would not lead to a detrimental impact on the surrounding land uses as it may 
be expected that a family of 6 could occupy this dwelling with a similar impact.

In addition to the tenancy management plan, the applicant would also be required to comply 
with HMO regulations and obtain a license prior to any occupation of the dwelling, and the 
building would have to be compliant with the relevant building regulations set out by Building 
Control.
The material issues raised have been addressed by conditions to be imposed on the 
permission, should it be minded to approve. On balance, the concerns relating to the 
development which are considered to be planning related have been identified and 
addressed accordingly.

The proposed development is not considered to be detrimental to the existing street scene 
or the character of the street as there is virtually no change and it will allow for the continued 
beneficial use of this building. As such, the application is recommended for approval, subject 
to the following conditions.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL

CONDITIONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced no later than the five years 
from the date of this permission.

2 The works hereby granted consent shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
details shown on the following schedule of plans dated 24 January, 2018:-

 The 1:200 and 1:1250 scale Location Plan (P05)
 The 1:50 scale Proposed Front and Rear Elevations (P04)
 The 1:50 scale Proposed Ground and First Floor Plans (P02A)

3 The premises shall be used as a house in multiple occupation for no more than six 
persons and shall not be used for any other purpose.

REASONS

1 Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

Tudalen 40



2 To ensure that only the approved works are carried out.

3 To ensure the proposed development does not prejudice the enjoyment of 
neighbouring occupiers of their properties.

REASONS FOR GRANTING PLANNING PERMISSION 

The decision to grant planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase act 2004, which requires that, in determining a 
planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

 It is considered that the proposed development complies with policy GP1 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (LDP) in that the proposal conforms with 
and respects the character of the original dwelling and appearance of the site by virtue 
of its virtually unchanged external design. It is considered that the proposed use would 
not have an unacceptable impact upon the amenity of adjacent land uses or the 
residents of the properties. The proposal, by virtue of its sustainable location does not 
give rise to parking or highway safety issues and provides for the satisfactory 
generation, treatment and disposal of surface and foul water.

 It is considered that the proposed development complies with policy GP2 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (LDP) in that the site is located within the 
development limits and on the edge of the Town Centre in a sustainable location.

 It is considered that the proposed development complies with policy H3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (LDP) in that the submitted plans submitted 
show that dwelling’s conversion to a six bedroom House in Multiple Occupation would 
not result in over intensification of use as the property as a house could be occupied 
by 6 people. The property is also served by three parking spaces in the Council car 
park and the external elevations of the dwelling will be retained as existing.

NOTE(S)

1 Please note that this consent is specific to the plans and particulars approved as part 
of the application. Any departure from the approved plans will constitute unauthorised 
development and may be liable to enforcement action. You (or any subsequent 
developer) should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations from the 
approved plans immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve the 
matter.

In addition, any conditions which the Council has imposed on this consent will be 
listed above and should be read carefully. It is your (or any subsequent developers') 
responsibility to ensure that the terms of all conditions are met in full at the appropriate 
time (as outlined in the specific condition).

The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
conditions which require the submission of details prior to the commencement of 
development will constitute unauthorised development. This will necessitate the 
submission of a further application to retain the unauthorised development and may 
render you liable to formal enforcement action.

Tudalen 41



Tudalen 42



ADRODDIAD PENNAETH
CYNLLUNIO, 

CYFARWYDDIAETH YR 
AMGYLCHEDD 

REPORT OF THE 
HEAD OF PLANNING,

DIRECTORATE OF ENVIRONMENT 

AR GYFER PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO
CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN

TO CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY
COUNCIL’S PLANNING COMMITTEE

AR 15 MAI 2018
ON 15 MAY 2018

I’W BENDERFYNU/
FOR DECISION

Tudalen 43

Eitem Rhif  4



Mewn perthynas â cheisiadau y mae gan y Cyngor ddiddordeb ynddynt un ai fel 
ymgeisydd/asiant neu fel perchennog tir neu eiddo, atgoffir yr Aelodau fod yna rhaid 
iddynt anwybyddu’r agwedd hon, gan ystyried ceisiadau o’r fath a phenderfynu yn eu 
cylch ar sail rhinweddau’r ceisiadau cynllunio yn unig. Ni ddylid ystyried 
swyddogaeth y Cyngor fel perchennog tir, na materion cysylltiedig, wrth benderfynu 
ynghylch ceisiadau cynllunio o’r fath.

In relation to those applications which are identified as one in which the Council has 
an interest either as applicant/agent or in terms of land or property ownership, 
Members are reminded that they must set aside this aspect, and confine their 
consideration and determination of such applications exclusively to the merits of the 
planning issues arising.  The Council’s land owning function, or other interests in the 
matter, must not be taken into account when determining such planning applications.

Tudalen 44



COMMITTEE: PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE: 15 MAY 2018

REPORT OF: HEAD OF PLANNING

I N D E X   -   A R E A   S O U T H 

REF. APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL PAGE NOS.

S/36946 Construction of one detached dwelling at land at 61 
Pwll Road, Pwll, Llanelli, SA15 4BD

47 - 53

Tudalen 45



APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL

Tudalen 46



Application No S/36946

Application Type Outline

Proposal &
Location

CONSTRUCTION OF ONE DETACHED DWELLING AT LAND 
AT 61 PWLL ROAD, PWLL, LLANELLI, SA15 4BD 

Applicant(s) MRS PAMELA GRAY,  61 PWLL ROAD, LLANELLI, SA15 4BD

Agent MRS ALISON GOWER,  9 MAENOL GLASFRYN, 
LLANGENNECH, LLANELLI, SA14 8SJ

Case Officer Paul Roberts

Ward Hengoed

Date of validation 15/03/2018

CONSULTATIONS

Llanelli Rural Council – Have objected to the application on the following grounds:-

1. The proposed development will over develop the site in an area which has seen an 
intensification of housing development in back gardens.

2. The site has very little amenity space which would be detrimental to the general 
enjoyment of the proposed dwelling.

3. The proposed access emerging on to Tyle Catherine will be detrimental to highway 
safety.

Local Member - County Councillors Susan Phillips has not commented on the application 
to date, while Cllr Penny Edwards is a member of the Planning Committee.

Welsh Water/ Dwr Cymru – Have raised no objection to the application.

Neighbours/Public – The application has been publicised with the posting of two site 
notices within the vicinity of the site. In response, two letters of objection have been received 
which raise the following issues of concerns:

 The proposal will overdevelop the site.
 The proposal is near a mine shaft which may extend under the site.
 The dwelling would have very little amenity space which would be detrimental to the 

enjoyment of its occupiers.
 The access will not have sufficient visibility along the roadway and the access along 

Elgin Road is already congested.
 Impact upon the privacy of neighbouring properties.

Tudalen 47



RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

There is no relevant planning history.

APPRAISAL

THE SITE

The application site consists of a rectangular shaped parcel of land located on the western 
side of Tyle Catherine in Pwll. It forms part of the sloping rear garden of the existing property 
of 61 Pwll Road which is set below the site and adjacent to the junction of Tyle Catherine 
with Pwll Road. 

The site has a width and depth of 22 and 18.5 metres respectively and consists of a lawned 
area. It slopes down gradually towards its southern boundary which is currently undefined. 
The site’s road frontage is characterised by an established hedgerow that also extends 
along its northern boundary and separates the land from the curtilages of two neighbouring 
semi-detached properties that front towards and overlook the site. The site’s rear boundary 
consists of timber fencing which separates it from the rear garden of the adjacent property 
of Pwll Road.

The site is located in a primarily residential area consisting of a mix of detached and semi-
detached properties. The neighbouring properties of Pwll Road and Elgin Road have long 
rear gardens while two new detached properties have been built on the opposite side of Tyle 
Catherine in recent years.

THE PROPOSAL

The application seeks outline permission for the construction of a detached dwelling together 
with associated works. All detailed matters have been reserved for future consideration and, 
as such, the application seeks to establish the principle of developing a dwelling on the site.

The application has been accompanied by an indicative site layout plan and cross sectional 
drawing which seek to demonstrate how the land could be developed in an acceptable 
manner. The layout shows the dwelling being located in the northern half of the site and 
orientated in a southerly direction to take advantage of the southerly aspect and sea views 
from the site. The layout makes provision for amenity and parking areas within the curtilage 
of the dwelling with access being achieved via new driveway egressing onto Tyle Catherine. 
The ground levels of the development are shown to reflect the prevailing levels of the site.

PLANNING POLICY

In the context of the current development control policy framework the site is located within 
the defined development limits of Pwll as contained in the adopted Local Development Plan. 
Reference is drawn to the following policies of the Plan.

Policy SP1 promotes environmentally sustainable proposals and encourages the efficient 
use of vacant, underused or previously developed land.
 
Policy GP1 is a general policy which promotes sustainability and high quality design, and 
seeks to ensure that development conforms with and enhances the character and 

Tudalen 48



appearance of the site, building or area in terms of siting, appearance, scale, height, 
massing, elevation treatment and detailing. Development proposals should also not have a 
significant impact on the amenity of adjacent land uses and properties.
 
Policy GP2 requires that proposals within defined development limits will be permitted, 
subject to policies and proposals of the plan, national policies and other material planning 
considerations. 

Policy GP3 states that the Council will, where necessary seek developers to enter into 
planning obligations to secure improvements to infrastructure, community facilities and other 
services to meet the requirements arising from new developments. Allied to this, Policy AH1 
states that a contribution towards affordable housing will be required on all housing 
allocations and windfall sites.

Policy H2 permits proposals for smaller housing developments on unallocated sites within 
the development limits of a defined settlement provided they are in accordance with the 
principles of the Plan’s strategy and its policies and proposals.

Policy GP4 states that proposals for development will be permitted where the infrastructure 
is adequate to meet the needs of the development. Proposals where new or improved 
infrastructure is required but does not form part of an infrastructure provider’s improvement 
programme may be permitted where it can be satisfactorily demonstrated that this 
infrastructure will exist, or where the required work is funded by the developer. Planning 
obligations and conditions will be used to ensure that new or improved facilities are provided 
to serve the new development. 

Policy TR3 relates to the highway design and layout considerations of developments and 
states that proposals which do not generate unacceptable levels of traffic on the surrounding 
road network, and would not be detrimental to highway safety or cause significant harm to 
the amenity of residents will be permitted. 

Policy EP2 states that proposals should wherever possible seek to minimise the impacts of 
pollution. New developments will be required to demonstrate and satisfactorily address any 
issues in terms of air quality, water quality, light and noise pollution, and contaminated land. 
Policy EP3 requires proposals to demonstrate that the impact of surface water drainage, 
including the effectiveness of incorporating Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS), 
has been fully investigated. 

NEIGHBOURS/PUBLIC REPRESENTATION

Two letters of objection have been received in respect of the application while Llanelli Rural 
Council have also raised concerns in respect of the proposal. The issues raised are 
addressed below.

Turning firstly to the concerns that the proposal will result in the overdevelopment of the site, 
despite the openness of the application site the surrounding areas of Tyle Catherine and 
Elgin Road have a built up appearance with houses being closely related to the generally 
narrow road network. The generous proportions of the site allow for the siting of a dwelling 
that would be consistent with this prevailing pattern of development while allowing generous 
gaps to the neighbouring properties either side. Adequate provision can be made for a 
garden and off road parking area within the curtilage of the dwelling while its elevated 
position relative to the properties fronting Pwll Road would not be unusual or incongruous 

Tudalen 49



within the surrounding context. For these reasons, the proposal would not result in the 
overdevelopment of the site or be harmful to the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area and is therefore considered to be in compliance with the objectives of 
policies GP1, GP2 and H2 of the LDP.

It is of note that officers have previously refused permission for a detached dwelling on a 
smaller parcel of land located to the north of the application site adjacent to the junction of 
Elgin Road with Tyle Catherine. Planning permission was subsequently granted at appeal 
where the Inspector concluded the development of the site would not be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the locality. Planning application S/22648 refers.

As to the impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties, the careful placement and 
design of the dwelling would allow sufficient separating distances to neighbouring properties 
either side of the site so as to safeguard against any unacceptable impacts upon existing 
living standards. Similarly, the placement and orientation of windows could be appropriately 
designed to ensure that any overlooking would not be intrusive or harmful while suitable 
boundary treatments along the boundaries of the site would limit the overlooking between 
neighbouring gardens. The proposal is therefore in accord with the requirements of policies 
GP1 of the LDP in terms of its impact upon neighbouring properties and their occupiers.

Turning to the perceived highway impact of the development, the site’s central location along 
Tyle Catherine combined with the straight alignment of the road will allow for the creation of 
a safe access to the development. Tyle Catherine is a one-way road with vehicles travelling 
in a southerly direction down the hill towards the site and given the alignment of the road 
and low speed of vehicles existing the junction with Elgin Road, officer’s are satisfied a new 
access can be provided that would afford sufficient visibility towards oncoming traffic. 
Furthermore, the vehicular movements likely to be generated by an additional dwelling will 
not be of such a level that they could not be safely accommodated by the existing road 
network. The proposal therefore meets the requirements of policy TR3 of the LDP.

Finally, concerns regarding the presence of a nearby mineshaft upon the development are 
misjudged in that the site is located outside the high risk development area as defined by 
the Coal Authority.

CONCLUSIONS

On balance, and after careful examination of the site and its surrounding environs, together 
with the representations received to date, the principle of the residential development of the 
site is considered to be acceptable and will be in keeping with and complement the general 
character and appearance of the surrounding area. The site is located within the 
development limits of Pwll and its development complies with the key policy and 
sustainability objectives of both the Authority’s LDP and National Planning Policy.

The new dwelling will be well related to the existing services and facilities in the village as 
well as being within easy access of existing public transport facilities. The proposal will also 
make a positive contribution towards the provision of affordable housing in the locality 
whereby the applicant will be required to make a commuted payment towards the same 
under the requirements of Policy AH1 of the LDP. 

Furthermore, there are no amenity, highway or public service objections to the development.

Tudalen 50



Based on the foregoing, the application is put forward with a favourable recommendation 
subject to the applicant entering into a unilateral undertaking or Section 106 agreement 
securing a commuted payment towards affordable housing.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL

CONDITIONS

1 The permission now granted is an outline permission only, within the meaning of the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 
2012.

2 The permission hereby granted relates to the land defined by the 1:1250 scale 
location plan received on 9 March 2018.

3 Application for approval of reserved matters must be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission, and 
the development must be commenced not later than whichever is the later of the 
following:-

a) the expiration of five years from the date of this outline planning permission;

b) the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved 
matters to be approved.

4 Development shall not commence until detailed plans of appearance; landscaping; 
layout; and scale of each building stated in the application, together with the means 
of access thereto, have been submitted, and received the written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority.

5 Cross sections taken through the site detailing the finished floor and ridge levels of 
the proposed dwelling in relation to the existing ground levels of the site and those of 
adjacent properties shall be submitted as part of any reserved matters application.

6 Development shall not commence until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, 
based on sustainable drainage principles has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the 
dwelling.

7 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved details of the 
positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected as 
part of the development shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority. The boundary treatment shall be completed as approved before the 
occupation of the dwelling.

REASONS

1 The application is in outline only.

Tudalen 51



2 For the avoidance of doubt as to the extent of this permission.

3 Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

4 In order to ensure a satisfactory layout of the site and in the interest of visual 
amenities.

5 In the interest of visual amenities.

6 To ensure the installation of an appropriate drainage scheme and to prevent pollution 
of the environment

7 In the interest of visual amenities and safeguard the amenity of adjacent occupiers.

REASONS FOR GRANTING PLANNING PERMISSION 

The decision to grant planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a 
planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

 The proposal complies with Policies H2 of the Local Development Plan in that it is 
located within the development limits of Llanelli and will be in scale and compatible 
with the surrounding area. 

 The proposal complies with Policy GP1 of the LDP in that it is appropriate in terms of 
scale and design and will not cause unacceptable loss of amenity to neighbouring 
properties;

 The proposal complies with Policy AH1 of the LDP in that the applicant/developer will 
contribute towards community benefits as part of the development.

 The proposal complies with Policy TRS3 of the LDP in that it will be served by suitable 
access and parking provision and the traffic generated by the proposed development 
will not adversely affect highway safety or residential amenity; 

NOTE(S)

1 Please note that this consent is specific to the plans and particulars approved as part 
of the application.  Any departure from the approved plans will constitute unauthorised 
development and may be liable to enforcement action.  You (or any subsequent 
developer) should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations from the 
approved plans immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve the matter.

 In addition, any Conditions which the Council has imposed on this consent will be listed 
above and should be read carefully.  It is your (or any subsequent developers') 
responsibility to ensure that the terms of all Conditions are met in full at the appropriate 
time (as outlined in the specific condition).

 The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
Conditions which require the submission of details prior to the commencement of 

Tudalen 52



development will constitute unauthorised development.  This will necessitate the 
submission of a further application to retain the unauthorised development and may 
render you liable to formal enforcement action.

 Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any other 
Conditions could result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form 
of a Breach of Condition Notice.

2 Comments and guidance received from consultees relating to this application, 
including any other permissions or consents required, is available on the Authority’s 
website (www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk).

3 The developer/applicant’s attention is drawn to the terms of the Unilateral Undertaking 
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act which sets out the agreement 
to make a contribution of £53.35 per square metre of internal floor space of the 
proposed dwelling towards the provision of affordable housing.

Tudalen 53

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



ADRODDIAD PENNAETH
CYNLLUNIO,

CYFARWYDDIAETH YR AMGYLCHEDD

REPORT OF THE 
HEAD OF PLANNING,

DIRECTORATE OF ENVIRONMENT

AR GYFER PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO
CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN/

TO CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY
COUNCIL’S PLANNING COMMITTEE

AR 15 MAI 2018 
ON 15 MAY 2018

I’W BENDERFYNU/
FOR DECISION

Tudalen 55

Eitem Rhif  5



Mewn perthynas â cheisiadau y mae gan y Cyngor ddiddordeb ynddynt un ai fel 
ymgeisydd/asiant neu fel perchennog tir neu eiddo, atgoffir yr Aelodau fod yn rhaid 
iddynt anwybyddu’r agwedd hon, gan ystyried ceisiadau o’r fath a phenderfynu yn 
eu cylch ar sail rhinweddau’r ceisiadau cynllunio yn unig. Ni ddylid ystyried 
swyddogaeth y Cyngor fel perchennog tir, na materion cysylltiedig, wrth 
benderfynu ynghylch ceisiadau cynllunio o’r fath.

In relation to those applications which are identified as one in which the Council 
has an interest either as applicant/agent or in terms of land or property ownership, 
Members are reminded that they must set aside this aspect, and confine their 
consideration and determination of such applications exclusively to the merits of 
the planning issues arising.  The Council’s land owning function, or other interests 
in the matter, must not be taken into account when determining such planning 
applications.

Tudalen 56



COMMITTEE: PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE: 15 MAY 2018

REPORT OF: HEAD OF PLANNING

I N D E X  -  A R E A  W E S T

REF. APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL PAGE NOS.

W/35903 Residential development – all matters reserved at 
land off Lluest Y Bryn, Carmarthen

60 - 84

W/36577 Variation of Condition 2 of planning permission 
W/30595 (extension of time in which to submit 
reserved matters) at land at Cae Glas, St Clears, 
Carmarthen, SA33 4EY 

86 - 96

REF. APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL PAGE NOS.

W/37038 Conversion of existing disused agricultural 
building into 2 no holiday let units at Tycerrig, 
Nantycaws, Carmarthen, SA32 8EW

98 - 104

Tudalen 57



REF. ADDITIONAL ITEMS FOR DECISION PAGE NOS.

W/35450 Proposed residential development including 42 no. 
dwellings at land adjacent to Laugharne Primary 
School, Laugharne, SA33 4SQ

106 - 108

W/35730 Construction of two A1 units and one A3 unit with 
associated car parking at former Cartref Tawelan, 
Ash Grove, Carmarthen, SA31 3PY

109 - 112

Tudalen 58



APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL 

Tudalen 59



Application No W/35903

Application Type Outline

Proposal &
Location

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT – ALL MATTERS RESERVED 
AT LAND OFF LLUEST Y BRYN, CARMARTHEN 

Applicant(s) DR ISLWYN THOMAS,  OAKDENE FARM, WRINGTON, 
BRISTOL, BS40 5QU

Agent HAROLD METCALFE PARTNERSHIP - MR CERI EVANS,  32 
SPILMAN STREET, CARMARTHEN, CARMS, SA31 1LQ

Case Officer Stuart Willis

Ward Carmarthen North

Date of validation 27/07/2017

CONSULTATIONS

Head of Transport – offers no objection; has recommended the imposition of conditions 
with any approval. 

Carmarthen Town Council – have objected to the application due to the negative impact 
of the development on the local natural habitat and environment including wildlife, greenery 
and hedgerows; b) the likely adverse impact of additional heavy traffic in the area resulting 
in a higher risk to road users, in particular at the junction of Capel Evan Road with Richmond 
Terrace.

Local Member - County Councillor Peter Hughes Griffiths has comment that he opposes 
the development for the following reasons:

 HIGHWAYS. There is already severe traffic congestion at the only junction from Capel Evan 
Road to Richmond Terrace. This is the only junction into the town for the following estates – 
Park Hall, Llys Cae’r Medi, Belevedere Avenue, Ross Avenue, Prosser Close, Llwynmeredydd, 
Courtlands Park, Parc yr Onnen, Groesffordd Fach, Rhodfa Glyndwr, Trem y Bedol, and Lluset 
y Bryn.

Also all the traffic that comes through Long Acre One Way Road from Springfield Road 
and estates above, as well as Wellfield Road and Myrddin Crescent. It also serves as a 
short cut to avoid travelling through the town centre via Catherine Street for all those 
travelling towards Priory St and beyond from the Carmarthen West area.

Tudalen 60



Also, within 20 yards of the Capel Evan/Richmond Terrace junction there is an entrance 
to Richmond Park Primary School (with a traffic Warden on duty) which holds traffic 
back in all directions at the busy morning and afternoon time. To add further pressure 
to this junction is not acceptable. It is a very difficult junction as it is steep and very 
narrow and difficult to manoeuvre. At no time should more houses be built in areas which 
adds to use this junction at Richmond Terrace. There is also a traffic problem, because 
of the narrowness of Capel Evan Road between the junction to Park Hall and Belevdere 
Avenue – which is a steep hill. Cars have to reverse and again manoeuver with difficulty. 
More houses mean more cars, thus causing further difficulties and problems. As the 
local member I have requested Mr John McEvoy of the Highways Department to attend 
to the problem.

 EDUCATION. A large number of pupils who wish to have Bilingual (Welsh first language 
education) from these areas attend Ysgol Y Dderwen, the only Welsh medium Primary School 
in Carmarthen. As a governor of that school I am very much aware that the Education 
Department of Carmarthenshire County Council has a problem in that Ysgol y Dderwen is 
oversubscribed by the high demand in Welsh First Language Education. If more homes are 
provided at this site, and as children will seek education at Ysgol y Dderwen – they will not be 
accepted – thus creating a legal right failure.

Planning permission does not mean ‘the building of houses’. It means in this case that 
the services are also provided. In this case, there is a much wider ‘planning issue’ and 
the Planning Committee must consider such facts and refuse permission.

Councillor Ken Lloyd has declared a prejudicial interest in this application.

Head of Public Protection – has responded in relation to a number of issues. 

A condition has been requested in relation to management of dust during construction. A 
noise management plan was also requested forming a condition. 

In relation to Air Quality they comment that Richmond Terrace lies within the Carmarthen 
Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and the latest annual nitrogen dioxide result near the 
junction of with Richmond Terrace was just under the Air Quality Objective at 37.5µg/m3.  
They identified that as this junction is the only access to the proposed site there is a potential 
for greater impact on air quality from traffic generated by the development. In order to 
ascertain the level of impact on the AQMA they requested that an Air Quality Assessment 
(AQA) be performed that identifies the predicted additional traffic volumes, the impact on the 
junction and therefore the potential adverse impact on air quality. 

Further to the submission of the AQA they have responded again confirming that the 
assessment has been performed in accordance with the relevant guidance and assumptions 
as part of the assessment process are pragmatic. The inputs used for the modelling stage 
of the assessment are appropriate, along with the projected vehicle trips identified for the 
size of the development. 

The AQA concludes that the development will have a negligible impact on air quality within 
the vicinity and in relation to the Carmarthen Air Quality Management Area, the boundary of 
which lies about 350m of the proposed development.  The Assessment offers mitigation by 
way of a Travel Plan for the site along with connecting in to local footpaths to enable active 
travel. The developer is also advised to consider to the provision of infrastructure to allow 
installation of electric vehicle charging points in the future.

Tudalen 61



Welsh Water/Dwr Cymru – has responded stating they have no objection to the proposed 
development.  They request a condition requiring the provision of a scheme for the disposal 
of foul, surface and land water, and include an assessment of the potential to dispose of 
surface and land water by sustainable means.

Land Drainage Section – has commented that the surface water flood maps do not show 
any flood risk to the proposed development.  They ask that the applicant follows the 
principles laid out in WAG’s SUDS Standard for Wales 2016 (WG26162) and follow the 
hierarchy on dealing with surface water removal.  This will mean discounted some aspect of 
grey water harvesting. Before infiltration will be considered as an appropriate option the 
applicant will be required to undertake a soakaway test (BRE365) to confirm it’s suitability 
in the local geology.  The test should be undertaken at the proposed soakaway locations to 
give the most accurate results. Due to the gradient of the site the applicant must ensure that 
the soakaways are not ‘perched’ above other properties. As this is an outline planning 
application these requirements can be conditioned.

Head of Leisure – has confirmed that no on site provision is required.

Education Department - has confirmed based on the indicative layout of 29 properties a 
financial contribution of £45,000 would be required. This is based on the higher contribution 
yield for primary schools and lower for secondary due to capacity figures.

Natural Resources Wales – has commented that the information submitted in relation to 
ecology includes an arboricultural condition assessment and not a tree survey as they 
requested.

They do not feel they have sufficient information to provide any comments on this 
application.

Housing and Social Care – has responded confirming the ward of Carmarthen Town North 
is an area of high housing need and could be best met by providing either a mix or 2 
bedroom, 4 person houses and 3 bedroom 5 person houses for low cost home ownership 
or by providing a mix of 2 bedroom, 4 person houses and 4 bedroom, 7 person houses for 
affordable rent.

Any homes provided for affordable rent must comply with Welsh Government’s 
Development Quality Requirements (DQR). The space standards are shown below:
2 bed: 83 m2
4 bed: 114 m2

All homes provided for low cost home ownership must meet the following minimum space 
standards:
2 bed between 78 m2 and 83 m2
3 bed between 84 m2 and 94 m2

Public Rights of Way – has responded making reference to public footpath 61/18, which 
crosses the site. The proposed development will obstruct the definitive line of public footpath 
61/18 on its present alignment. The Indicative Site Layout plan acknowledges the existence 
of footpath 61/18 and suggests re-routing. A public footpath Diversion Order will be 
necessary to change the route of the path. Public paths can only be diverted or closed by 
legal order; the proposed alteration to the alignment of 61/18 will require an application to 
divert a public footpath under section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990).

Tudalen 62



Police Liaison Officer – has commented that Section 5 of the Design and Access 
Statement does not cover any security issues and there is no reference to Secured by 
Design.  Comments were also made in relation to Plots 15 - 21 being accessed via a private 
roadway, and a query regarding lighting if this area is not adopted.  There was also a query 
regarding refuse collection.

Dyfed Archaeological Trust – has commented that during the Local Development Plan 
consultation they recommended that an archaeological condition should be attached to 
consent, if forthcoming.  The site is a relatively large area of undeveloped land and, although 
there are no heritage assets recorded within the development boundary, there is significant 
archaeology in the near vicinity that suggests potential for buried archaeological 
deposits/features to be preserved. This includes prehistoric monuments Penlan Bronze Age 
ring barrow (PRN 224) and Neolithic/Bronze Age henge (PRN 226) on the higher ground to 
the north and an Iron Age settlement (PRN 14300), identified from a cropmark, to the 
northwest. They therefore recommend the imposition of a condition with any approval 
relating to a written scheme of investigation. 

Cadw – have commented that there are no scheduled monuments or registered historic 
parks and gardens within the vicinity of the proposed development and they therefore have 
no comments to make on the proposed development.

Neighbours/Public - The application has been publicised by the posting of Site Notices 
near to the site and in the Local Press.  To date 28 responses have been received in this 
application. The following issues were raised:

 Suitability of the nearby roads in terms of ability to sustain the increase in traffic due to number 
of additional vehicles, in relation to road widths, poor visibility, residents parking, curvature of 
the roads, speed limit not adhered to, gradient of the roads, insufficient parking provision and 
on street parking.

 Highway and pedestrian safety concerns due to narrow pavement, lack of footways in places 
and the site is also on a school route.

 Reference to existing highways issues in terms of traffic.
 There should be no vehicular access on to Springfield Road. 
 Changes to the area and road since the allocation of the site in the LDP.
 Health and Safety Assessments or a Full Risk Assessment for traffic is required. 
 Concern in relation to the proximity to proposed properties to existing ones and impacts due to 

topography of the site. 
 Concerns with impacts on amenity including overlooking, noise pollution, overshadowing, quality 

of life, air pollution and loss of light
 Query how boundary landscape features can be retained and also create privacy with new 

boundary treatments. 
 Disturbance during construction. 
 Air quality assessment should be provided prior to the application being determined. 
 Cumulative impacts of residential developments in the Carmarthen area affecting the 

appearance of the area and loss of green areas. 
 Use of frosted glass etc not appropriate to deal with issues.
 Layout, scale of properties and density is inappropriate.
 Density of the surrounding area is lower than that proposed. 
 Site will result in a loss of open space and should be protected
 Lack of provision of open space on the site or lack of reference to contribution to existing 

facilities. 
 Visual impact of the development due to the site being highly visible.

Tudalen 63



 Certain areas should be limited to single storey only to be in keeping with the adjacent 
properties. 

 New boundary treatments changing rural character of the area. 
 Loss of a rural area of the town/rural walk which provides amenity for local residents leading to 

negative impacts on the health and well-being of nearby residents. 
 Impact of the development on the adjacent Conservation Area.
 Query whether the site is partly within a Conservation Area.
 Damage to the natural environment.
 Abundance of wildlife on the site.
 Wildlife affected by works at the site prior to the ecology report and impacted on the results of 

the survey.
 Loss of habitat leading to isolation of remaining species. 
 Concern over works to the site previously in terms of it being cleared and impacts on flora and 

fauna.
 Request for new ecological survey to be carried out.
 Those carrying out the ecology survey did not speak to nearby residents.
 Query how trees/hedgerows will be protected if development proceeds.
 Removal and works to trees having already taken place – concern over possible loss in terms 

of visual amenity and on wildlife.
 NRW have requested a bat survey of the trees.
 Query over protection of the existing trees and impacts from construction works.
 Parts of the site cross land outside the applicant ownership.
 Understand the need for housing query of need for a development of this size, given current 

development already under construction in the town.
 Impact on local infrastructure would be quite significant including impacts on local schools, 

doctors surgeries, local hospital, parking etc.
 Impact on Welsh language education in the area due to current limited primary provision.
 Query over whether the public right of way is to be retained and managed. 
 The Right of Ways is a “promoted route” and would be lost.
 Development will affect the view and character of the footpath.
 New route between properties would create a narrow path and encourage anti-social behaviour.
 Current water supply not sufficient.
 Issues regarding drainage from sewers and the road at present and would be worsened. 
 Lack of capacity in the local sewer network. 
 Underground springs on Springfield Road causes damage to the road surface.
 Increase in rubbish collections unworkable.
 Possible unauthorised accesses being created for certain plots.
 Reference to refusal of smaller development due to impact on the character of the area and loss 

of greenfield area (TMT/02737 and TMT/02738) in 2003. Same reasons apply to this 
development. 

 Contrary to the Human Rights Act in relation to enjoyment of possessions and private/family life.
 Archaeological impacts – further information needed to inform the application.
 Concern that due to the slope of the site and the site will not be suitable for disabled access and 

comparison with similar areas. 
 Inaccuracies within the application details. 
 Query over changes to the application since submission.
 Reference to planning permission for 4 dwellings off Capel Evan Road.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

TMT/02738 Outline planning for 2 houses 
Outline Refused 09 January 2003

TMT/02737 2 no detached houses

Tudalen 64



Full Refused 09 January 2003

D4/15735 Electricity supply
Full Granted 14 April 1988

D4/15463 Electricity supply
Full Granted 13 January 1988

D4/11802 Siting of two dwellings
Outline Refused 23 July 1984

THE SITE

The application site comprises a field currently under grass with mature trees and 
hedgerows located to parts of the boundary. The site is located within the development limits 
of Carmarthen and is allocated for residential development in the Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan. The site covers approximately 1.55ha covering the vast majority of the 
allocation and the LDP provides an indicative figure of 30 units for the overall site of 1.58ha. 
The site is located adjacent North Carmarthen Conservation Area which is to the south west 
of the site. 

The site is located towards the northern end of Carmarthen being or irregular shape. The 
site is steeply sloping and there is a Public Right of Way running along and through the site. 
To the south of the site is a cul-de-sac known as Lluest y Bryn. This leads to the south to 
Capel Evan Road on to Picton Terrace. To the north of the site is Springfield Road where 
the Public Right of Way ends. Properties off Springfield Road border the site to the west. To 
the east the site borders further residential cul-de-sacs of Courtlands Park and Llwyn 
Meredydd. The site is steeply sloping with the properties to the south and west being at a 
lower land level than the application site. There are a mix of properties in the area with there 
being examples of 2 storey and bungalow properties.

THE PROPOSAL

The application requests outline planning permission for residential development. The 
application has been amended during the application process however it is now, as it was 
originally, seeking outline permission with all matters reserved. 

The application has provided an indicative layout of 29 properties. The site would be 
accessed off Lluest y Bryn to the south of the site. A new cul-de-sac leading north and then 
turning east is shown. The details provided show a mix of bungalows and 2 storey properties 
across the site. The properties are shown to be mainly detached with some semi-detached 
properties also included. Scale parameters of the dwellings have been provided with ridge 
heights being 5-7m and 6-8m for the bungalows and the 2 storey dwellings being between 
8-10m. Indicative cross sections of the site have also been provided and indicative levels. 
Details have been provided including a tree survey indicating that mature trees and 
hedgerows would be protected. 

Details and surveys relating to ecology have been submitted with the application. An initial 
Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and Preliminary Ecological Appraisal was submitted. This 
concluded that further information was required including the following: 

Tudalen 65



 It stated that due to the potential habitat suitability for reptiles in some parts of the site (notably 
slow-worm), and the risk of potentially adverse impacts to reptiles should they occur on site, a 
further reptile survey should be carried out. 

 It also states that any mature trees to be removed or significantly pruned should be assessed 
for potential bat roost features by a bat licensed ecologist or arborist and investigated/surveyed 
accordingly prior to removal of such features.

A reptile survey was provided with the application.  This found evidence of the site being 
used by slow-worms stating a maximum count of 35 slow worm, 4 grass snake and 5 
common lizard were recorded at the site.  It comments that “The slow worm and common 
lizard populations are likely to spend their entire life-cycle within the site. Grass snake are 
likely to use the site for breeding”.  The report goes on to say that “the total area of the site 
is 1.5ha, which predominantly comprises semi-improved grassland on north and west-facing 
elevations.  Native hedgerows, piles of cut wood and grass cuttings provide additional 
habitat features.  Habitats on site (and in the adjacent hedgerows) are suitable for foraging, 
basking, breeding, refuge and hibernation” and that “Without mitigation, development of the 
site risks killing or injuring reptiles present during construction works, and causing the loss 
of habitat of value to three species of common reptile”.  The following key principles of 
mitigation were outlined;

 Allocation of a designated reptile habitat area within the site – to be retained and managed for 
reptiles in the long term and / or

 Selection and enhancement of an off-site reptile relocation site and its protection and 
management in the long term;

 Capture and translocation of reptiles from within the construction site to the designated receptor 
site prior to works commencing;

 Post construction monitoring of reptiles population within the receptor site.

During the application additional information was submitted in the form of a “Vegetation 
Clearance Methodology, Reptile Mitigation Strategy and Constraints Plan”. Key mitigation 
features are:- 

 Clearance of dense/woody vegetation within the site outside of the bird breeding season;
 Installation of reptile barrier fencing around the site;
 A programme of trapping and relocation of reptiles from within the site and site boundaries
 Vegetation clearance within the site carried out using methods which minimize risk of harm to 

reptiles, and which facilitate their capture during the trapping programme;
 Habitat enhancement of a suitable ‘receptor site’ to which the captured reptiles shall be taken 

and released (located at the National Botanic Gardens, Carmarthenshire).
 Ongoing management of the ‘receptor site’ for reptile conservation, and monitoring of the 

relocated reptile population over 2 years.

Due to the scale of the proposal it was a necessary to carry out a pre-application 
consultation. A report outlining the consultation and the responses received have been 
submitted with the application. 

PLANNING POLICY

Policy SP1 Sustainable Places and Spaces

This policy states that proposals for development will be supported where they reflect 
sustainable development and design subject to a number of criteria. These include 
distributing development to sustainable locations in accordance with the settlement 

Tudalen 66



framework, promoting active transport infrastructure and safe and convenient sustainable 
access particularly through walking and cycling and Respecting, reflecting and, wherever 
possible, enhancing local character and distinctiveness

Policy SP9 Transportation. 

This policy states that provision is made to contribute to the delivery of an efficient, effective, 
safe and sustainable integrated transport system in a number of ways including the 
following, reducing the need to travel, particularly by private motor car; supporting and where 
applicable enhancing alternatives to the motor car, such as public transport (including park 
and ride facilities and encourage the adoption of travel plans), and active transport through 
cycling and walking; re-enforcing the function and role of settlements in accordance with the 
settlement framework; promoting the efficient use of the transport network;

Policy SP6 Affordable Housing

The policy states that provision will be made for at least 2,121 affordable homes to be 
delivered through the LDP. The delivery of affordable homes will contribute to the creation 
of sustainable communities within the Plan area.

Policy GP1 Sustainability and High Quality Design. 

This states that development proposals will be permitted where they accord with a number 
of criteria including the following, it conforms with and enhances the character and 
appearance of the site, building or area in terms of siting, appearance, scale, height, 
massing, elevation treatment, and detailing, utilises materials appropriate to the area within 
which it is located; it retains, and where appropriate incorporates important local features 
(including buildings, amenity areas, spaces, trees, woodlands and hedgerows) and ensures 
the use of good quality hard and soft landscaping and embraces opportunities to enhance 
biodiversity and ecological connectivity; an appropriate access exists or can be provided 
which does not give rise to any parking or highway safety concerns on the site or within the 
locality.

Policy H1 Housing Allocations

This states land has been allocated for residential development for the plan period 2006 – 
2021 at those locations as set out below, and as depicted on the Proposals Map. Proposals 
for the residential development of allocated housing sites submitted in the form of a Full 
Planning application or as a Reserved Matters application should be accompanied by a 
layout of the proposal in its entirety to ensure the site is developed to its full potential.

Policy TR4 Cycling and Walking

The policy states land required to facilitate the following improvements to the cycle network 
will be safeguarded. Proposed routes where known are shown on the proposals map.  
Developments should, where appropriate seek to incorporate, or where acceptable, facilitate 
links to the cycle, rights of way and bridleway network to ensure an integrated sustainable 
approach in respect of any site. 

The notes of the policy go on to state cycling and walking have a significant role in achieving 
the delivery of sustainable transportation. This may be achieved through such measures as 
safe and convenient cycle routes and footpaths, new improved routes, utilising the design 

Tudalen 67



process for new developments to ensure that the needs of those walking and cycling are 
considered. The design and layout of new developments should have regard to the needs 
of walking and cycling including where possible, access to routes and networks. Regard will 
be had to the provisions of WG’s Safe Routes in Communities Programme in relation to the 
consideration and development of local walking and cycling routes. The initiative focuses on 
developing safe walking and cycling routes within communities, linking to schools and other 
key facilities. Reference should be made to the Rights of Way Improvement Plan (RoWIP) 
for Carmarthenshire, and the interrelationship of the Plan area’s footpaths, bridleways and 
bye-ways and linked leisure opportunities.

Policy SP5 Housing

This states that in order to ensure the overall housing land requirement of 15,197 for the 
plan period 2006-2021 is met, provision is made for 15,778 new dwellings. Sufficient land is 
allocated (on sites of 5 or more dwellings) to accommodate 13,352 dwellings in accordance 
with the Settlement Framework.

Policy SP14 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment

This states development should reflect the need to protect, and wherever possible enhance 
the County’s natural environment. All development proposals should be considered in 
accordance with national guidance/legislation and the policies and proposals of this Plan, 
with due consideration given to areas of nature conservation value, the countryside, 
landscapes and coastal areas, and outlines further details of specific sites/areas. 

Policy EP3 Sustainable Drainage

This states that proposals for development will be required to demonstrate that the impact 
of surface water drainage, including the effectiveness of incorporating Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SUDS), has been fully investigated. The details and options resulting from the 
investigation must show that there are justifiable reasons for not incorporating SUDS into 
the scheme in accordance with section 8 of TAN 15.

Policy REC2 Open Space Provision and New Developments

This policy states that all new residential developments of five or more units will be required 
to provide on-site open space in accordance with the Council’s adopted standards of 2.4ha 
per 1000 population. In the event that the above standards cannot be met on site, or where 
there is sufficient existing provision already available to service the development, then off 
site financial contributions will be sought as and where appropriate.

Policy TR3 Highways in Developments - Design Considerations

This policy states that the design and layout of all development proposals will, where 
appropriate, be required to include an integrated network of convenient and safe pedestrian 
and cycle routes (within and from the site) which promotes the interests of pedestrians, 
cyclists and public transport; suitable provision for access by public transport; appropriate 
parking and where applicable, servicing space in accordance with required standards; 
infrastructure and spaces allowing safe and easy access for those with mobility difficulties; 
required access standards reflective of the relevant Class of road and speed restrictions 
including visibility splays and design features and calming measures necessary to ensure 
highway safety and the ease of movement is maintained, and where required enhanced; 

Tudalen 68



provision for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems to allow for the disposal of surface water 
run-off from the highway.

It goes on to state that proposals which do not generate unacceptable levels of traffic on the 
surrounding road network and would not be detrimental to highway safety or cause 
significant harm to the amenity of residents will be permitted.  Proposals which will not result 
in offsite congestion in terms of parking or service provision or where the capacity of the 
network is sufficient to serve the development will be permitted.  Developers may be 
required to facilitate appropriate works as part of the granting of any permission.

SP17 Infrastructure

The policy states that development will be directed to locations where adequate and 
appropriate infrastructure is available or can be readily provided.  The LDP therefore 
supports the economic provision of infrastructure by allocating sites in identified settlements 
and in accordance with the Settlement Framework.  Renewable energy generation and 
associated utility connections will be encouraged, in appropriate locations, subject to other 
Plan policies.  Proposals for ancillary developments to the utilities infrastructure will be 
permitted where they have regard to their setting, incorporate landscaping and do not 
conflict with the areas built, historic, cultural and nature conservation and landscape 
qualities. (Policy SP13 and SP14) Planning Obligations relating to developer contributions 
towards necessary infrastructure improvements may be sought subject to policy GP3.

Policy GP2 Development Limits

The policy states that development Limits are defined for those settlements identified as 
Growth Areas, Service Centres, Local Service Centres and identified Sustainable 
Communities within the settlement framework.  It goes on to say proposals within defined 
Development Limits will be permitted, subject to policies and proposals of this Plan, national 
policies and other material planning considerations.

Policy GP3 Planning Obligations

This states the Council will, where necessary seek developers to enter into Planning 
Obligations (Section 106 Agreements), or to contribute via the Community Infrastructure 
Levy to secure contributions to fund improvements to infrastructure, community facilities and 
other services to meet requirements arising from new developments. Where applicable, 
contributions will also be sought towards the future and ongoing maintenance of such 
provision either in the form of initial support or in perpetuity. In implementing this policy 
schemes will be assessed on a case-by-case basis.

Policy GP4 Infrastructure and New Development

This states that proposals for development will be permitted where the infrastructure is 
adequate to meet the needs of the development. Proposals where new or improved 
infrastructure is required but does not form part of an infrastructure provider’s improvement 
programme may be permitted where it can be satisfactorily demonstrated that this 
infrastructure will exist, or where the required work is funded by (or an appropriate 
contribution is provided by) the developer. Planning obligations and conditions will be used 
(where appropriate) to ensure that new or improved facilities are provided to serve the new 
development.

Tudalen 69



Policy SP9 Transportation

This states that provision is made to contribute to the delivery of an efficient, effective, safe 
and sustainable integrated transport system through a number of means including reducing 
the need to travel, particularly by private motor car, addressing social inclusion through 
increased accessibility to employment, services and facilities, supporting and where 
applicable enhancing alternatives to the motor car, such as public transport (including park 
and ride facilities and encourage the adoption of travel plans), and active transport through 
cycling and walking, re-enforcing the function and role of settlements in accordance with the 
settlement framework, promoting the efficient use of the transport network, the use of 
locational considerations for significant trip generating proposals, with design and access 
solutions within developments to promote accessibility by non-car modes of transport. 

SP6 Affordable Housing

This states that provision will be made for at least 2,121 affordable homes to be delivered 
through the LDP. The delivery of affordable homes will contribute to the creation of 
sustainable communities within the Plan area.

SP13 Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic Environment

This policy states that development proposals should preserve or enhance the built and 
historic environment of the County, its cultural, townscape and landscape assets (including 
listed buildings, conservation areas and their setting, scheduled ancient monuments and 
features/sites of historical and cultural importance), and, where appropriate, their setting. 
Proposals relating to the following will be considered in accordance with national guidance 
and legislation.

Proposals will be expected to promote high quality design that reinforces local character and 
respects and enhances the local setting and the cultural and historic qualities of the plan 
area.

SP14 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment

The policy states that development should reflect the need to protect, and wherever possible 
enhance the County’s natural environment. All development proposals should be 
considered in accordance with national guidance/legislation and the policies and proposals 
of this Plan, with due consideration given to areas of nature conservation value, the 
countryside, landscapes and coastal areas, and various designated sites and assets.

Policy AH1 Affordable Housing

For developments of this scale the policy states that a contribution to affordable housing will 
be required on all housing allocations and windfall sites. The Council will seek a level of 
affordable housing contribution of 30% in the higher viable areas, 20% in the middle viable 
areas, and 10% within the Ammanford / Cross Hands sub-market areas. Where viability at 
the target levels cannot be achieved, variation may be agreed on a case-by-case basis. 

On Site Contributions

Tudalen 70



The affordable housing will be required to be provided on proposals of 5 or more dwellings 
in all settlements. Where adjacent and related residential proposals result in combined 
numbers meeting or exceeding the above threshold, the Council will seek an element of 
affordable housing based on the affordable housing target percentages set out above. 
Proposals will be required to ensure that the dwelling remains affordable for all subsequent 
occupants in perpetuity.

SP18 The Welsh Language

This policy states that the interests of the Welsh language will be safeguarded and 
promoted. Proposals for residential developments of 5 or more dwellings in Sustainable 
Communities and 10 or more in Growth Areas, Service Centres, and Local Service Centres, 
located on sites within communities where 60% or more of the population are able to speak 
Welsh, will be subject to a requirement for phasing.

EQ1 Protection of Buildings, Landscapes and Features of Historic Importance

The policy states that proposals for development affecting landscapes, townscapes 
buildings and sites or features of historic or archaeological interest which by virtue of their 
historic importance, character or significance within a group of features make an important 
contribution to the local character and the interests of the area will only be permitted where 
it preserves or enhances the built and historic environment.

EQ4 Biodiversity

The policy states that proposals for development which have an adverse impact on priority 
species, habitats and features of recognised principal importance to the conservation of 
biodiversity and nature conservation, (namely those protected by Section 42 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 and UK and Local BAP habitats and 
species and other than sites and species protected under European or UK legislation) will 
not be permitted, except where it can be demonstrated that:

a. The impacts can be satisfactorily mitigated, acceptably minimised or appropriately 
managed to include net enhancements;

b. There are exceptional circumstances where the reasons for the development or land 
use change clearly outweighs the need to safeguard the biodiversity and nature 
conservation interests of the site and where alternative habitat provision can be made 
in order to maintain and enhance local biodiversity.

Tudalen 71



EQ5 Corridors, Networks and Features of Distinctiveness

The policy states that proposals for development which would not adversely affect those 
features which contribute local distinctiveness/qualities of the County, and to the 
management and/or development of ecological networks (wildlife corridor networks), 
accessible green corridors and their continuity and integrity will be permitted. 

Proposals which include provision for the retention and appropriate management of such 
features will be supported (provided they conform to the policies and proposals of this Plan).

NEIGHBOUR/PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

Turning to the representations received to date, the following issues have been raised.

Highways Impacts

A variety of highways related issues have been raised. These have included the following 
matters:

 Suitability of the nearby roads in terms of ability to sustain the increase in traffic due to number 
of additional vehicles, in relation to road widths, poor visibility, residents parking, curvature of 
the roads, speed limit not adhered to, gradient of the roads, insufficient parking provision and 
on street parking.

 Highway and pedestrian safety concerns due to narrow pavement, lack of footways in places 
and the site is also on a school route.

 Reference to existing highways issues in terms of traffic.
 There should be no vehicular access on to Springfield Road. 
 Changes to the area and road since the allocation of the site in the LDP.
 Health and Safety Assessments or a Full Risk Assessment for traffic is required. 

The layout and access of the site are not to be agreed as part of the application.  Therefore 
the internal arrangements and access to the site are not to be confirmed.  The indicative 
layout of the site provided indicates that the access would be off Lluest y Bryn to the south. 
Internally there is a single cul-de-sac road.  Access from the south of the site would appear 
to be the most likely access point given the layout of surrounding roads.  A cul-de-sac layout 
is typical of the surrounding area with the indicative layout being an extension of the existing 
built form. 

Reference is made to a number of existing issues including parking, footways, road capacity 
and width.  The Head of Transport has not raised any objections to the proposal.  A number 
of conditions have been recommended with any approval. He has not requested any further 
information.  Conditions refer to footways being provided within the site. They also request 
conditions to provide two tactile crossing points.  These are to link both footways adjacent 
to the Lluest-y-Bryn road near its junction with Capel Evan road and also connecting both 
footways adjacent to Capel Evan Road, north of its junction with Belvedere Avenue.  
Therefore there will be improvements to the linkages to the wider area.  The application is 
in outline form and the site shares a boundary with Lluest y Bryn and Springfield Road.  
Given the layout of the road network and lack of pedestrian footways it is not felt that access 
on to Springfield Road would be appropriate.  This would also lead to more significant works 
to the boundary landscape features. 

Tudalen 72



Amenity Impacts 

A number of objections also related to impacts on amenity.  The topography of the site and 
orientation of existing and proposed properties were considered to cause concerns. These 
related to impacts on amenity including overlooking, noise pollution, overshadowing, quality 
of life, air pollution and loss of light. Certain areas should be limited to single storey only to 
be in keeping with the adjacent properties in the opinion of objectors. The application is in 
outline form and all matters are reserved. Therefore while a layout has been provided, as 
required by legislation, the layout is merely indicative. The layout is not to be agreed as part 
of the application and any reserved matters submission would need to provide full details of 
the scheme. Due to the topography of the site, development of it will give rise to certain 
challenges with layout, design, orientation and location of fenestration. Alterations to land 
levels will also not be confirmed as part of this application but in any subsequent reserved 
matters submissions. There would be an opportunity for consultation and assessment of the 
reserved matters by members of the public as part of the reserved matters. If at that stage 
the final design gave rise to concerns over the proposal there would be the opportunity to 
amend the scheme, impose conditions, or if they were concerns that could not be overcame. 
Similarly queries relating to the boundary treatments are not to be assessed as part of this 
outline application. Scale parameters have been submitted however as the layout is not to 
be confirmed at this stage the location and orientation of the dwellings are not to be agreed. 
Therefore the layout and scale parameters are not to be confirmed at this stage. 

Certain areas should be limited to single storey only to be in keeping with the adjacent 
properties

In relation to air quality and impacts from this development an assessment was requested 
by the Public Protection Division. One was subsequently submitted with a further response 
raising no objection to the proposal and confirming they were satisfied with the assessment 
submitted. 

Disturbance during construction was raised as a concern. Generally this matter is dealt with 
under separate legislation and there are separate powers to deal with this. If it was 
considered necessary a condition could be imposed limiting the hours of construction. 

Design, Layout, Character Impacts 

Several issues were raised by objectors in relation to the layout, design and impact of the 
development on the character of the area.

Objectors raised the cumulative impacts of residential developments in the Carmarthen area 
affecting the appearance of the area and loss of green areas. The site is currently a field 
and the site is visible in the wider landscape however it is allocated for residential 
development in the LDP. There will clearly be an impact on the character and appearance 
of the site due to the development. The suitability of this and any other allocation for 
development would have been considered as part of the LDP process. There is a need to 
provide housing and the site is located amongst other residential streets within the 
development limits of Carmarthen. 

The layout, scale of properties and density is deemed inappropriate by some objectors. As 
has previously been mentioned the layout and scale are not to be agreed at this stage. The 
LDP does refer to an indicative figure of 30 properties. The indicative layout shows 30 units 

Tudalen 73



and based on the surrounding area the density of development is not considered to be out 
of character with the area. 

There are concerns that the site will result in a loss of open space and should be protected 
and that there is a lack of provision of open space on the site or lack of reference to 
contribution to existing facilities. The Head of Leisure has confirmed that onsite provision is 
not required as there are sufficient facilities in the area.  The site itself is not a designated 
open space. While it is visible from a public right of way it is private land and other than the 
path is not accessible to members of the public. 

The new boundary treatments changing rural character of the area was raised. Again the 
final details of the development are not to be agreed at this stage however it is acknowledged 
that the character and appearance will change with the development.

Loss of a rural area of the town/rural walk which provides amenity for local residents leading 
to negative impacts on the health and well-being of nearby residents. 

The impact of the development on the adjacent Conservation Area and a query as to 
whether the site is partly within a Conservation Area were referred to. The allocation is partly 
within the North Carmarthen Conservation Area. However that small element of the 
allocation is not included in the application site. The site is adjacent to a Conservation Area 
and therefore the impact on the setting of the Conservation Area is a consideration. Again 
the final details of the scheme are not included as this is an outline application. Also the 
allocation of the site would have considered that there would clearly be a change to the site 
with development on it. 

Ecological and Landscape Impacts 

Several objections related to the impacts of the proposal on landscape features and 
ecological considerations. A number of objections referred to species that they perceived 
were or are on the site. It is felt by objectors that the survey that has been carried out was 
not sufficient or accurate. There were also questions over work that had been carried out at 
the site prior to the survey been done. Overall it is considered by many objectors that the 
proposal will have a negative impact on ecology and that these impacts have not been 
appropriately addressed. The site was also seen as an ecology corridor whereby losing this 
area would impact on species outside. No concerns over the initial ecological survey have 
been raised by either the Planning Ecologist of Natural Resource Wales (NRW). NRW have 
requested further details be provided in relation to any mature trees or hedgerows to be 
removed to assess whether they are suitable for bats where features are to be to be affected. 
However there is no indication that any such features will be removed or affected. Details 
within the application suggest they are not and that they are located on the boundary of the 
site. Therefore subject to appropriate design taking these features in to consideration they 
would not be affected. As such it is not considered that the additional details are necessary. 
The protection of trees during construction was queried. Conditions can be imposed 
regarding the protection of landscape features and detailed landscape scheme shall form 
part of the reserved matters submission were the application to be approved. 

It was raised that those carrying out the ecology survey did not speak to nearby residents 
however this is not a requirement. 

The ecology details provided have indicated that there are certain species on the site. The 
Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and Preliminary Ecological Appraisal concluded that 

Tudalen 74



further information was required due to the potential habitat suitability for reptiles in some 
parts of the site (notably slow-worm), and the risk of potentially adverse impacts to reptiles 
should they occur on site, a further reptile survey should be carried out. It also states that 
any mature trees to be removed or significantly pruned should be assessed for potential bat 
roost features by a bat licensed ecologist or arborist and investigated/surveyed accordingly 
prior to removal of such features. As noted above there is no indication from the details 
provided to date that any such features would be affected.

A reptile survey was carried out and provided as part of the application. This found evidence 
of the site being used by slow-worms stating a maximum count of 35 slow worm, 4 grass 
snake and 5 common lizard were recorded at the site. It comments that “The slow worm and 
common lizard populations are likely to spend their entire life-cycle within the site. Grass 
snake are likely to use the site for breeding”. The report goes on to say that “the total area 
of the site is 1.5ha, which predominantly comprises semi-improved grassland on north and 
west-facing elevations. Native hedgerows, piles of cut wood and grass cuttings provide 
additional habitat features. Habitats on site (and in the adjacent hedgerows) are suitable for 
foraging, basking, breeding, refuge and hibernation” and that “Without mitigation, 
development of the site risks killing or injuring reptiles present during construction works, 
and causing the loss of habitat of value to three species of common reptile”. The following 
key principles of mitigation were outlined:

 Allocation of a designated reptile habitat area within the site – to be retained and managed for 
reptiles in the long term and / or

 Selection and enhancement of an off-site reptile relocation site and its protection and 
management in the long term;

 Capture and translocation of reptiles from within the construction site to the designated receptor 
site prior to works commencing;

 Post construction monitoring of reptiles population within the receptor site.

During the application the applicant entered in to discussions regarding potential alternative 
locations for the slow worms. Additional information was submitted in the form of a 
“Vegetation Clearance Methodology, Reptile Mitigation Strategy and Constraints Plan”. Key 
mitigation features are:-

 Clearance of dense/woody vegetation within the site outside of the bird breeding season;
 Installation of reptile barrier fencing around the site;
 A programme of trapping and relocation of reptiles from within the site and site boundaries
 Vegetation clearance within the site carried out using methods which minimise risk of harm to 

reptiles, and which facilitate their capture during the trapping programme;
 Habitat enhancement of a suitable ‘receptor site’ to which the captured reptiles shall be taken 

and released (located at the National Botanic Gardens, Carmarthenshire).
 Ongoing management of the ‘receptor site’ for reptile conservation, and monitoring of the 

relocated reptile population over 2 years.

The proposal therefore addresses the ecological impacts that have been raised. Other 
information would be provided as part of the reserved matters submission were this outline 
application to be approved. The Authority’s Planning Ecologist has responded to the 
proposal, including the mitigation now suggested, raising no objection to the application. He 
has recommended the imposition of conditions relating to compliance with the mitigation 
strategy, that the vegetation clearance and reptile mitigation strategy be undertaken under 
the supervision of a suitably qualified ecologist and that a Tree and Hedgerow Protection 
Plan and Arboricultural Method Statement be provided. It is considered that the provision of 
the tree and hedgerow details are needed as part of the reserved matters as they would be 

Tudalen 75



an important consideration of the layout and design of the scheme. As the mitigation 
includes off site works at the National Botanic Gardens this element will also need to be 
secured as part of the Section 106 Agreement. 

The Authority’s Landscape Officer has also raised no concerns but has requested conditions 
relating to the provision of landscape details.

Public Rights of Way, Access Impacts

Impacts on the Right of Way from the development have been raised.  Reference has been 
made to the route being a “promoted route” and that it would be lost.  The setting of the path, 
being currently considered as a rural path would be altered.  There were also queries over 
the method altering the right of way and what route it would take.  Concern over the creation 
of a narrow path and possible anti-social behaviour from this have been raised. 

The site is allocated for residential development in the LDP.  Therefore the suitability of the 
site for this form of development was considered acceptable at the time of the allocation.  It 
was therefore anticipated that there would be development and as a result there will 
inevitably be changes to the character of the area.  The presence of the PROW would have 
been acknowledged and considered as part of the allocation process.  The final layout of 
the site is not to be considered as part of this application.  Therefore the route shown on the 
layout plan is indicative only.  The Police Liaison Officer has highlighted Secure by Design 
which is something the applicant/developer may wish to consider as part of the final design 
of scheme if this outline permission is issued.  The PROW officer has commented that the 
proposed development will obstruct the definitive line of public footpath 61/18 on its present 
alignment. The Indicative Site Layout plan acknowledges the existence of footpath 61/18 
and suggests re-routing. He comments that public footpath Diversion Order will be 
necessary to change the route of the path. Public paths can only be diverted or closed by 
legal order; the proposed alteration to the alignment of 61/18 will require an application to 
divert a public footpath under Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990). 
Further information/guidance is also given. If the new road is adopted the affected area of 
the path would be removed from the Definitive Map as the route would subsequently have 
higher rights. 

Drainage, Flooding, Sewerage Impacts

Issues have been raised over various matters in this regard. This included matters relating 
to water supply, sewer capacity, existing issues with drainage, flooding and underground 
springs in the vicinity.

Comments have been received from various consultees concerning these matters. Welsh 
Water has responded with no objections to the proposal. As the application in an outline 
application with all matters reserved they request a condition be imposed requiring details 
of the surface water and foul water drainage scheme. No issues in relation to water supply 
have been raised by Welsh Water. No issues relating to sewer capacity have been raised. 
The Authority’s Land Drainage Section have also responded and again raise no objection. 
They comment that surface water flood maps do not show any flood risk to the proposed 
development. They also refer to the need to provide a suitable drainage system. They refer 
to the possible need for soakaway test. Due to the gradient of the site the applicant must 
ensure that the soakaways are not ‘perched’ above other properties. They are satisfied that 
these details can be covered by conditions on ay approval. 

Tudalen 76



Natural Resources Wales have not responded in full to date on the proposal. They have 
requested additional information in relation to trees at the site. Their pre-application 
consultation response to the applicant stated that they note as the application would be in 
outline form with all matters reserved that details of how foul drainage would be dealt with 
are not required. They state they would wish to be consulted over the method of foul 
drainage. NRW along with other relevant consultees would be able to be consulted on any 
reserved matters or discharge of condition if the application were approved. 

Reference is made to existing issues in the area however the proposed development cannot 
be held accountable for these. Any proposed drainage system would need to demonstrate 
that the development would not have any additional impacts. Reference to underground 
springs have been referred to in terms of damage to the road. No issues have been raised 
by the various consultees in relation to these or in relation to existing flooding in the area. 

Other Matters

Comment has been made that parts of the site cross land outside the applicant ownership. 
The application form indicates that the site is within the applicant’s ownership and that no 
other parties have an interest in the land. Land ownership is not a material planning 
consideration. Any relevant land owners would need to be part of the Section 106 
Agreement required. 

Objections have queried whether given current development already under construction in 
the town that this development is needed. The site is allocated for residential development 
in the LDP. A key purpose of the plan is to ensure that the plan is delivered. The need for 
the level of housing identified in the LDP would have been assessed as part of the LDP 
examination. Comments from the Forward Planning Team state “Although the topography 
of the site is generally uneven and sloping in parts, the site as a whole is considered to be 
suitable for residential development and an appropriately designed scheme should be able 
to cope with the complexities of the topography”. They also comment that the illustrative 
layout for the site shows 29 dwellings, is in accordance with the allocation for 30 units. In 
terms of the allocation of the site that the site was submitted to be included in the 
Carmarthenshire Unitary Development Plan. The Inspector at the Inquiry concluded that “on 
the basis of the detailed characteristics of the site and its surroundings I conclude that the 
land is suitable for new housing development”. The reason it was excluded from that plan 
was that there was sufficient land provision within Carmarthen at that time. However the 
land was included as part of the Local Development Plan.

The impact on local infrastructure would be quite significant including impacts on local 
schools, doctors’ surgeries, local hospital, parking etc from the development has been 
raised.  As outlined earlier in the report comments have been received in relation affordable 
housing and education.  The recommendation is that any approval be subject to a legal 
agreement to secure the provision of 30% of the units as affordable dwellings, the provision 
of a contribution towards education to be shared among local schools.  A maintenance and 
management agreement for any such provision would also be secured as part of the legal 
agreement.  These contributions are subject to possible viability discussions at reserved 
matters stage if the application is approved and once full details of the scheme are known.  
If relation to other facilities such as doctors surgeries there are LDP policies which refer to 
the need for additional contributions to be sought.  It is noted that the development is likely 
to be in the region of 30 dwellings and therefore any impacts may be limited.

Tudalen 77



Impact on Welsh language education in the area due to current limited primary provision. 
Reference is made above to the financial contribution towards education.  The purpose of 
this contribution is to alleviate any additional impacts from the development on local schools.  
The contribution is to be distributed among the schools where this site is within their 
catchment. 

The increase in refuse collection was considered to be unworkable. The layout of the site is 
not to be agreed as part of this outline application. The final layout would need to be 
considered in terms of suitability for refuse vehicles. 

Possible unauthorised accesses being created for certain plots has been referred to. If any 
unauthorised works are carried out then the Authority has the powers to investigate via the 
Planning Enforcement Team. 

Reference to refusals of smaller development due to impact on the character of the area 
and loss of greenfield area (TMT/02737 and TMT/02738) in 2003 have been made. 
Objectors felt that the same reasons apply to this development. It is noted that at the time 
of these applications the land in question was located outside the development limits of 
Carmarthen. They were therefore considered to be located in the open countryside. 
Reference is made in the refusal reasons to the impact on the greenfield area and the 
character of the area. However the site is allocated in the Local Development Plan for 
residential development. As part of the assessment of the site through the LDP process the 
suitability of the site for such development would have been considered. The allocation, 
indicatively for 30 units suggest that development of this nature and in this region would be 
suitable subject to detailed consideration. The application in outline and the layout and 
design of the site, including the final number of properties is not to be agreed at this stage. 

Objections felt that the application was contrary to the Human Rights Act in relation to 
enjoyment of possessions and private/family life. Issues relating to impacts on amenity from 
various elements of the proposal have been addressed elsewhere in the report. It is not felt 
that any impacts that can be assessed at this time warrant refusal of the application.

Archaeological impacts were raised and it was felt that further details were needed prior to 
determination. Dyfed Archaeological Trust have responded to the application and raise no 
objections. They request a written scheme of investigation be conditioned. No objections 
have been raised from Cadw in their response. 

Concern has been raised that due to the slope of the site and the site will not be suitable for 
disabled access and comparison with similar areas. The final layout, design and alterations 
to land levels required for the scheme if not to be agreed at this outline stage. The 
requirements for compliance with the relevant standards will be something that the applicant 
or any future developer will need to consider as part of their design. 

There have been queries over changes to the application since submission. Additional 
information has been submitted over the course of the application. The application was 
amended to indicate that access and layout were to be considered however the application 
has been reverted back to outline with all matters reserved. 

Reference to planning permission for 4 dwellings off Capel Evan Road (W/36571) has been 
made. This application is ongoing at present. Previously a smaller area of land was granted 
outline planning permission at the site.

Tudalen 78



CONCLUSION

In conclusion and having regard to prevailing planning policies and material considerations, 
it is considered the development complies with the relevant policies of the Carmarthenshire 
Local Development Plan or national guidance.  It is therefore recommended for approval 
subject to a Section 106 Agreement. 

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL

CONDITIONS

1 The permission now granted is an outline permission only, within the meaning of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995.

2 The permission now granted relates to the land defined by the 1:1250 scale plan 
received on 27th June 2017.

3 Application for approval of reserved matters must be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission, and 
the development must be commenced not later than whichever is the later of the 
following:-

a) the expiration of five years from the date of this outline planning permission;

b) the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved 
matters to be approved.

4 Development shall not commence until detailed plans of the access; appearance; 
landscaping; layout; and scale of each building stated in the application, have been 
submitted, and received the written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

5 No development shall take place until a qualified and competent archaeologist has 
submitted a written scheme of investigation (WSI) for approval in writing by the local 
planning authority.  This WSI will describe the different stages of the work and 
demonstrate that it has been fully resourced and given adequate time.  On behalf of 
the local planning authority, their archaeological advisors (DAT DM) will monitor all 
aspects of this work through to the final discharging of the condition.  This work will 
not be deemed complete until all aspects of the WSI have been addressed and the 
final report submitted and approved.

Tudalen 79



6 No development shall commence until a scheme for the mitigation of dust has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
scheme shall be implemented during all stages of demolition and construction. 

7 No development shall commenced until a Noise Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
Management Plan should address the construction phase of the proposed 
development and will include the noisiest phases arranged in terms of loudness, the 
duration of the phases and details of mitigation measures to be employed to minimise 
the noise during construction on the nearby residential site.  The plan shall comply 
with the guidance found in the BS5228 Noise Vibration and Control on Construction 
and Open Sites.

8 No development shall commence until a drainage scheme for the site has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The scheme 
shall provide for the disposal of foul, surface and land water, and include an 
assessment of the potential to dispose of surface and land water by sustainable 
means.  Thereafter the scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the occupation of the development and no further foul water, 
surface water and land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or indirectly with 
the public sewerage system.

9 At least 3 months prior to the beneficial occupation of any dwelling on the 
development hereby approved a detailed Travel Plan, setting out ways of reducing 
car usage and increasing walking and cycling to and from the development shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The detailed 
Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and at a 
timescale to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

10 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Reptile Mitigation 
Strategy Report (March 2018)

11 Any vegetation clearance and the reptile mitigation strategy must be undertaken 
under the supervision of a suitably qualified ecologist.

12 Prior to the determination of any application for reserved matters seeking approval of 
‘layout’, ‘landscaping’, or ‘access’; the following shall be undertaken in compliance 
with the recommendations of BS5837, and submitted and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority: -

i] Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA);
ii] Tree Protection Plan (TPP) fully informed by the AIA, which provides details of 

all protective measures, operations and construction exclusion zones for all 
trees, large shrubs and hedges identified for retention. 

iii] Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) fully informed by the AIA, which 
provides details, as necessary, of construction operations and specific design 
solutions to be undertaken within the root protection areas of all trees, large 
shrubs and hedges identified for retention;

iv] Arboricultural Monitoring Programme (AMP) which provides details of the 
monitoring and reporting of the implementation of the TPP and AMS to the 
Local Planning Authority by a competent arboriculturalist appointed by the 
developer.

Tudalen 80



13 The gradient of the vehicular access serving the development shall not exceed 1 in 
20 for the first 10m metres from the edge of the carriageway. 

14 There shall at no time be any growth or obstruction to visibility over 0.6 metres above 
the adjacent carriageway crown, over the site's whole estate road frontage within 2.0 
metres of the near edge of the carriageway.

15 Prior to the commencement of development the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority shall be obtained for a scheme of parking and turning facilities within the 
curtilage of the site, and this shall be dedicated to serve the proposal.  The approved 
scheme is to be fully implemented prior to any part of the development being brought 
into use, and thereafter shall be retained, unobstructed, in perpetuity.  In particular, 
no part of the parking or turning facilities is to be obstructed by non-motorised 
vehicles.

16 Prior to the commencement of any part of the development herewith approved, two 
tactile crossing points shall be provided (a) linking both footways adjacent to the 
Lluest-y-Bryn road near its junction with Capel Evan road (b) connecting both 
footways adjacent to Capel Evan Road, north of its junction with Belvedere Avenue.  
This work shall be completed to the written approval of the Local Planning Authority 
and to the specification of the Local Highway Authority Highways.

17 There shall be no vehicular access to the site from Springfield Road. 

18 Any reserved matters application for ‘landscaping’ or ‘layout’, shall include an 
appropriate and comprehensive Detailed Landscape Design Scheme, to be 
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall 
deliver detailed design proposals which effectively integrate appropriate site specific 
landscape, ecological and biodiversity objectives and functions; and shall be in 
compliance with relevant guidance as provided by the Local Planning Authority.

19 The Detailed Landscape Design Scheme as submitted to discharge condition 18 shall 
be fully implemented in the first available planting and seeding seasons following 
commencement of development.

Any new landscape elements constructed, planted or seeded; or existing landscape 
elements retained; in accordance with the approved Detailed Landscape Design 
Scheme which, within a period of 5 years after implementation are removed; die; 
become diseased; damaged or otherwise defective, to such extent that, in the opinion 
of the Local Planning Authority, the function of the landscape elements in relation to 
this planning approval is no longer delivered, shall be replaced in the next planting or 
seeding season with replacement elements of similar size and specification.

20 No development or site clearance shall take place until appropriate and 
comprehensive landscape maintenance and management information has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The information 
shall include the following:

- Landscape Maintenance and Management Responsibility Plan;
- Plans, specifications and schedules to cover establishment and long term 

proposals for landscape maintenance and management.

Tudalen 81



The scheme shall effectively integrate appropriate site specific landscape, ecological 
and biodiversity management and maintenance proposals; and shall be in 
compliance with relevant guidance as provided by the Local Planning Authority. 

All landscape maintenance and management shall be fully implemented as approved.

21 Prior to the determination of any application for reserved matters seeking approval of 
‘layout’, ‘landscaping’ or ‘access’; no trees with trunk/stem diameter exceeding 100 
mm, measured at a height of 1.5 metres above ground level, which are located within 
or on the site boundary shall be cut down, up-rooted, destroyed, topped, lopped or 
pruned without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.  Following 
such approval or determination of an application for the hereby specified reserved 
matters, all approved works are to be carried out in accordance with BS3998.

22 All site operations shall be undertaken in compliance with the approved arboricultural 
information, as submitted to discharge condition 12.  Any construction operations 
and/or access within the construction exclusion zone defined within the Tree 
Protection Plan (TPP) shall be limited to those undertaken in compliance with the 
recommendations of BS5837.  The approved TPP shall be fully implemented, prior to 
the commencement of any works associated with the development; and thereafter 
shall be maintained in its entirety, throughout the duration of all development works 
and until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from 
the site.

23 Prior to the commencement of any works associated with the development, an 
earthworks plan, including cross sectional and levels information shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The submitted information 
shall include sufficient detail to enable assessment of proposed levels in relation to 
existing trees and other landscape elements identified for retention.  Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.

REASONS 

1 This application is in outline.

2 For the avoidance of doubt.

3 Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

4 In the interest of visual amenity.

5 To protect historic environment interests whilst enabling development.

6-7 To ensure that the amenity of local residents/businesses is adequately protected 
during demolition/construction.

8 To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health 
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment.

Tudalen 82



9 In order to mitigate against impacts in terms of air quality. 

10-12 To ensure appropriate protection or and compensation for impacts upon species and 
their habitats. 

13-17 In the interest of highway safety. 

12,
18-23 To ensure that the development, respects and reflects, and protects and enhances, 

the landscape; local character and distinctiveness; and the biodiversity value of the 
area and, integrates nature conservation and retains, incorporates, and makes 
provision for the appropriate management of, existing landscape and important local 
features which contribute to local qualities and distinctiveness

REASONS FOR GRANTING PLANNING PERMISSION 

The decision to grant planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase act 2004, which requires that, in determining a 
planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

 It is considered that the proposed development complies with Policy H1, AH1, GP1, 
GP2, GP3, GP4, SP17, TR3, SP9, SP6, SP13, SP14, SP5, TR4, EP3, EQ1, EQ4, 
EQ5, SP18, REC2 and SP1 of the adopted Local Development Plan in that the 
proposal provides a contribution towards affordable housing and education along 
with public open space in line with the policy requirements (subject to viability).  
Their affordability is to be secure through a legal agreement and there is a need for 
the housing this type in the area has been identified.  Subject to conditions imposed 
and further details being provided at the reserved matters stage it is not considered 
there are significant impacts to highway safety or traffic generation.  Further 
measures for pedestrian linkages are secured through conditions.  Subject to 
conditions it is considered that appropriate surface water drainage can be achieved 
and further details will be required as part of any reserved matters submission.  The 
site is not located in a flood zone and the proposal would not lead to concerns over 
the public sewer capacity.  Further details at reserved matters stage would confirm 
the methods of drainage.  The development provides appropriate connectivity and 
permeability to allow easy pedestrian access to and from the site and surrounding 
facilities and the reserved matters scheme would need to provide details of impacts 
on the route of the Public Right of Way crossing the site.  Subject to conditions and a 
legal agreement there are no significant concerns regarding the developments impact 
on ecology or landscape features.  Further details of landscape features and their 
protection are covered by conditions.  The proposal includes a scheme of mitigation 
for slow-worms with them being moved to an alternative site.  The site consists of 
land allocated for residential development in the LDP located among other areas of 
residential development in a sustainable location in a Growth Area as identified in the 
LDP.  Subject to conditions imposed and details to be provided at the reserved 
matters stage it is felt that impacts on amenity of residents of existing properties can 
be addressed along with provision of suitable amenity for the proposed dwellings.  
Subject to the reserved matters submission it is not felt that the principle of 
development at the site would be harmful to the character of the adjacent 
Conservation Area. 

Tudalen 83



 It is considered that the proposed development complies with S.72 of the Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas Act which requires special attention to be paid to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area. 
In that the development is not harmful to the character of the adjacent Conservation 
Area.

NOTES 

1 The applicant is advised that this planning permission is subject to the 
applicant/developer first entering in to a Section 106 Agreement for a contribution 
towards community benefits in relation to:

 provision of 30% of the units at the site are affordable housing
 financial contribution towards Education in accordance with the formula given 

in the Planning Obligations SPG

The agreement will also include securing the provision of:

 A programme of trapping and relocation of reptiles from within the site and site 
boundaries

 Habitat enhancement of a suitable ‘receptor site’ to which the captured reptiles shall 
be taken and released (located at the National Botanic Gardens, Carmarthenshire).

 Ongoing management of the ‘receptor site’ for reptile conservation, and monitoring of 
the relocated reptile population over 2 years.

2 Please note that this consent is specific to the plans and particulars approved as part 
of the application.  Any departure from the approved plans will constitute unauthorised 
development and may be liable to enforcement action.  You (or any subsequent 
developer) should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations from the 
approved plans immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve the 
matter.

In addition, any Conditions which the Council has imposed on this consent will be 
listed above and should be read carefully.  It is your (or any subsequent developers') 
responsibility to ensure that the terms of all Conditions are met in full at the 
appropriate time (as outlined in the specific condition).

The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
Conditions which require the submission of details prior to the commencement of 
development will constitute unauthorised development.  This will necessitate the 
submission of a further application to retain the unauthorised development and may 
render you liable to formal enforcement action

Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any other 
Conditions could result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form 
of a Breach of Condition Notice

3 Comments and guidance received from consultees relating to this application, 
including any other permissions or consents required, is available on the Authority’s 
website (www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk) 

Tudalen 84

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/


Tudalen 85



Application No W/36577

Application Type Variation of Planning Condition(s)

Proposal &
Location

VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 OF PLANNING PERMISSION 
W/30595 (EXTENSION OF TIME IN WHICH TO SUBMIT 
RESERVED MATTERS) AT LAND AT CAE GLAS, ST CLEARS, 
CARMARTHEN, SA33 4EY 

Applicant(s) MRS ROSEMARY EVANS,  BRYNHEULOG, HIGH STREET, 
CARMARTHEN, SA33 4DY

Agent ASBRI PLANNING - MR MATTHEW GRAY,  SUITE 4 THE J 
SHED, SA1 SWANSEA WATERFRONT, ST THOMAS, 
SWANSEA, SA1 8BJ

Case Officer Stuart Willis

Ward St Clears

Date of validation 05/02/2018

CONSULTATIONS

St Clears Town Council – Has not commented to date.

Local Member - County Councillor P M Hughes has stated that he supports the application 
and requested the application be presented to the Planning Committee if recommended for 
refusal. 

Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water – Has responded raising no objections to the proposal.

Neighbours/Public - The application has been publicised by the posting of Site Notices 
at/near the application site.  Seven representations have been received from each of the 
five existing dwellings along Cae Glas and the former owner of one of the houses who has 
retained ownership of part of the estate road. The grounds of objection refer to one or more 
of the following:-

 the accuracy/content of the notice required to be served on third party landowners;
 the required notice has not been served on all third party landowners;
 the accuracy/content of the application form;
 information not correctly shown on the Authority’s website;
 question whether there have been material changes including planning policy, traffic and 

pedestrian activities since the previous permissions;

Tudalen 86



 highway/pedestrian safety issues regarding narrow width of and lack of footway along 
Heol Goi; junction of Heol Goi with High Street; on road parking; the suitability of the 
access off Cae Glas;

 concern over location of turning head in relation to safety and pipes;
 the delay in commencing the development is unreasonable and the cause of mental 

anguish to residents;
 comment that landowner is not capable of delivering development on the site;
 as third party landowners they will not give the applicant consent to build.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The following relevant planning applications have been previously submitted on the 
application site:-

W/30595 Variation of condition 2 on planning permission
W/21657 (to extend by 3 years the time allowed
to submit the reserved matters) 
Variation of Planning Condition granted 11 September 2014

W/21657 Five family dwellings 
Outline planning refused 06 July 2011 
Appeal upheld 10 February 2012

W/19792 Five family dwellings 
Withdrawn 22 January 2009

D4/4811 Certificate of alternative development 04 October 1978

APPRAISAL

THE SITE

The application site is the western portion of a field located to the east of a street of dwellings 
known as Cae Glas at St Clears and includes the private road serving these houses.  The 
site is located to the south of the A40 Trunk Road and has the remainder of the larger field 
to the east.  To the south of the application site, beyond the timber post and rail fence is a 
strip of land that is apparently in third party ownership, beyond which is a highway known 
as Heol Goi.  The site is currently under grass and is fairly level and has a post and rail fence 
to the north and south boundaries with a post and wire fence to the west.  The eastern 
boundary of the site is notional as it is not delineated on the ground.  

Access to the site is intended to be via Cae Glas and Heol Goi and to that end an area of 
highway verge was included within the previous application site, along the northern side of 
Heol Goi to provide a pedestrian footpath.  

A further area of land within the highway verge to the south of Heol Goi had also been 
included within the initial application site (W/21657) to allow for the provision of a passing 
place. Although that initial application was refused by the Authority due to issues relating to 
the public sewer, access and impact on the highways network, the decision was appealed 
and the Inspector upheld the appeal and issued outline planning permission. 

Tudalen 87



A variation of condition was approved under application reference W/30595 at Planning 
Committee to extend the time period for the submission of reserved matters by a further 3 
years. That took the time to submit the reserved matters for 10th February 2018. 
Commencement of the development was consequently amended to be 6 years from the 
date of the original permission or 2 years from the date of the last reserved matters being 
approved.  

The application site is located within development limits and forms part of a residential 
allocation T2/5/h5. 

THE PROPOSAL

The application seeks to vary condition 2 of W/30595, that relates to the time period for the 
submission of reserved matters and commencement of the development. 

The existing condition requires reserved matters to be submitted by 10th February 2018 and 
commencement 2 years after the approval of these matters. 

When this variation of condition application was originally submitted it sought to extend the 
period of time to submit the reserved matters to 9 years from the first planning permission – 
from 10th February 2012 to 10th February 2021. That would have essentially renewed the 
application and sought to extend the overall time period of the application. 

The application now however seeks only to vary condition 2 to allow an additional year to 
submit the reserved matters. Therefore, looking to submit the reserved matters by 10th 
February 2019. The overall time period for the permission to be implemented is no longer to 
be amended.

The additional one year to submit the reserved matters is at the expense of the two years to 
commence the development after reserved matters approval. Having due regard to the fact 
that the initial time period has been previously extended in W/30595,  the submission now 
seeks to amend the condition to ask for reserved matters to be submitted seven years from 
the first permission (10th February 2019) and commencement to be within one year 
following reserved matters approval. 

PLANNING POLICY

The site is located within the defined settlement limits for St Clears in the Carmarthenshire 
Local Development Plan.  The site also forms part of the allocation for residential 
development under site reference T2/5/h5.  The indicative allocated numbers of dwelling 
units for this allocation is 40.  

Policy SP1 Sustainable Places and Spaces

This policy states that proposals for development will be supported where they reflect 
sustainable development and design subject to a number of criteria. These include 
distributing development to sustainable locations in accordance with the settlement 
framework, promoting active transport infrastructure and safe and convenient sustainable 
access particularly through walking and cycling and Respecting, reflecting and, wherever 
possible, enhancing local character and distinctiveness.

Policy SP9 Transportation

Tudalen 88



This policy states that provision is made to contribute to the delivery of an efficient, effective, 
safe and sustainable integrated transport system in a number of ways including the 
following, reducing the need to travel, particularly by private motor car; supporting and where 
applicable enhancing alternatives to the motor car, such as public transport (including park 
and ride facilities and encourage the adoption of travel plans), and active transport through 
cycling and walking; re-enforcing the function and role of settlements in accordance with the 
settlement framework; promoting the efficient use of the transport network.

SP17 Infrastructure

Development will be directed to locations where adequate and appropriate infrastructure is 
available or can be readily provided. The LDP therefore supports the economic provision of 
infrastructure by allocating sites in identified settlements and in accordance with the 
Settlement Framework.  

Renewable energy generation and associated utility connections will be encouraged, in 
appropriate locations, subject to other Plan policies.  

Proposals for ancillary developments to the utilities infrastructure will be permitted where: 

a) they have regard to their setting; 
b) incorporate landscaping; 
c) do not conflict with the areas built, historic, cultural and nature conservation and 

landscape qualities. (Policy SP13 and SP14)

Planning Obligations relating to developer contributions towards necessary infrastructure 
improvements may be sought subject to policy GP3.

Policy GP1 Sustainability and High Quality Design

This policy states that development proposals will be permitted where they accord with 
various criteria. This includes where it conforms with and enhances the character and 
appearance of the site, building or area in terms of siting, appearance, scale, height, 
massing, elevation treatment, and detailing, it incorporates existing landscape or other 
features, takes account of site contours and changes in levels and prominent skylines or 
ridge, it utilises materials appropriate to the area within which it is located, it would not have 
a significant impact on the amenity of adjacent  land uses, properties, residents or the 
community, includes an integrated mixture of uses appropriate to the scale of the 
development, it retains, and where appropriate incorporates important local features 
(including buildings, amenity areas, spaces, trees, woodlands and hedgerows) and ensures 
the use of good quality hard and soft landscaping and embraces opportunities to enhance 
biodiversity and ecological connectivity, it achieves and creates attractive, safe places and 
public spaces, which ensures security through the ‘designing-out-crime’ principles of 
Secured by Design (including providing natural surveillance, visibility, well-lit environments 
and areas of public movement), an appropriate access exists or can be provided which does 
not give rise to any parking or highway safety concerns on the site or within the locality, it 
protects and enhances the landscape, townscape, historic and cultural heritage of the 
County and there are no adverse effects on the setting or integrity of the historic 
environment, it ensures or provides for, the satisfactory generation, treatment and disposal 
of both surface and foul water, it has regard to the generation, treatment and disposal of 
waste, it has regard for the safe, effective and efficient use of the transportation network, it 

Tudalen 89



provides an integrated network which promotes the interests of pedestrians, cyclists and 
public transport which ensures ease of access for all and it includes, where applicable, 
provision for the appropriate management and eradication of invasive species.

Proposals will also be considered in light of the policies and provisions of this Plan and 
National Policy (PPW: Edition 4 and TAN12: Design and Planning Policy Wales 2010).

Policy GP3 Planning Obligations 

The Council will, where necessary seek developers to enter into Planning Obligations 
(Section 106 Agreements), or to contribute via the Community Infrastructure Levy to secure 
contributions to fund improvements to infrastructure, community facilities and other services 
to meet requirements arising from new developments. 

Where applicable, contributions will also be sought towards the future and ongoing 
maintenance of such provision either in the form of initial support or in perpetuity.

In implementing this policy schemes will be assessed on a case-by-case basis. 

Policy GP4 Infrastructure and New Development

Proposals for development will be permitted where the infrastructure is adequate to meet 
the needs of the development. 

Proposals where new or improved infrastructure is required but does not form part of an 
infrastructure provider’s improvement programme may be permitted where it can be 
satisfactorily demonstrated that this infrastructure will exist, or where the required work is 
funded by (or an appropriate contribution is provided by) the developer.

Planning obligations and conditions will be used (where appropriate) to ensure that new or 
improved facilities are provided to serve the new development.

Policy H1 Housing Allocations

Land has been allocated for residential development for the plan period 2006 – 2021 at 
those locations as set out below and as depicted on the Proposals Map.

Proposals for the residential development of allocated housing sites submitted in the form 
of a Full Planning application or as a Reserved Matters application should be accompanied 
by a layout of the proposal in its entirety to ensure the site is developed to its full potential.

Policy AH1 Affordable Housing

A contribution to affordable housing will be required on all housing allocations and windfall 
sites. The Council will seek a level of affordable housing contribution of 30% in the higher 
viable areas, 20% in the middle viable areas, and 10% within the Ammanford/Cross Hands 
sub-market areas. 

Where viability at the target levels cannot be achieved, variation may be agreed on a case-
by-case basis. 

On Site Contributions 

Tudalen 90



The affordable housing will be required to be provided on proposals of 5 or more dwellings 
in all settlements. 

Where adjacent and related residential proposals result in combined numbers meeting or 
exceeding the above threshold, the Council will seek an element of affordable housing 
based on the affordable housing target percentages set out above. 

Proposals will be required to ensure that the dwelling remains affordable for all subsequent 
occupants in perpetuity. 

Commuted Sums 

Where an open market residential site falls below the above thresholds, a contribution 
through a commuted sum towards the provision of affordable housing will be sought. The 
level of contribution sought through a commuted sum will vary based upon its location within 
the high, medium and low viability sub-market areas as set out above. Commuted sum 
charges will be based on floor space (cost per sq.m.)

Policy TR3 Highways in Developments - Design Considerations

This policy states that the design and layout of all development proposals will, where 
appropriate, be required to include an integrated network of convenient and safe pedestrian 
and cycle routes (within and from the site) which promotes the interests of pedestrians, 
cyclists and public transport; suitable provision for access by public transport; appropriate 
parking and where applicable, servicing space in accordance with required standards; 
infrastructure and spaces allowing safe and easy access for those with mobility difficulties; 
required access standards reflective of the relevant Class of road and speed restrictions 
including visibility splays and design features and calming measures necessary to ensure 
highway safety and the ease of movement is maintained, and where required enhanced; 
provision for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems to allow for the disposal of surface water 
run-off from the highway.

It goes on to state that proposals which do not generate unacceptable levels of traffic on the 
surrounding road network and would not be detrimental to highway safety or cause 
significant harm to the amenity of residents will be permitted. Proposals which will not result 
in offsite congestion in terms of parking or service provision or where the capacity of the 
network is sufficient to serve the development will be permitted. Developers may be required 
to facilitate appropriate works as part of the granting of any permission.

THIRD PARTY REPRESENTATIONS

Turning to the adverse third party representations received to date.

Concerns were raised over the content of the submission. This included the application form, 
associated details and the formal notice required to be served on other landowners. In this 
particular instance the residents along Cae Glas each own a part of the estate roadway that 
is included within the application site as it shall facilitate access from the public highway 
(Heol Goi) to the proposed development. 

Tudalen 91



While it is acknowledged that the application form includes errors such as incorrectly stating 
the site cannot be seen from a public highway, when it is clearly visible from Heol Goi, it is 
not felt though that any such errors have affected the assessment of the application. 

A key thread in the objection is the matter of land ownership. Having requested clarification 
over the land ownership the applicant subsequently acknowledged that the incorrect 
ownership certificate was initially completed. Whereas the application form was initially 
completed to the affect that the applicant owned or controlled all of the application site, she 
has now submitted an amended certificate of ownership and served notice on the other 
landowners. Following this we have received a response from one of the owners questioning 
the content of the notice served on the other parties. Generally this process is carried out 
prior to the application being submitted and therefore certain details such as the application 
number are not known. Whether information on the submission should be removed following 
amendments having been made to the scheme was raised, however, all details remain on 
the file and website as is standard practice.

The objectors have indicated that they will not give the applicant consent to build and that 
the applicant is not capable of implementing any permission. Objectors indicate however it 
is possible that the issue could still be resolved. Whether the site is suitable to remain within 
development limits would be a matter to be considered as part of the LDP process and any 
related review of the LDP. 

Objectors have referred to highway/pedestrian safety issues regarding narrow width of and 
lack of footway along Heol Goi; junction of Heol Goi with High Street; on road parking; the 
suitability of the access off Cae Glas

The issues of land ownership and highway safety were considered in detail at the 2012 
appeal with the Inspector commenting, “I am aware of the ownership dispute regarding these 
two alternative routes, but for the reasons previously given, that dispute is not something 
about which I can comment. Whether it could be constructed is a matter that goes to land 
ownership, but on the basis of the information before me, I conclude that there is a 
reasonable expectation that a footway to the south of the proposed dwellings could be 
provided within the lifetime of any permission, following negotiations with any other land 
owners who may have a legal interest in the land concerned.”

“... any works that may be necessary and the funding of such works to the private road, 
including the provision of a turning head and footway connections, are matters that can be 
addressed under the Highways Act and through agreements with the various owners. Being 
an outline planning application, my concern is limited to whether the appeal site is of 
sufficient size to accommodate those elements. The indicative plan (09/357/22B) indicates 
that it is, details of which would be considered at the later Approval of Reserved Matters 
(ARM) stage. Therefore I need comment no further about this matter now.”

“As to car parking, the indicative plan shows that the development could accommodate 
parking within each plot in a similar manner to that provided in the existing development. 
Therefore at this outline stage, I find nothing to convince me that it would not be possible to 
provide adequate parking and that unacceptable highway congestion would result. Again, 
the precise layout and provision of car parking within the site would be considered at the 
ARM stage.”

“Heol Goi is a relatively narrow, no-through road that joins the High Street some way to the 
east. There are currently no footways alongside the carriageway which is flanked by banks, 

Tudalen 92



some trees and hedges, other than to the west of the appeal site adjacent to the recent 
development, Cae Glas. However, as such highway characteristics must have been evident 
and taken into account when the site and the adjoining land were allocated in the UDP for 
residential development, I need to consider whether any material considerations in respect 
of the highway implications are such as to justify rejecting the proposal now.”

“There is no compelling up-to-date highway evidence relating to the likely traffic generation 
arising from the proposed five dwellings and the effect upon the capacity of the local highway 
network. No recent traffic flow readings have been submitted, either in terms of vehicles or 
pedestrians: the only information from the appellant dates from 2001. However, although 
the existing development generates traffic, I must limit my consideration to the current 
proposal and establish whether this would create unacceptable highway conditions. In this 
regard, I find nothing to convince me that the volume of traffic generated by the five proposed 
dwellings would be likely to have a significant impact upon the overall use of Heol Goi. Even 
though the junction with the High Street is not ideal, I observed that the visibility is such that, 
with care, vehicles can join the High Street safely. Similarly, having regard to Manual for 
Streets 2, I find nothing to show that the visibility at the Cae Glas access would be 
dangerous.”

“...given the absence of any evidence relating to traffic flows and the resultant need for 
passing bays arising from the proposed development, although there is a pinch point, I 
similarly find no justification in highway safety terms for imposing a planning condition 
requiring that element to be provided as part of the current proposal.”

The Inspector concluding that, “... the proposal would not conflict with the Development Plan 
and that there are no material considerations of such weight as to justify rejecting the 
proposal, other than where I have indicated.”

As indicated in the extract of the Inspector’s comments the approved development is outline 
with all matters reserved and therefore access details were not agreed as part of the 
previous outline submission or in this variation of condition submission. It is not felt that there 
have been any significant changes to the area that warrant the refusal of the application. 

Matters have been raised which would be dealt with under separate legislation or as part of 
the reserved matters submission if the variation of condition is approved. This includes the 
position of pipes across the site and any proposed turning head, with regard to which it is 
noted that Dwr Cymru Welsh Water offer no objection to the application.

The impact on local residents from the delay in building commencing and the anguish this 
has caused has been referred to. It is acknowledged that there has been a delay in 
development however in relation to material planning considerations it is not felt there are 
any issues that warrant the refusal of the application. It is also noted that the residents 
convey that they shall not consent to the implementation of the proposed development.

Tudalen 93



CONCLUSION

As indicated in the description of the proposal above, this application seeks only to extend 
the time period for the submission of the reserved matters to be submitted by one year and 
reduce the time for commencement by one year. No other changes are proposed to the 
scheme approved by the appeal Inspector in 2012. That outline permission includes a 
condition requiring a scheme for the provision of one affordable house to be agreed, prior to 
the commencement of development.

The extension of one year for the submission of the reserved matters represents the final 
opportunity for any such extension within the lifetime of the permission as previously 
extended in application W/30595 granted in February 2014. In the absence of any material 
change in circumstances at an application site allocated for residential development in the 
LDP, or any sustainable reason to refuse, it is recommended, on balance, that the variation 
of condition should be granted.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL

CONDITIONS

1 Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter called 
"the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before any development begins and the development shall be 
carried out as approved.

2 Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority not later than seven years from the date of the original outline planning 
permission reference W/21657 dated 10/2/2012.  The development shall begin either 
before the expiration of 7 years from the date of the original permission (10/2/12) or 
before the expiration of one year from the date of approval of the last of the reserved 
matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

3 The development shall not begin until a scheme for the provision of affordable 
housing as part of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The affordable housing unit shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet the definition of affordable 
housing in Annex B of TAN2 or any future guidance that replaces it.  The scheme 
shall include:-

i) the type, tenure and location on the site of the affordable housing unit;

ii) the timing of the construction of the affordable housing unit and its provision in 
relation to the occupancy of the market housing;

iii) the arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing unit to an affordable 
housing provider or the management of the unit;

iv) the arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both first and 
subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing unit; and

Tudalen 94



v) the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of 
the affordable housing unit and the means by which such occupancy criteria 
shall be enforced.

4 No development shall commence until schemes for the provision of foul and surface 
water drainage have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The approved schemes shall be completed before any dwelling is 
occupied.

5 No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the 
applicant and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

6 No development shall commence until a scheme has been submitted and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the provision of a footway along the 
southern side of the site on land adjacent to plot 10 and to the north of Heol Goi and 
extending to the eastward extremity of that part of the appeal site, and a turning area 
within the development site.  The footway and a turning area shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved scheme before any dwellings are occupied.

REASONS 

1 In the interest of visual amenity.

2 The application is in outline form.

3 To ensure appropriate provision of affordable housing.

4 To ensure appropriate drainage methods to protect the environment and reduce risk 
of flooding.

5 To protect historic environment interests whilst enabling development.

6 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety.

REASONS FOR DECISION 

The decision to grant planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a 
planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

 The proposed development complies with Policy TR3, AH1, H1 and GP1 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan Adopted 2014 (‘the LDP’) of the 
Carmarthenshire Unitary Development Plan, 2006 (UDP) in that the development 
located within an area of land allocated for residential development, seeks to vary 
previous permission where there has been no material change to circumstances. There 
are no highways, amenity or utility concerns to warrant refusal of the application. 
Appropriate contributions are made towards affordable housing. 

NOTE(S) 

Tudalen 95



1 Please note that this consent is specific to the plans and particulars approved as part 
of the application.  Any departure from the approved plans will constitute unauthorised 
development and may be liable to enforcement action.  You (or any subsequent 
developer) should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations from the 
approved plans immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve the 
matter.

 In addition, any Conditions which the Council has imposed on this consent will be 
listed above and should be read carefully.  It is your (or any subsequent developers') 
responsibility to ensure that the terms of all Conditions are met in full at the 
appropriate time (as outlined in the specific condition).

 The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
Conditions which require the submission of details prior to the commencement of 
development will constitute unauthorised development.  This will necessitate the 
submission of a further application to retain the unauthorised development and may 
render you liable to formal enforcement action.

 Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any other 
Conditions could result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form 
of a Breach of Condition Notice.

2 This outline consent relates to the principle of development only and not to the other 
information provided on the sketch/indicative layout drawings or dimensions 
submitted in support of the proposal unless indicated in the above conditions.  The 
consent does not imply any support by the Local Planning Authority for the illustrative 
plans or information submitted with the application.

Tudalen 96



APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL 

Tudalen 97



Application No W/37038

Application Type Full Planning

Proposal &
Location

CONVERSION OF EXISTING DISUSED AGRICULTURAL 
BUILDING INTO 2NO HOLIDAY LET UNITS AT TYCERRIG, 
NANTYCAWS, CARMARTHEN, SA32 8EW 

Applicant(s) MR GRANT CARLSSON,  TYCERRIG, NANTYCAWS, 
CARMARTHEN, SA32 8EW

Agent HAROLD METCALFE PARTNERSHIP,  32 SPILMAN ST, 
CARMARTHEN, SA31 1LQ

Case Officer Stuart Willis

Ward Llangunnor

Date of validation 04/04/2018

CONSULTATIONS 

Head of Transport – has raised concerns over the details provided as they did with the 
previous application.  The turning provision is still not clear and not included within the red 
line application site.  Whilst it is appreciated that the applicant shows control over adjacent 
land edged blue, the proposed parking layout shown within the red line boundary would 
appear to give residents difficulty to access the proposed parking spaces and manoeuver 
in/out of the site.  Furthermore, there are no existing parking spaces shown on the block 
plan to serve the dwelling known as Ty Cerrig. 

According to the submitted block plan there is only appears to be 2.5m between the middle 
car parking space and boundary to Ty Cerrig, this would impede on access to the rear of 
the existing agricultural building for agricultural type vehicles, causing a possible conflict.  
Similarly there is only 2.4m between the northern car parking space and the boundary of the 
access track for agricultural vehicles to access the front of the agricultural building. 

An amended plan was submitted showing parking for the existing dwelling.  No response 
has been received to date on the reconsultation. 

Local Member – Cllr E Williams has requested the application be presented to the Planning 
Committee, stating that the reason for the Planning Officer objecting is that the building is 
modern.  He sees nothing modern in a 50 year old building.

Llangunnor Community Council – have no objection providing the usual neighbour 
consultation takes place.

Tudalen 98



Rights of Way – The Design and Access Statement notes that “a public footpath traverses 
the site and will be protected and improved as may be required”.  If the application is 
approved, reference should be made to the applicant/developer to the requirement not to 
obstruct or encroach upon the footpath at any time.  Any alterations to the surface of the 
footpath would require prior approval from the authority.

Neighbours/ Public - The application has been publicised by the posting of a site notice 
and in the local press with no responses having been received as a result. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

W/36510 Conversion of existing disused agricultural 
building into 2 no. holiday let units.
Full Refusal 04 January 2018

W/32735 Demolition of existing lean-to side extension 
and construction of new extensions
Full Granted 23 October 2015

APPRAISAL

THE SITE

The application consist site consists of a former agricultural building located at a holding 
known as Ty Cerrig.  The site is located to the north-west of Nantycaws.  The site is accessed 
off a narrow track leading from a minor country road to the west.  There are 2 further routes 
to the site and a Public Right of Way runs across the farm yard.  The land falls to the north-
west with there being further, far larger buildings still used for agricultural purposes attached 
to the application building.  The farm house is also located on the yard.  The holding covers 
some 48 ha of land with there being 60 head of cattle and 15 sheep. 

The building is constructed of concrete block which has been rendered with metal sheet 
upper walls and plastic coated profile sheet roof.  The windows and doors have already been 
altered to PVC

An application was refused under delegated powers earlier this year for the same proposal.  
The refusal reasons related to the building not being considered worthy of conversion due 
to it not being of appropriate architectural quality or materials.  Reasons for refusal also 
related to parking and turning facilities in terms of size, location and impacts on accessing 
the adjacent agricultural buildings. 

THE PROPOSAL

The application seeks full planning permission for the conversion of the former agricultural 
building to 2 no holiday lets.

The northern end of the building would accommodate a 2 bedroom unit with the central part 
being a 1 bedroom unit.  The southern-most part is shown as being 2 store areas. There are 
some alterations to openings in the building. Windows are PVC, with the doors and the walls 
rendered.  The layout plan shows 3 parking spaces being provided.  No amenity space or 
other areas are included in the application site. 

Tudalen 99



A supporting statement has been submitted with the application which states the proposal 
would supplement the income from the farm.  It states that the main purpose of the farm will 
remain agricultural and that there are sufficient other farm buildings to accommodate the 
continued agricultural use.  It states that the character of the building will not change except 
the concrete block which is to be rendered.  It concludes by referring to the need to 
encourage tourism, being located close to the National Botanic Gardens of Wales and that 
there is easy access to the coast making this site a good location. 

Following comments from the Head of Transport the applicant provided details of the parking 
provision for the existing farmhouse.  The agent also commented that in their opinion the 
proposals have no effect on any public roads and the red line application site merely 
identifies the location of the proposals.  Parking for both Ty Cerrig house and the proposed 
holiday units can be accommodated anywhere on the forecourt area in front of the house.  
They did not understand why Highways were concerned with how the applicants intend to 
access the agricultural building when there is a track to the front and rear of the building 
which is also surrounded by approximately 48 acres of land and the applicants have the 
right to choose which to use.

PLANNING POLICY

In the context of the current development control policy framework the site is located outside 
the defined development limits as contained in the adopted Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan Adopted December 2014.

Policy GP1 Sustainability and High Quality Design.  This states that development 
proposals will be permitted where they accord with a number of criteria including the 
following, it conforms with and enhances the character and appearance of the site, building 
or area in terms of siting, appearance, scale, height, massing, elevation treatment, and 
detailing, utilises materials appropriate to the area within which it is located; it retains, and 
where appropriate incorporates important local features (including buildings, amenity areas, 
spaces, trees, woodlands and hedgerows) and ensures the use of good quality hard and 
soft landscaping and embraces opportunities to enhance biodiversity and ecological 
connectivity; an appropriate access exists or can be provided which does not give rise to 
any parking or highway safety concerns on the site or within the locality.

Policy TSM4 Visitor Accommodation states that proposals for new build serviced or self 
catering holiday accommodation will be permitted within the development limits of defined 
settlements (Policy SP3) where it accords with the relevant criterion under Policy SP15. 
Outside the development limits of defined settlements (Policy SP3) proposals for permanent 
serviced or self-catering visitor accommodation will be permitted where it consists of the re-
use and adaptation (including conversion) of existing buildings and complies with criteria d) 
and e) set out in Policy H5.

Policy H5 Adaptation and Re-use of Rural Buildings for Residential Use states that 
proposals for the conversion and re-use of buildings in rural areas outside the Development 
Limits of a defined settlement (Policy SP3) for residential purposes will only be permitted 
where they meet certain criteria. Criteria (d) and (e) apply in relation to holiday let uses as 
noted in policy TSM4. These require proposals to demonstrate that:

d. The building is structurally sound, substantially intact and is of sufficient size to 
accommodate the proposed use without extensive alteration, extension or re- 
construction;

Tudalen 100



e. The building demonstrates and retains sufficient quality of architectural features and 
traditional materials with no significant loss of the character and integrity of the original 
structure.

The notes for the policy state “Only those buildings which are of an appropriate architectural 
quality and which incorporate traditional materials will be considered. Proposals for buildings 
of a modern, utilitarian construction such as portal framed units, temporary structures or 
those which utilise materials such as concrete block work, metal or other sheet cladding 
finishes will not generally be considered appropriate for conversion”.

Policy TR3 Highways in Developments - Design Considerations. This policy states that the 
design and layout of all development proposals will, where appropriate, be required to 
include:

a. An integrated network of convenient and safe pedestrian and cycle routes (within and 
from the site) which promotes the interests of pedestrians, cyclists and public transport;

b. Suitable provision for access by public transport;
c. Appropriate parking and where applicable, servicing space in accordance with required 

standards;
d. Infrastructure and spaces allowing safe and easy access for those with mobility 

difficulties;
e. Required access standards reflective of the relevant Class of road and speed 

restrictions including visibility splays and design features and calming measures 
necessary to ensure highway safety and the ease of movement is maintained, and 
where required enhanced; 

f. Provision for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems to allow for the disposal of surface 
water run-off from the highway.

Proposals which do not generate unacceptable levels of traffic on the surrounding road 
network and would not be detrimental to highway safety or cause significant harm to the 
amenity of residents will be permitted. 

Proposals which will not result in off-site congestion in terms of parking or service provision 
or where the capacity of the network is sufficient to serve the development will be permitted.  
Developers may be required to facilitate appropriate works as part of the granting of any 
permission.

As the site is on a working farm Policy EMP4 Farm Diversification also applies.  This states 
that proposals for farm diversification projects will be permitted where, it is subordinate to, 
compatible with and supports the continued operation of the agricultural activity of the 
existing working farm, it is of a scale and nature appropriate to the existing farm operation, 
the scale and nature of the activity is compatible with its accessibility to public transport and 
the need for local highway improvements, the scale and scope of any retail use (where 
planning permission is required) would not have an adverse impact on the vitality and 
viability of retail facilities in nearby settlements, or would undermine the retail hierarchy (see 
policy RT1) and that it would not have an adverse impact on the character, setting and 
appearance of the area and the surrounding landscape and where appropriate, townscape. 

Proposals should give priority to the conversion of suitable existing buildings on the working 
farm.  Where justified, new building should be integrated with the existing working farm 
complex and not detrimental to the respective character and appearance of the area and 
surrounding landscape.

Tudalen 101



The notes of the policy however state that this policy does not cover the issue of the re-use 
and adaptation of existing rural buildings.

NEIGHBOUR/PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

There have been no third party representations received other than the request from the 
Local Member for the application to be presented to the Planning Committee.  The Councillor 
stated that the reason for requesting the application go before the Planning Committee is 
that he disagrees with the previous refusal reasons that the building is modern.  He sees 
nothing modern in a 50 year old building.

As stated above the application was previously refused. A key part of the refusal reasons 
related to the appearance and nature of the building. Policy H5 is the most relevant planning 
policy for the proposed development.  This relates to the conversion of rural buildings.  One 
criterion that proposal needs to adhere to, whether for permanent residential use, or for 
conversion to holiday lets is criterion (e).  This states “The building demonstrates and retains 
sufficient quality of architectural features and traditional materials with no significant loss of 
the character and integrity of the original structure”.  Therefore part of the consideration of 
whether the proposal is acceptable or not relates to the quality of architectural features and 
materials of the buildings to be converted.  The notes associated with Policy H5 state:“Only 
those buildings which are of an appropriate architectural quality and which incorporate 
traditional materials will be considered. Proposals for buildings of a modern, utilitarian 
construction such as portal framed units, temporary structures or those which utilise 
materials such as concrete block work, metal or other sheet cladding finishes will not 
generally be considered appropriate for conversion”. 

The application building is a concrete block, metal sheet and plastic sheet building. It is 
considered to be of a more modern nature that the traditional stone walled and slate 
buildings which can be found in similar locations.  The policy has a clear desire to ensure 
that any building to be retained is of a sufficient quality in terms of the appearance.  While 
the Local Member considers the building not be “modern” due to its age it is felt that the 
building is not of appropriate materials or architectural qualities to meet the policy.  There is 
no specific justification put forward by the applicant in support of the proposal in terms of it 
meeting the relevant policies or how what quality they perceive to be in the building.  The 
relevant policy clearly seeks to focus retention of buildings to ones which reflect a traditional 
form and character. It is not felt that this building aligns with the policy and its aspirations. 

Concerns have previously been raised regarding the parking and turning layout.  The 
applicant has now amended the scheme to show parking for the existing dwelling and the 
proposed converted units. 

In terms of impacts on amenity the site is located some distance from any other properties.  
It is therefore not felt there are any significant concerns over impacts on other properties.  
The site is however, clearly visible from a public right of way which runs through the farm 
yard and adjacent to the buildings.  The building is therefore visible from close public vantage 
points.  There is little quality to the character and appearance of the building at present and 
little would alter with the proposed change of use.

Due to the nature of the building in terms of materials and large open areas it was not felt 
that a bat survey or structural survey was required. 

Tudalen 102



CONCLUSION

After careful consideration of the site and its surrounding environs in the context of this 
application, together with the representations received to date it is considered that on 
balance the proposal is not acceptable. 

As such the application is put forward with a recommendation of refusal for the following 
reasons.

RECOMMENDATION – REFUSAL

REASONS

1 The proposal is contrary to Policy TSM4 Visitor Accommodation of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan:-

Policy TSM4 Visitor Accommodation 

Proposals for new build serviced or self-catering holiday accommodation will be 
permitted within the development limits of defined settlements (Policy SP3) 
where it accords with the relevant criterion under Policy SP15.

Outside the development limits of defined settlements (Policy SP3) proposals 
for permanent serviced or self-catering visitor accommodation will be permitted 
where it consists of the re-use and adaptation (including conversion) of existing 
buildings and complies with criteria d) and e) set out in Policy H5.

In that 

The proposal is for the conversion of an existing building outside of development limits.  
The building does not demonstrate and retain sufficient quality of architectural features 
and traditional materials.  The building is not considered to be of appropriate 
architectural quality or to be of traditional materials.  The building is of a modern, 
utilitarian construction and is not considered appropriate for conversion. 

2 The proposal is contrary to Policy H5 Adaptation and Re-use of Rural Buildings for 
Residential Use of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan:-

Policy H5 Adaptation and Re-use of Rural Buildings for Residential Use

Proposals for the conversion and re-use of buildings in rural areas outside the 
Development Limits of a defined settlement (Policy SP3) for residential purposes 
will only be permitted where:

a. The authority is satisfied that every reasonable endeavour has been made 
to secure an alternative business use and the application is supported by 
a statement of evidence to the Council’s satisfaction of appropriate efforts 
that have been undertaken to achieve this;

Tudalen 103



b. Any residential use would be a subordinate element associated with a wider 
scheme for business re-use; or,

c. The residential use contributes to the provision of affordable housing to 
meet a genuine identified local need (as defined within the Glossary of 
Terms) and provided that:
i) The benefits of the initial affordability will be retained for all 

subsequent occupants;
ii) It is of a scale compatible with an affordable dwelling and would be 

available to low or moderate income groups.
Proposals will also be required to demonstrate that the following criteria 
can be met:

d. The building is structurally sound, substantially intact and is of sufficient 
size to accommodate the proposed use without extensive alteration, 
extension or re- construction;

e. The building demonstrates and retains sufficient quality of architectural 
features and traditional materials with no significant loss of the character 
and integrity of the original structure.

In that

The proposal is for the conversion of an existing building outside of development limits.  
The building does not demonstrate and retain sufficient quality of architectural features 
and traditional materials.  The building is not considered to be of appropriate 
architectural quality or to be of traditional materials.  The building is of a modern, 
utilitarian construction and is not considered appropriate for conversion. 

Tudalen 104



ADDITIONAL ITEMS FOR DECISION

Tudalen 105



Application No W/35450

Application Type Outline

Proposal &
Location

PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT INCLUDING 42 
NO. DWELLINGS AT LAND ADJACENT TO LAUGHARNE 
PRIMARY SCHOOL, LAUGHARNE, SA33 4SQ 

Applicant(s) MR & MRS THOMAS,  WOOFORD HOUSE, BROADWAY, 
LAUGHARNE, SA33 4NS

Agent SAURO ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN LTD - PETER SAURO,  9 
ELLISTON TERRACE, CARMARTHEN, SA31 1HA

Case Officer Helen Rice

Ward Laugharne Township

Date of validation 26/04/2017

This application was originally deferred for a site visit by Members at the Planning 
Committee on 16 November 2017.  Following the site visit that took place on 23 January 
2018, Members resolved to defer determination of the application to seek amendments to 
the layout in terms of affordable housing and highways and to further request the applicant 
to include the same Community Benefits Package that was previously agreed to in the 
original planning application (W/09082) which expired in September 2013.  At the Planning 
Committee of 17 April 2018, amendments to the proposed layout that included dispersal of 
the affordable housing units and changes to the highway were considered along with a 
statement submitted by the applicant confirming that they did not wish to enter into the same 
Community Benefits Package as previously entered into. 

Whilst the layout amendments were supported by Members at the Planning Committee of 
17 April 2018, Members resolved to overturn the Officer’s recommendation and refuse the 
application on grounds that the applicant would not enter into the same Community Benefits 
Package as previously agreed to secure the long term future of the adjacent playing fields.  
Members resolved to refuse the application in the knowledge of the legal opinion received 
by the Authority as described at the committee. 

Planning Policy Wales (9th Edition) 2016, stipulates that a ‘local planning authority should 
have good reasons if it approves a development which is a departure from the approved or 
adopted development plan, or is contrary to the Welsh Government’s stated planning 
policies, the advice of a statutory consultee or the written advice of its officers, and those 
reasons should be recorded in the Committee’s minutes’. 

Tudalen 106



Planning legislation dictates that all applications should be determined in accordance with 
the approved or adopted Development Plan for the area, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

It was understood at the Planning Committee that Members considered that the lack of the 
same Community Benefits Package as previously agreed was a material planning 
consideration.  The Community Benefits Package had previously been given significant 
weight to warrant a departure from the then UDP and Members considered that the same 
weight should be given now despite the site’s allocation in the LDP to secure the long term 
provision of the playing fields.

The following therefore sets out suggested wording that aims to reflect the reasons for 
refusal based on the discussions by Members at the Planning Committee on 17 April 2018:

RECOMMENDATION – REFUSAL

REASONS

1 The proposal is contrary to Policy GP3 of the Adopted Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan (2014) which states:

The Council will, where necessary seek developers to enter into Planning 
Obligations (Section 106 Agreements), or to contribute via the Community 
Infrastructure Levy to secure contributions to fund improvements to 
infrastructure, community facilities and other services to meet requirements 
arising from new developments. 

Where applicable, contributions will also be sought towards the future and 
ongoing maintenance of such provision either in the form of initial support or 
in perpetuity.

In implementing this policy schemes will be assessed on a case-by-case basis. 

In that the proposed development fails to secure the long term future of the adjacent 
playing fields as originally secured by way of a Community Benefits package included 
within a previous Section 106 Legal Agreement for the application site.  The previous 
Community Benefits Package agreement was considered to comprise a material 
consideration to warrant a departure from the then Unitary Development Plan and 
thus the site’s subsequent allocation in the Local Development Plan.  As such, the 
same Community Benefits as originally agreed to, which included the transfer of 
ownership of the playing fields to Laugharne Athletic Club, remains to be required to 
make this development acceptable. 

2 The proposal is contrary to Policy SP16 Community Facilities of the Adopted 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (2014) which states:

The LDP will support the provision of new facilities, along with the protection 
and enhancement of existing facilities, in accordance with the settlement 
framework and based upon evidence of need.  Proposals for new education 

Tudalen 107



and training related developments will be supported where it supports the 
settlement framework and accords with the policies of this Plan.

Any proposals that will result in the loss of an existing facility will be permitted 
where it can be clearly demonstrated that the facility is no longer viable and 
that a suitable alternative is accessible within the settlement or sustainable 
community (where applicable). 

In order to mitigate the impacts of particular developments, and to facilitate the 
delivery of the Plan’s strategic objectives, community contributions may be 
sought through planning obligations as and where appropriate. 

In that the proposed development fails to secure the long term future of the adjacent 
playing fields as originally secured by way of a Community Benefits package included 
within a previous Section 106 Legal Agreement for the application site.  The previous 
Community Benefits Package agreement was considered to comprise a material 
consideration to warrant a departure from the then Unitary Development Plan and 
thus the site’s subsequent allocation in the Local Development Plan.  As such, the 
same Community Benefits as originally agreed to, which included the transfer of 
ownership of the playing fields to Laugharne Athletic Club, remains to be required to 
make this development acceptable. 

Tudalen 108



Application No W/35730

Application Type Full Planning

Proposal &
Location

CONSTRUCTION OF TWO A1 UNITS AND ONE A3 UNIT WITH 
ASSOCIATED CAR PARKING AT FORMER CARTREF 
TAWELAN, ASH GROVE, CARMARTHEN, SA31 3PY 

Applicant(s) ASPECT DEVELOPMENTS LTD,  C/O AGENT, 

Agent JCR PLANNING LTD - MR JASON EVANS,  UNIT 2 CROSS 
HANDS BUSINESS WORKSHOP, HEOL PARC MAWR, CROSS 
HANDS, CARMARTHENSHIRE, SA14 6RE

Case Officer Stuart Willis

Ward Carmarthen West

Date of validation 26/06/2017

This application was originally deferred at the Planning Committee on 5th April for a site visit 
that took place on 17th April 2018. At the Planning Committee of 17 April 2018, Members 
resolved to overturn the Officer’s recommendation and refuse the application on a number 
grounds.

Planning Policy Wales (9th Edition) 2016, stipulates that a ‘local planning authority should 
have good reasons if it approves a development which is a departure from the approved or 
adopted development plan, or is contrary to the Welsh Government’s stated planning 
policies, the advice of a statutory consultee or the written advice of its officers, and those 
reasons should be recorded in the Committee’s minutes’. 

Although the Committee made reference to TAN20 – Planning and the Welsh Language 
(October 2017), with concern being expressed that the proposed development would 
change the character of the area, it is noted that the relevant reference to the ‘characteristics 
of the area’ within TAN 20 is with regard to the development plan making process and not 
the determination of individual planning applications. Members may consider that criterion 
(i) of suggested reason 1, in relation to policy GP1, may satisfactorily address their concerns.

The following therefore sets out suggested wording that aims to reflect the reasons for 
refusal based on the discussions by Members at the Planning Committee on 17 April 2018:

RECOMMENDATION – REFUSAL

REASONS

Tudalen 109



1 The proposal is contrary to Policy GP1 of the Carmarthenshire Local Development 
Plan (2014) which states:

Policy GP1 Sustainability and High Quality Design

Development proposals will be permitted where they accord with the following:

a. It conforms with and enhances the character and appearance of the site, 
building or area in terms of siting, appearance, scale, height, massing, 
elevation treatment, and detailing;

b. It incorporates existing landscape or other features, takes account of site 
contours and changes in levels and prominent skylines or ridges;

c. Utilises materials appropriate to the area within which it is located;
d. It would not have a significant impact on the amenity of adjacent land 

uses, properties, residents or the community;
e. Includes an integrated mixture of uses appropriate to the scale of the 

development;
f. It retains, and where appropriate incorporates important local features 

(including buildings, amenity areas, spaces, trees, woodlands and 
hedgerows) and ensures the use of good quality hard and soft 
landscaping and embraces opportunities to enhance biodiversity and 
ecological connectivity;

g. It achieves and creates attractive, safe places and public spaces, which 
ensures security through the ‘designing-out-crime’ principles of Secured 
by Design (including providing natural surveillance, visibility, well lit 
environments and areas of public movement); 

h. An appropriate access exists or can be provided which does not give rise 
to any parking or highway safety concerns on the site or within the 
locality; 

i. It protects and enhances the landscape, townscape, historic and cultural 
heritage of the County and there are no adverse effects on the setting or 
integrity of the historic environment; 

j. It ensures or provides for, the satisfactory generation, treatment and 
disposal of both surface and foul water;

k. It has regard to the generation, treatment and disposal of waste.
l. It has regard for the safe, effective and efficient use of the transportation 

network; 
m. It provides an integrated network which promotes the interests of 

pedestrians, cyclists and public transport which ensures ease of access 
for all;

n. It includes, where applicable, provision for the appropriate management 
and eradication of invasive species.

Proposals will also be considered in light of the policies and provisions of this 
Plan and National Policy (PPW: Edition 7 and TAN12: Design (2014)). 
 

In that:

(i) the proposed introduction of the retail development within a largely residential 
area does not conform with or enhance the character and appearance of the 
local area 

Tudalen 110



(ii) the proposed development gives rise to highway safety concerns by reason of 
the proposed 21 car parking spaces being considered to be insufficient, that 
shall result in customers parking along the local roads to the detriment of the 
free flow of traffic during peak periods 

2 The proposal is contrary to Policy GP4 of the Carmarthenshire Local Development 
Plan (2014) which states:

Policy GP4 Infrastructure and New Development

Proposals for development will be permitted where the infrastructure is 
adequate to meet the needs of the development. 

Proposals where new or improved infrastructure is required but does not form 
part of an infrastructure provider’s improvement programme may be permitted 
where it can be satisfactorily demonstrated that this infrastructure will exist, or 
where the required work is funded by (or an appropriate contribution is 
provided by) the developer.

Planning obligations and conditions will be used (where appropriate) to ensure 
that new or improved facilities are provided to serve the new development.

In that it is considered that the local infrastructure is inadequate to meet the needs of 
the proposed development, by reason of the impact of the additional vehicular traffic 
upon the local road network

3 The proposal is contrary to Policy SP14 of the Carmarthenshire Local Development 
Plan (2014) which states:

SP14 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment

Development should reflect the need to protect, and wherever possible 
enhance the County’s natural environment. 

All development proposals should be considered in accordance with national 
guidance/legislation and the policies and proposals of this Plan, with due 
consideration given to areas of nature conservation value, the countryside, 
landscapes and coastal areas, including those outlined below:

a. Statutory designated sites including Ramsar sites, SPAs, SACs, SSSIs 
and National Nature Reserves;

b. Biodiversity and Nature Conservation Value, including protected species 
and habitats of acknowledged importance as well as key connectivity 
corridors and pathways; (Policy EQ4 and EQ5) 

c. Regional and Locally important sites (and their features) including Local 
Nature Reserves and RIGS; (see Policy EQ3)

d. Areas of identified Landscape and Seascape quality; (including SLAs) 
e. Features which contribute to local distinctiveness, nature conservation 

value or the landscape; (see Policy EQ5) 

Tudalen 111



f. The Open Countryside; (see Policy GP2)
g. The best and most versatile agricultural land; (Grade 2 and 3a) 
h. Natural assets: including air, soil (including high carbon soils) controlled 

waters and water resources. (See Policies EP1 and EP2)

In that the proposed development shall result in the loss of an attractive green space 
within the urban area

4 The proposal is contrary to Policy RT8 of the Carmarthenshire Local Development 
Plan (2014) which states:

Policy RT8 Local Shops and Facilities 

Proposals which would result in the loss of a local shop or service outside of 
the identified Growth Areas and Service Centres will only be permitted where:

a. There is another shop or service of a similar compatible use available for 
customers within: 

i.   a convenient walking distance; or, 
ii.  where applicable, the Sustainable Community.

b. Its loss would not be detrimental to the social and economic fabric of the 
community.

In the absence of an alternative provision, proposals resulting in the loss of the 
local shop or service will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated to the 
Council’s satisfaction that all reasonable attempts have been made to market 
the business for sale or let over a 12 month period and have failed.

In that there are existing, compatible local shops within walking distance of the 
application site 

Tudalen 112



PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO

DYDD IAU, 5ED EBRILL, 2018

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd A. Lenny [Cadeirydd]

Y Cynghorwyr: 
S.M. Allen, J.M. Charles, S.A. Curry, I.W. Davies, J.A. Davies, P.M. Edwards, 
W.T. Evans, S.J.G. Gilasbey, J.K. Howell, J.D. James, C. Jones, D. Jones, H.I. Jones, 
M.J.A. Lewis, K. Lloyd, K. Madge, B.D.J. Phillips a J.E. Williams

Hefyd yn bresennol:
Y Cynghorydd B.A.L. Roberts, a fu’n annerch y Pwyllgor ynghylch ceisiadau cynllunio 
S/36834 and S/36835;
Y Cynghorydd A.D.T. Speake, a fu’n annerch y Pwyllgor ynghylch cais cynllunio 
W/35730;
Y Cynghorydd A. Vaughan-Owen, a fu’n annerch y Pwyllgor ynghylch cais cynllunio 
W/36812.

Hefyd yn bresennol:
Mr G. Morgan, Cynllunydd Cludiant gyda Fframwaith Atkins 

Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod:
Mr J. Edwards - Rheolwr Datblygu & Treftadaeth Adeiledig
Mr G. Noakes - Uwch Swyddog Rheoli Datblygu 
Mr J. Thomas - Uwch Swyddog Rheoli Datblygu 
Mr S. Murphy - Uwch Gyfreithiwr
Mr K. James - Peiriannydd Cynorthwyol Cydgysylltu Cynllunio
Mrs M. Evans Thomas - Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd

Y Siambr, Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin : 10.00 a.m. - 12.10 p.m.

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB

Cafwyd ymddiheuriad am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorydd G.B. Thomas, yn sgil 
marwolaeth ei fam. Ar ran y Pwyllgor, estynnodd y Cadeirydd ei gydymdeimlad 
dwysaf â'r Cynghorydd Thomas a'i deulu. 

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL

Cynghorydd Rhif y Cofnod(ion) Y Math o Fuddiant
Dot Jones Cais Cynllunio W/36812 – Adeiladu ysgol 

gynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd, 
ynghyd â chae chwarae a man chwarae 
amlddefnydd newydd, ar gyfer 210 o 
ddisgyblion a 30 o blant meithrin, ynghyd 
â gwaith cysylltiedig o ran tirweddu, 
mynediad a seilwaith, ym Mharc 
Hamdden Gors-Las, Heol Cefneithin, 
Gors-Las, Llanelli, Sir Gaerfyrddin, SA14 
7HY 

Mae wedi mynegi 
barn am y cais o'r 
blaen.

Tudalen 113

Eitem Rhif  6.1



3. RHANBARTH Y DE - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO

3.1 PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ganiatáu'r cais cynllunio canlynol yn 
amodol ar yr amodau a nodwyd yn Adroddiad/Atodiad y Pennaeth Cynllunio 
a/neu y rhoddwyd gwybod amdanynt yn y cyfarfod, a bod awdurdod yn cael 
ei ddirprwyo i'r Pennaeth Cynllunio drafod â'r ymgeisydd y cyfraniad tuag at 
wella ysgolion lleol y dalgylch:-

S/36380 Cynigir adeiladu 14 o dai fforddiadwy newydd ar 
ddarn o dir diffaith ar ddiwedd ystad dai bresennol 
Garreglwyd.  Bydd y rhan fwyaf o'r tai ar gyfer 4 
person ac â 2 ystafell wely, ond bydd dau dŷ ar 
gyfer 7 person ac â 4 ystafell wely, ar dir yn 
Garreglwyd, Pen-bre, Porth Tywyn, SA16 0UH. 

3.2  PENDERFYNWYD gwrthod y ceisiadau cynllunio canlynol, yn groes i 
argymhelliad y Pennaeth Cynllunio, gan fod y Pwyllgor o'r farn fod y 
ceisiadau yn mynd yn groes i bolisïau GP1 a H3 o'r Cynllun Datblygu Lleol. 

S/36834 Newid defnydd o fod yn breswylfa 4 ystafell wely, 
Dosbarth C3 i fod yn dŷ amlfeddiannaeth 4 ystafell 
wely, Dosbarth C4.  Newidiadau cysylltiedig i ddwy 
ffenest flaen i ddarparu mynediad mewn argyfwng yn 
9 Teras Great Western, Llanelli, SA15 2ND. 

Daeth sylw i law a wrthwynebai'r datblygiad uchod, ac a 
ail-bwysleisiai’r pwyntiau y manylwyd arnynt yn 
adroddiad ysgrifenedig y Pennaeth Cynllunio, gan 
gynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol:-

 Nid oes angen amdano yn yr ardal am fod saith tŷ 
amlfeddiannaeth yn yr ardal eisoes a byddai'r cais 
hwn yn arwain at ormodedd ohonynt; 

 Mae Stryd Siôr yn unffordd ac mae pobl yn ei 
defnyddio fel tramwyfa i gyrraedd yr ysgol 
newydd;  

 Y pryder yn y gymuned am fod llawer o bobl hŷn a 
theuluoedd yn byw yn yr ardal; 

 Mae tai eraill dan sylw yn yr ardal o ran eu troi’n 
dai amlfeddiannaeth posibl; 

 Dylwn fod yn codi proffil yr ardal oherwydd bydd y 
Ganolfan Lesiant newydd gerllaw.  

Ymatebodd y Peiriannydd Cynorthwyol (Cydgysylltu 
Cynllunio) a'r Uwch-swyddog Rheoli Datblygu i'r materion 
a godwyd.

Tudalen 114



S/36835 Newid defnydd o fod yn breswylfa 4 ystafell wely, 
Dosbarth C3 i fod yn dŷ amlfeddiannaeth 4 ystafell 
wely, Dosbarth C4.  Newidiadau cysylltiedig i ddwy 
ffenest ystafell wely ar y llawr cyntaf i ddarparu 
mynediad mewn argyfwng yn 7 Teras Great Western, 
Llanelli, SA15 2ND. 

Daeth sylw i law a wrthwynebai'r datblygiad uchod, ac a 
ail-bwysleisiai’r pwyntiau y manylwyd arnynt yn 
adroddiad ysgrifenedig y Pennaeth Cynllunio, gan 
gynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol:-

 Nid oes angen amdano yn yr ardal am fod saith tŷ 
amlfeddiannaeth yn yr ardal eisoes a byddai'r cais 
hwn yn arwain at ormodedd ohonynt; 

 Mae Stryd Siôr yn unffordd ac mae pobl yn ei 
defnyddio fel tramwyfa i gyrraedd yr ysgol 
newydd;

 Y pryder yn y gymuned am fod llawer o bobl hŷn a 
theuluoedd yn byw yn yr ardal;

 Mae tai eraill dan sylw yn yr ardal o ran eu troi’n 
dai amlfeddiannaeth posibl; 

 Dylwn fod yn codi proffil yr ardal oherwydd bydd y 
Ganolfan Lesiant newydd gerllaw;

 Mae'r holl strydoedd cyfagos yn ddwyffordd ond 
mae Stryd Siôr bellach yn unffordd, sydd wedi 
gwaethygu'r problemau parcio ar strydoedd eraill. 

3.3   PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo'r rhesymau dros wrthod a ddrafftiwyd 
gan y Pennaeth Cynllunio, fel y'u manylwyd yn yr adroddiad, mewn 
perthynas â'r cais cynllunio canlynol y gwrthododd y Pwyllgor Cynllunio roi 
caniatâd cynllunio iddo, yn groes i argymhelliad y swyddog, ar 20 Chwefror 
2018:-

S/35215 Datblygiad preswyl i gynnwys 51 o breswylfeydd 
ynghyd â gwaith cysylltiedig ar dir ger Clos y Benallt 
Fawr, Fforest, Abertawe, SA4 0TQ.

4. RHANBARTH Y GORLLEWIN - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO

4.1    PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ganiatáu'r cais cynllunio    canlynol 
yn amodol ar yr amodau yn Adroddiad/Atodiad y Pennaeth Cynllunio a/neu y 
rhoddwyd gwybod amdanynt yn y cyfarfod:-

Tudalen 115



W/36812 Adeiladu ysgol gynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd, 
ynghyd â chae chwarae a man chwarae 
amlddefnydd newydd, ar gyfer 210 o ddisgyblion a 
30 o blant meithrin, ynghyd â gwaith cysylltiedig o 
ran tirweddu, mynediad a seilwaith, ym Mharc 
Hamdden Gorslas, Heol Cefneithin, Gorslas, 
Llanelli, Sir Gaerfyrddin, SA14 7HY.  

[NODER:  Gan iddi ddatgan buddiant yn y cais hwn yn 
gynharach, fe wnaeth y Cynghorydd D. Jones adael y 
cyfarfod cyn i'r cais gael ei ystyried a chyn y gwnaed 
penderfyniad yn ei gylch.]

Cafwyd sylw oedd yn mynegi pryderon ynghylch y cais 
ac roedd yn cynnwys y canlynol:-

 Y cynnydd o ran traffig a pharcio o ystyried faint 
o draffig sydd yn yr ardal hon yn ystod yr oriau 
brig, a seilwaith y ffordd, nad ystyrir yn ddelfrydol 
ar gyfer datblygiad o'r fath; 

 Dylid cynnwys amod bod cynllun teithio ar waith 
unwaith y bydd yr ysgol yn agor, i sicrhau bod 
ffyrdd mwy cynaliadwy o deithio, megis cerdded 
a beicio, yn cael eu defnyddio; 

 Dylid cynnwys amod bod asesiad trafnidiaeth yn 
cael ei gynnal 6 mis ar ôl agor i adolygu'r 
tagfeydd traffig posibl ar y ffyrdd cyfagos; 

 Dylid cynnwys amod bod cyfyngiadau cyflymder 
addas a chroesfannau diogel i gerddwyr yn cael 
eu mabwysiadu ar bob heol sy'n gysylltiedig â'r 
gyffordd chwe-ffordd; 

 Dylid pennu amodau i sicrhau na fydd dŵr wyneb 
yn effeithio ar weddill y parc a'r tai cyfagos; 

 Ar hyn o bryd mae trigolion Gors-las yn cael 
myned pryd y mynnant i'r parc a'r cae chwarae a 
theimlwyd na ddylid gosod amodau o ran yr 
amserau y gellid defnyddio'r llefydd hyn. Dylid 
gosod amod fod y gymuned yn cael myned yn 
agored i'r maes chwarae amlddefnydd a'r cae 
chwarae yn syth ar ôl oriau'r ysgol drwy gydol y 
flwyddyn ac na ddylai'r Awdurdod Lleol na 
chwaith yr ysgol fod yn gallu newid y cytundeb 
hwn. 

Ymatebodd yr Uwch-swyddog Rheoli Datblygu a'r 
Peiriannydd Cynorthwyol (Cydgysylltu Cynllunio), i'r 
materion a godwyd.

4.2      PENDERFYNWYD gohirio ystyried y cais cynllunio canlynol er mwyn 
i'r Pwyllgor ymweld â'r safle:-

Tudalen 116



W/35730 Adeiladu dwy uned A1 ac un uned A3 ynghyd â 
llefydd parcio cysylltiedig ar hen safle Cartref 
Tawelan, Llwyn Onn, Caerfyrddin, SA31 3PY. 

Y RHESWM: Oherwydd y pryderon a godwyd ynghylch 
diogelwch ar y ffordd.

Cafwyd sylw a oedd yn gofyn i'r Pwyllgor gynnal 
ymweliad safle yn sgil pryderon ynghylch y cynnydd a 
grëir mewn traffig, ac o ystyried yr hanes a fu o 
ddigwyddiadau a gwrthdrawiadau traffig yn yr ardal. 

Yn unol â phrotocol y Pwyllgor Cynllunio, roedd y 
gwrthwynebwyr a oedd wedi gofyn am gael siarad 
ynghylch y cais hwn wedi dewis cyflwyno eu sylwadau yn 
y cyfarfod a fydd yn dilyn yr ymweliad â'r safle.

4.3      PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL wrthod y cais cynllunio canlynol am 
y rhesymau y manylwyd arnynt yn Adroddiad/Atodiad y Pennaeth 
Cynllunio a/neu y rhoddwyd gwybod amdanynt yn y cyfarfod:-

 
W/36584 Amrywio Amod 4 o gais W/34406 (ffens acwstig) yn 

Gwastod Abbot, New Inn, Pencader, SA39 9AZ. 

5. LLOFNODI YN COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION Y CYFARFODYDD A 
GYNHALIWYD AR Y DYDDIADAU CANLYNOL:-

5.1. 23AIN IONAWR, 2018

Atgoffodd y Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor fod y penderfyniad parthed cofnod 3 yn unfrydol 
ac y dylid newid y cofnodion yn unol â hynny. 

PENDERFYNWYD llofnodi bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Cynllunio a 
gynhaliwyd ar 23ain Ionawr, 2018 yn gywir, yn amodol ar gynnwys y newid 
uchod. 

5.2. 20FED CHWEFROR, 2018

PENDERFYNWYD llofnodi bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Cynllunio a 
gynhaliwyd ar 20fed Chwefror, 2018 yn gywir. 

5.3. 8FED MAWRTH, 2018

PENDERFYNWYD llofnodi bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Cynllunio a 
gynhaliwyd ar 8fed Mawrth, 2018 yn gywir. 

[SYLWER: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn dilyn trefn y materion oedd ar agenda'r 
cyfarfod, a allai fod yn wahanol i drefn y materion mewn unrhyw 
weddarllediad gan y byddid wedi ymdrin gyntaf ag unrhyw geisiadau yr 

Tudalen 117



oedd aelodau o'r cyhoedd yn bresennol i siarad amdanynt.] 

________________________ __________________
CADEIRYDD DYDDIAD

Tudalen 118



Y PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO 

Dydd Mawrth, 17 Ebrill 2018

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd A. Lenny (Cadeirydd)

Y Cynghorwyr: 
S.M. Allen, J.M. Charles, S.A. Curry, I.W. Davies, J.A. Davies, P.M. Edwards, 
W.T. Evans, S.J.G. Gilasbey, J.K. Howell, J.D. James, C. Jones, D. Jones, H.I. Jones, 
M.J.A. Lewis, K. Lloyd, K. Madge, B.D.J. Phillips a J.E. Williams;

Hefyd yn bresennol:
Y Cynghorydd A. V. Owen, a fu'n annerch y Pwyllgor ynghylch cais cynllunio W/34933;
Y Cynghorydd E. Schiavone, a fu'n annerch y Pwyllgor ynghylch cais cynllunio W/35730;
Y Cynghorydd A. Speake, a fu'n annerch y Pwyllgor ynghylch cais cynllunio W/34933;
Y Cynghorydd J. Tremlett, a fu'n annerch y Pwyllgor ynghylch cais cynllunio W/35450;
Y Cynghorydd D. Williams, a fu'n annerch y Pwyllgor ynghylch cais cynllunio W/36892;

Roedd y Swyddogion canlynol yn bresennol yn y cyfarfod:
L. Quelch, Pennaeth Cynllunio;
J. Edwards, Rheolwr Datblygu a Threftadaeth Adeiledig;
K. James, Peiriannydd Cynorthwyol - Cydgysylltu Cynllunio;
G. Noakes, Uwch-swyddog Rheoli Datblygu [Y Dwyrain];
J. Thomas, Uwch-swyddog Rheoli Datblygu [Y De];
S. Murphy, Uwch-gyfieithydd;
N Hellier, Uwch-swyddog Treftadaeth Adeiledig;
M.S. Davies, Swyddog y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd.

Y Siambr, Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin 11.00 am - 3.25 pm
(NODER: Torrodd y cyfarfod am ginio am 1.25pm gan ailymgynnull am 2.00pm.

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB
Ni chafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONAL

Cynghorydd Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant
P Edwards 3 – W/35730  Adeiladu dwy uned A1 ac 

un uned A3 ynghyd â llefydd parcio 
cysylltiedig ar hen safle Cartref Tawelan, 
Llwyn Onn, Caerfyrddin, SA31 3PY

Aelod o'r Gymdeithas 
Gydweithredol

3. W/35730 - ADEILADU DWY UNED A1 AC UN UNED A3 YNGHYD Â LLEFYDD 
PARCIO CYSYLLTIEDIG, HEN GARTREF TAWELAN, LLWYN ONN, 
CAERFYRDDIN, SA31 3PY
[NODER:  Roedd y Cynghorydd P. Edwards wedi datgan buddiant yn y cais hwn a 
gadawodd y cyfarfod cyn i'r cais gael ei ystyried a chyn y gwnaed penderfyniad yn 
ei gylch.]

Cyfeiriodd yr Uwch-swyddog Rheoli Datblygu at ymweliad preifat â'r safle gan y 
Pwyllgor yn gynharach y diwrnod hwnnw (gweler cofnod 4.2 o gyfarfod y Pwyllgor 
Cynllunio a gynhaliwyd ar 5 Ebrill 2018) a drefnwyd er mwyn i'r Pwyllgor gael 
golwg ar y safle a'r mynediad iddo.    Cyfeiriodd, gyda chymorth sleidiau 

Tudalen 119

Eitem Rhif  6.2



PowerPoint, at adroddiad ysgrifenedig y Pennaeth Cynllunio a oedd yn rhoi 
arfarniad o'r safle, ynghyd â disgrifiad o'r datblygiad arfaethedig, crynodeb o'r 
ymatebion a gafwyd i'r ymgynghoriad a gwybodaeth am y polisïau lleol a 
chenedlaethol a oedd yn berthnasol wrth asesu'r cais. Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r 
Pwyllgor fod y Pennaeth Cynllunio yn argymell cymeradwyo'r cais am y rhesymau 
a nodwyd yn ei hadroddiad ysgrifenedig. 

Yr oedd sylwadau wedi dod i law a oedd yn gwrthwynebu'r cais, gan ail-
bwysleisio’r gwrthwynebiadau a nodwyd yn Adroddiad y Pennaeth Cynllunio. Y prif 
bryderon oedd colli llecynnau glas, parcio/mynediad annigonol, sŵn, llygredd 
golau, yr effaith ar fusnesau cyfagos ac ar draffig, yn enwedig o ystyried y cynnydd 
posibl mewn traffig pan fydd canolfan newydd S4C yn agor, yn ogystal â'r defnydd 
a wneir o hen Gartref Tawelan pan ddeuir i benderfyniad yn ei gylch.

Ymatebodd asiant yr ymgeisydd, y Peiriannydd Cynorthwyol (Cydgysylltu 
Cynllunio), a'r Uwch-swyddog Rheoli Datblygu i'r materion a godwyd.

PENDERFYNWYD gwrthod cais cynllunio W/35730, yn groes i argymhelliad y 
Pennaeth Cynllunio, ar y sail bod pryderon ynghylch Polisïau GP1, GP4, 
SP14 ac RT8, a Nodyn Cyngor Technegol 20.

4. W/36625 - NEWID DEFNYDD ARFAETHEDIG AC ADDASU'R LLAWR 
GWAELOD AC ADDASU'N RHANNOL Y LLAWR CYNTAF ER MWYN 
DEFNYDDIO'R ADEILAD AT DDEFNYDD BWYTY (DOSBARTH A3) YN Y 
NEUADD SIROL, Y CLOS MAWR, CAERFYRDDIN, SA31 3LE

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ganiatáu'r cais cynllunio canlynol yn unol 
â'r amodau a nodwyd yn Adroddiad y Pennaeth Cynllunio a/neu y rhoddwyd 
gwybod amdanynt yn y cyfarfod:-

W/36625 Cais am newid defnydd ac addasu'r llawr gwaelod, ynghyd 
ag addasu'r llawr cyntaf yn rhannol, er mwyn hwyluso'r 
gwaith o greu bwyty (Dosbarth A3) yn y Neuadd Sirol, 
Clos Mawr, Caerfyrddin, SA31 3LE. 

5. W/36626 - NEWID DEFNYDD ARFAETHEDIG AC ADDASU'R LLAWR 
GWAELOD AC ADDASU'N RHANNOL Y LLAWR CYNTAF ER MWYN 
DEFNYDDIO'R ADEILAD AT DDEFNYDD BWYTY (DOSBARTH A3) YN Y 
NEUADD SIROL, Y CLOS MAWR, CAERFYRDDIN, SA31 3LE

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ganiatáu'r cais cynllunio canlynol yn unol 
â'r amodau a nodwyd yn Adroddiad y Pennaeth Cynllunio a/neu y rhoddwyd 
gwybod amdanynt yn y cyfarfod:-

W/36626 Cais am newid defnydd ac addasu'r llawr gwaelod, ynghyd 
ag addasu'r llawr cyntaf yn rhannol, er mwyn hwyluso'r 
gwaith o greu bwyty (Dosbarth A3) yn y Neuadd Sirol, 
Clos Mawr, Caerfyrddin, SA31 3LE.

6. RHANBARTH Y GORLLEWIN - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO

6.1   PENDERFYNWYD gohirio ystyried y cais cynllunio canlynol er mwyn i'r 
Pwyllgor ymweld â'r safle:-

Tudalen 120



W/34933 Adeiladu 20 o dai preswyl ar wahân ar gyfer y farchnad 
breifat gyda garejis yn rhan o'r tai, a 2 dŷ pâr 
fforddiadwy, pob un â lle parcio a darn preifat o dir ar y 
llain; gwella a lledu'r ffordd fabwysiedig bresennol ac 
adeiladu ffyrdd mabwysiedig newydd ar dir sydd wedi'i 
glustnodi yn y cynllun datblygu lleol ar gyfer datblygiad 
preswyl ym Mron yr Ynn, Drefach, Llanelli, SA14 7AH 

Gwnaed cais i'r Pwyllgor ymweld â'r safle er mwyn cael golwg 
ar y safle a'r mynediad iddo. 

Y RHESWM: Galluogi'r Pwyllgor i gael golwg ar y safle a'r 
mynediad iddo. 

6.2    PENDERFYNWYD caniatáu'r cais cynllunio canlynol yn unol â'r amodau 
a nodwyd yn Adroddiad/Atodiad y Pennaeth Cynllunio a/neu y 
rhoddwyd gwybod amdanynt yn y cyfarfod:-

W/36892 Cais am helaethu a newid y breswylfa yn 6 Lôn Clychau'r 
Gog, Abergwili, Caerfyrddin, SA31 2JX

Yr oedd sylwadau wedi dod i law a oedd yn gwrthwynebu'r 
cais, gan ail-bwysleisio rhai o'r pwyntiau a nodwyd yn 
adroddiad ysgrifenedig y Pennaeth Cynllunio, gan gynnwys y 
rhai canlynol:-
 Sŵn, baw ac amharu ar breifatrwydd yn ystod y gwaith 

adeiladu; 
 Mae tai mwy o faint ar werth ar yr ystâd ar hyn o bryd; 
 Mae maint y cynnig yn annerbyniol; 
 Byddai'r estyniadau yn cael effaith weledol sylweddol 

iawn ar gymdogion; 
 Yr effaith ar olygfeydd;
 Byddai'r estyniad yn oramlwg;
 Yr effaith ar breifatrwydd ac amwynder; 
 Colli golau.

Ymatebodd yr ymgeisydd a'r Uwch-swyddog Rheoli Datblygu 
i'r materion a godwyd.

Tudalen 121



6.3     PENDERFYNWYD gwrthod y cais cynllunio canlynol, yn groes i 
argymhelliad y Pennaeth Cynllunio, ar y sail bod pryderon ynghylch 
Polisïau GP3 ac SP16:- 

W/35450 Datblygiad preswyl arfaethedig, gan gynnwys 42 o 
breswylfeydd, ar dir ger Ysgol Gynradd Talacharn, 
Talacharn, SA33 4SQ

[NODER: Gadawodd y Cynghorwyr G.B. Thomas ac E. 
Williams y cyfarfod am nad oeddent wedi ymweld â'r safle ar 
23 Ionawr 2018 mewn perthynas â'r cais hwn] 

Yr oedd sylwadau wedi dod i law a oedd yn gwrthwynebu'r 
datblygiad arfaethedig, gan ail-bwysleisio rhai o'r pwyntiau a 
nodwyd yn y cyfarfod ar 23 Ionawr 2018 [gweler cofnod 3] ac a 
nodwyd yn adroddiad ysgrifenedig y Pennaeth Cynllunio, yn 
enwedig ynghylch y farn gyfreithiol fod y Cytundeb Adran 106 
wedi dod i ben pan wnaeth y caniatâd cynllunio blaenorol ddod 
i ben yn 2013.

Ymatebodd asiant yr ymgeisydd a'r swyddogion i'r materion a 
godwyd.

________________________ __________________
CADEIRYDD DYDDIAD

Tudalen 122


	Agenda
	3 RHANBARTH Y DWYRAIN - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO
	4 RHANBARTH Y DE - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO.
	5 RHANBARTH Y GORLLEWIN - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO.
	6.1 5ED EBRILL 2018;
	6.2 17EG EBRILL 2018.

